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“Plan and Prepare...Reveal and Resonate” \3“'2"-“'-

.
Decorative screens, elegant, artistic and beautifully crafted reprESent.t-».
careful planning, skillful preparation and meticulous ‘execution. Often;
they are also used to unveil finished products of unmatched “distinction.
These screens are analogous to the work we do here in our Company, .
from project inception to execution, our quality products are the result of
strategic planning, innovative design and outstanding implementation.

This year, we draw on these classical works-of-art to share the Company's -
vision with you, as we unveil the different aspects of the “Planning and

Preparation” that lead to the “Revelation and Resonance” of our work and

the development of our new projects in mainland China.
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Hang Lung Group Limited
(stock code: 10) is one of the most
established listed companies in Hong Kong
with almost 50 years of experience in the
property development market. Through its subsidiary
—— Hang Lung Properties Limited (stock code: 101) — — the
Group has built a leading reputation as a top tier property
developer in Hong Kong and mainland China, with a
recognized commitment to quality.

The Group’s businesses in Hong Kong include property
development for sale and lease. Our substantial portfolio
includes well-planned large-scale commercial, office and
residential developments in prominent locations.

The Group was an early mover in the mainland China property
market, making our first investment in the early 1990s as
the first step in a future direction for business expansion.
The Group’s strategy in mainland China is to develop prime
sites in major cities. Our portfolio of investment properties
currently comprises two large-scale developments in
Shanghai, the commercial, office and residential complex
The Grand Gateway; and the commercial and office complex
Plaza 66. \We are now building on our success in Shanghai
to develop similar properties in other major cities including
Shenyang, Jinan, Tianjin, VWWuxi and Dalian.

We will continue not only to expand our presence in
mainland China, but also to invest in our portfolio in Hong
Kong, as we aim to become the most established property
developer active in both markets.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Results
LAY R BTatE in HK$ million 2009 2008
—F ) Turnover
YEHEE Property leasing
O Hong Kong 2,603 2,422
B A Mainland China 2,082 1,764
L EX Property sales 1 6,367
—ESCE Total turnover 4,696 10,553
IR 5 4 4 R Net profit attributable to shareholders 2,638 7516
951 Dividends 941 941
sRER Per share data
B Earnings $1.98 $5.64
[iLesN Dividends
i EA Interim $0.165 $0.165
AREA Final $0.540 $0.540
#Et Total $0.705 $0.705
BEFE Net assets $56.2 $54.0
B R Shareholders’ equity 38,632 36,782
TRE L= Pay-out ratio 36% 13%
R = Gearing ratio "' 3% 0.4%

Underlying Results

AR EETHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
BRSR B B A A 2 Underlying net profit attributable to

shareholders "2 1,454 2,665
SRR 13 Earnings per share "3 $1.09 $1.92
JRA LR M3 Pay-out ratio Note3 65% 37%

3 - Notes:

1. BEXRAFEEEREMFER LR - FEHEER 1. Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents bank loans,
TER  FEZBEMBEHOAE  NKRIRE RIRT floating rate notes and finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits with banks. Equity
TF5 o IRIER B IERR B fE RS o D B B e 2% comprises shareholders’ equity and minority interests.

2. BNMBHAEELSEEMNER  SHENLER 2. To facilitate better understanding of the Group’s operational results, the underlying net
DS AR E S ER S 40 R EME) T Y profit attributable to shareholders are presented by excluding the effect of adopting Hong
&, BTN EYENTE Y S B REE S BT Kong Accounting Standard 40, Investment Property which requires changes in fair value
FIERUZER P AR - of investment properties and their related deferred tax be accounted for in the income

statement.

3. BEEVIRBREEEERNANE - 3. The relevant calculations are based on the underlying net profit attributable to shareholders.

6 EBREBERAR TN\ TAEER



HEWARFEERES LB Sustainable Rental Income and Profit Growth

HEEXH &= A BRERE
Rental Turnover Rental Profit Total Dividends per Share
BEANA=ZTHIEFE BEANA=ZTHIEFE HEANA=1THLFE
For the years ended 30 June For the years ended 30 June For the years ended 30 June
BEHET BEEET AL
HK$ million HK$ million HK cents
Gy | moFasE $4,685 | mesmrx 5313 ad o
ER20rde way million o AHZTN ;
5,000 Compound 45% 4,000 Compound 4 80 p c;ﬁs
4,500 annual growth annual growth
of 16% 3,500 of 18% 4 [
4,000 40% 4
3,000 60
3,500 7 &
3,000 35% 2200 50
2,500 2,000 40
2,000 30% 1,500 0
1,500
1,000 20
1,000 25%
500 | | 500 nre 10 HErETENENR
0 20% 0 0
05 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 08 09
&) &8 E Hong Kong leasing
f) b8 E Shanghai leasing
-« EEEHRAELEBEAN
% of Shanghai leasing of total leasing turnover

E H#E EIEESR Financial Strengths — Standing Up to Challenging Times

REeRfEE aERmE . E%'J%\T%IJE\%%(NW‘Z
Cash and Borrowings Gearing Ratio "' Interest Cover "2
WAA=+H RANA=+H BEAA=tTHLEE
At 30 June At 30 June For the years ended 30 June
BEBET Bo =
HK$ million % times
14,000 $11,466 15 35
million
(8L $9,632 12 %
million
10,000 2> 21 times
9
8,000 20
6,000 6 15
4,000 3% 10
3
2,000 5
° i —y ’ 2
05 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 08 09
& Be RIBITFER
Cash and bank deposits
wiEE
Borrowings
BT - Notes:

1. BERSFEEAKEMNFERZLER  FEBEERT 1
B FEREBRRBERORE  MRRERRTHE
R o BRI BIERR R s & D SRR A -
2. BMENEBBIERGFARBDEATELZHRASK 2.
AR E G FIBRATIRERNMEATHEM SR

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09

Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents bank
loans, floating rate notes and finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits with
banks. Equity comprises shareholders' equity and minority interests.

Interest cover represents operating profit before changes in fair value of investment
properties and interest income divided by net interest expenses before interest
capitalization.
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Results and Dividend

For the twelve months ended 30 June 2009, turnover decreased 56%
to HK$4,696 million. Net profit attributable to shareholders was
HK$2,638 million, 65% lower than last year. Earnings per share was
HK$1.98, representing a decline of 65% over last year.

When excluding the revaluation gain and its deferred taxes and
minority interests, underlying net profit retreated by 43% from
HK$2,555 million to HK$1,454 million, and the underlying earnings per
share by 43% to HK$1.09.

The Board recommends a final dividend of HK54 cents per share
which is the same as last year. If approved by shareholders, total
dividends for the full year will be same as last year at HK70.5 cents
per share.

Business Review

The period under review saw the economy sliding from weak to
recession before apparent stabilization. Hong Kong residential prices
were listless at the beginning, but to the surprise of most, picked up
strongly in the last several months. Much of the activities concentrated
on the mass market where we do not play. Consequently, very little
apartments were sold by our major subsidiary Hang Lung Properties
(HLP). Our revenue and profit fell solely for that reason, as all other
businesses in the Group grew nicely.

Hong Kong is affected by the global economic turmoil. Relatively
speaking, offices performed the best and serviced apartments the
worst. Retail held its own, with rent increase similar to that of the year
before. The rate of growth for offices had slowed somewhat which
was understandable. Occupancy was similar to that of a year ago.

EEEEERATE —TT N TAFFR



Ronnie C. Chan Chairman
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In spite of the economic downturn, all sectors in our Shanghai
investment portfolio recorded double digit growth. Compared to a
year ago, the rise was less spectacular but still respectable. Retail rent
in both Plaza 66 and The Grand Gateway rose by close to 20%
although turnover rent in the latter came down. For offices, The Grand
Gateway did better while Plaza 66 had some new competition. All of
our facilities remain fully let.

It was gratifying that we had prepared ourselves well for the
economic downturn. For all of 2007 and 2008 when the market was
hot on the Mainland, we stayed on the sidelines. We watched our
competitors from both Hong Kong and the Mainland rush in to bid up
land prices. They leapt to dizzying heights in the late summer and fall
of 2007

That sentiment apparently affected Hong Kong. By that October, both
the stock and property markets went up. We took advantage of it
and sold many apartments. That gave us much cash and we simply
sat on it.

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09 9
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As early as in the first quarter of 2008, weaknesses were detected in
the Chinese economy and real estate prices began to cool. When
summer arrived a year ago, the Mainland property market became
lifeless, a condition which had already set in in Hong Kong several
months prior. Many who had bought land on the Mainland in the
previous year were in serious financial trouble. Stronger players
mostly from Hong Kong took a knock; a good number of Mainland
developers were technically bankrupt.

That was the time that we began anew to attack the Mainland market.
Recognizing that many municipal governments were in a dire financial
strait as the months rolled on without selling land, we knew that
buying opportunities had returned. \We resumed negotiations in
earnest and were welcomed by city leaders with open arms. Terms
we wanted which were previously rejected by officials were now
accepted. Once again, there was no competition in sight. Eventually
HLP was able to sign up in mid-May two choice sites, one each in
Dalian and Wuxi. Management's expectation expressed in my letter to
shareholders of last year came to fruition.

Looking back at history, we prepared ourselves superbly for the Asian
Financial Crisis which began in July 1997 As a result, we made a lot of
money in our home market and laid a firm foundation to surge ahead.
Eleven years later when this time the entire world was engulfed in
economic turmoil, again we with foresight had put ourselves in a
favorable financial position. We took advantage of the first crisis and
wisely bought land in Hong Kong; this time we did it on the Mainland.
As some have said, bear markets are too valuable to waste. We never
do that!

As we all know, real estate is a highly cyclical industry. Such is the
danger and such is the attraction. Some people say that there are two
ways to handle cycles. The first tries to anticipate market movements
and prepare for them. We are squarely in this camp. The risk is of
course that one gets it wrong. The second basically neglects the
cycles. Buy and sell come high water or low. There are apparently
merits to this mode of operation as well. It is perhaps more
acceptable to developers who regularly sell their products.

EEEEERATE —TT N TAFFR
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For the second way, empirical evidence tends to support my fear that
one day a big crest will come and the developer must borrow heavily
to buy land for fear of falling behind competitors. Then for whatever
reason this is followed by a bust. Historically such occurrences are by
no means rare especially in developing economies such as China.
One is then caught in a cash flow bind which may bankrupt the
company. This was exactly what happened last fall with many
Mainland developers, particularly several in the southern part of

the country.

What this tells us is that even with the second strategy, some amount
of reading the cycle is required. The largest residential developer by
volume on the Mainland (and so in the world), namely Vanke, did
exactly that. They became cautious as early as the first quarter of
2008, some six months before the light went out for the industry. As
a result, even if the government did not help, they would still have
survived. The same could not be said of many others.

That there were others who, like us, read the market correctly was a
comfort to us. Since the present management team of your Company
took charge almost nineteen years ago, we have consistently done
that first in Hong Kong and now also on the Mainland. Our
experiences, and those of certain others, prove that it can be done.
And it must be done.

The two plots of land just purchased are both excellent. The one in
Wusxi can be considered as an extension of the first piece across the
street bought at the end of 2006. We have been working on the new
lot ever since. The total size when both are fully developed will yield
over 376,000 square meters of mixed use space. The additional land
will render the entire project most impressive - - it will dominate the
area at the very center of the city. From a design perspective, we will
have added flexibility. All that results in a development that is more
attractive to tenants and to the city as a whole. Our market positioning
will become more competitive and so defendable, and our investment
even more safe.

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09 1
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Dalian on the other hand is a new city for us although we have been
working on it for many years. The economy is vibrant and its citizens,
affluent. Repeated visits yielded little until on one such trip an idea
dawned on us, namely, to move the entire municipal sports stadium
elsewhere and develop the site. Our proposal after some back-and-
forth with the government was accepted. Once again, by thinking out
of the box we were able to buy a beautiful piece. The location is very
prominent and dictates a spectacular design. We are now working on
it, and municipal officials have started to clear the site. Once ready,
we will build the biggest shopping mall so far for the group - - at about
222,000 square meters.

Prospects

In spite of overall lethargy in local and neighboring economies, Hong
Kong's residential market has been unexpectedly strong in the past
several months. It may continue and if so, HLP will try to sell
completed flats. Success in that regard will affect year end results.

At the beginning of 2009, almost no one expected that the Hong
Kong residential market would recover so soon. When there were
signs of life in January, experts termed it a minor uptick. Few thought
that it would last, but last it did. In fact it is unusual for our market to
rise unabated for so long - - already half a year. Now everyone is
searching for an explanation.

Chief among rationales given are: the abundance of cash in the
banking system, exceedingly low mortgage rates, short housing
supply in the coming few years, and increased speculation. | may add
that recent troubles in the financial market might have caused some
to lose confidence in paper assets. They feel safer to switch at least
part if not most of their investments to bricks and mortar. And once
price begins to take off and is thought by most to be sustainable,
more money will be poured in, thus exacerbating the price hike.
Eventually the doubters are forced to change their mind and join

the game.
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Are there sufficient fundamental reasons to sustain the bull market?
Frankly | am unsure. But even in their absence, temporary market
conditions may keep prices up for some time. Moreover, there is little
to lose by preparing ourselves in case there are opportunities to part
with Hong Kong flats. That we will do.

Our long term bread and butter is still the leasing of investment
properties. Here the picture is a little clearer. It is likely that the Hong
Kong rental market will hold steady not unlike the past two years. Our
Shanghai properties will experience for the first time slower growth. It
started last year and would likely worsen somewhat before
recovering. Because The Grand Gateway mall is less dependent on
turnover rent, it will fare better than that of Plaza 66. Lower price
points for goods sold is another reason. Offices have different
dynamics but the result is anticipated to be similar, namely, Plaza 66
will be more challenged. There are new competitors both in its
immediate neighborhood and in Pudong.

All'in all, | expect some growth in our rental business in both Hong
Kong and Shanghai. Depending on the global economy and the way
China copes with it, | am hopeful that faster rent increase will return
in the second half of 2010 for our retail properties. But for the present
fiscal year, our ability to sell completed Hong Kong condos will
dominate results.

Ronnie C. Chan
Chairman
Hong Kong, 31 July 2009
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HEWA
Rental Revenue

HZESNA=THILFE For the years ended 30 June

Overview

In view of the financial turbulence and tight money market
experienced at the end of 2008 and the early part of 2009, we saw a
decrease in our total turnover of 56% to HK$4,696.0 million during
the 2008/09 financial year. This was primarily due to the Group's
conscious decision not to release any properties for sale during the
slowdown in Hong Kong's property sales market. Turnover for
property sales during the year was therefore negligible. However,
buoyed by the strong market momentum in the early half of 2008,
property leasing activities were relatively unaffected and the total
leasing turnover for 2008/09 grew 12 % to HK$4,684.8 million. Net
profit attributable to shareholders for the year ended 30 June 2009
amounted to HK$2,6379 million, with profits from property leasing
rising by 14% to HK$3,812.6 million.

BB/ LBESBRAD G
Hong Kong/Shanghai Rental Income Split
HZESNA=THILFE For the years ended 30 June
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Rentals in Hong Kong experienced satisfactory growth and leasing
activities remained steady despite the devastating effects of the
financial crisis on the economy. As a result, total rental income in the
sector grew 7% to HK$2,602.6 million with profit rising 9% to
HK$2,109.0 million.

Shanghai too continued to perform well. Despite the challenging
environment, our property leasing activities in the city continued to
deliver double digit growth. Rental turnover increased by 18% to
HK$2,082.2 million and profits by 21% to HK$1,703.6 million with
both Plaza 66 and The Grand Gateway being fully occupied during the
year. Rental income from Shanghai now accounts for approximately
44% of the Group's total rental turnover, though this percentage will
grow in the next few years as projects currently being developed in
mainland China come on stream.
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Investment Properties by
Geographical Location
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As mentioned, property sales during the year were negligible. As we
maintained our strategy to release sale properties at the right time to
both capture the best prices and maximize our revenues, no public
sales of our residential properties were launched during the year. A
total of 3 units were sold in 2008/09, in contrast to the some 800
units sold in 2007/08.

Back in 2003, building on the success of our two commercial
complexes in Shanghai, we put our strategy for expansion in mainland
China in place, seeking to replicate our achievements throughout the
country. Accordingly, with a total planned investment budget of
around HK$40 billion, we began building a portfolio of top quality
investment properties in prime locations in major cities in mainland
China. Today, a number of prime sites have been acquired at central
locations in Tianjin, Shenyang, Wusxi, Jinan and Dalian for the
construction of world-class commercial complexes.

Work is proceeding on schedule for all these projects. The first of
these, Palace 66, located at the heart of Shenyang City near the
Imperial Palace, is expected to be completed some time in the next
financial year. Others in the pipeline are Parc 66 in Jinan, Forum 66 in
Shenyang, Riverside 66 inTianjin, Centre 66 in Wuxi and Olympia 66
in Dalian.

In May this year, we acquired a prime piece of land of 63,400 square
meters at Wusi Lu in Dalian City, one of the most popular cities in
Liaoning Province. With total investment for the project budgeted at
approximately HK$5 billion, our aim is to develop a world-class
shopping center, Olympia 66, of around 222,000 square meters.

Within the same month, Centre 66 in \Wuxi received a further boost,
when an adjoining site of 16,767 square meters was acquired to the
south of the existing lot, not only providing an additional 113,000
square meters of gross floor area but also cementing the
development's status as the city’s largest and most well-known
shopping landmark. Phase one of Centre 66 has already commenced
construction last year, with its ground-breaking ceremony taking place
in November 2008.
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Building on the success of Plaza 66 in Shanghai, which has become a
household name for the world's leading consumer brands and high
end luxury products across mainland China, we have named all our
new project developments in the mainland under this prestigious
“66" brand.

Outlook

Building on our tried and tested strategies that have been so
successful in the past, we will continue to forge ahead with our plans
for expansion in mainland China. In addition to our successful land
acquisitions in VWuxi and Dalian during the year, we continue to move
forward with our established strategy - - to selectively acquire large
and quality sites located at the heart of the country’s leading cities for
further development.

In Hong Kong, we maintain our policy to optimize our property
development margins, making every effort to ensure that our
remaining residential properties will be released for sale at the most
opportune moment. At the same time, we are committed to
constantly upgrading the quality of our retail and commercial portfolio;
reviewing our tenant mix and adjusting leasing strategies; carrying out
regular refurbishment and improvement activities; and working in
partnership with our tenants and customers - - this commitment and
application will help to maintain the steady pace of our Hong Kong
leasing activities despite the current cautious sentiment in

the territory.

In mainland China, the picture remains ever positive - - with
Shanghai's growing momentum, leasing activities should continue to
perform to satisfactory standards. Furthermore, with the planned
opening of Shenyang’s Palace 66 in 2010, rental income from our
leasing activities in mainland China are expected to continue to grow
in future years.
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The strong leasing demand experienced in the commercial and office
sectors in 2007/08 carried over into the first quarter of the current
financial year and though Hong Kong experienced a slowdown in
rental demand towards the end of 2008, our overall leasing results
remained resilient. The Group’s total rental turnover for 2008/09
increased to HK$2,602.6 million, showing growth of 7% over the
previous year. Profit also grew 9% to HK$2,109.0 million.

\We managed to maintain satisfactory occupancy rates throughout our
property leasing portfolio, which consists of 259,000 square meters
of commercial and retail space, 317000 square meters of office and
industrial/office space, 99,000 square meters of residential and
apartments space as well as 210,000 square meters of car parking
space. The commercial/retail as well as the office and industrial/office
sectors performed the most strongly with occupancy rates of 98%
and 92% respectively. We were also able to maintain our net rental
margin at 81%, which is well above the average in Hong Kong.

Geographical Analysis of Hong Kong Investment Properties

RZZETHhFXA=1+H At 30 June 2009

BEEE" (FEHK)

Gross Floor Area™ ('000 sg. m)

2009 2008
BE Hong Kong Island
IR R EE Central and Admiralty 51.1 51.1
SR K (T Causeway Bay and Wanchai 111.8 111.8
BRI & S0 Kornhill and Quarry Bay 164.4 164.4
LTE R 1 & The Peak and Mid-Levels 46.9 46.9
BEER Hong Kong South 12.1 12.1
NEE Kowloon
i ;] Mongkok 1479 147.9
LYDIE P NBE Tsimshatsui and \West Kowloon 89.3 89.3
HTEA N EE Ngau Tau Kok and Kwun Tong 94.7 94.7
BE  ZEREE Cheung Sha Wan, Kwai Chung and Tsuen Wan 166.4 166.4
P Total 884.6 884.6

* BIEFESZEEEE

Including gross floor area of car parks
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Commercial and Retail

This positive outcome can be attributed, first and foremost, to the
location of our leasing portfolio as most of our properties are located
in prime locations in the heart of Hong Kong. In addition to properties
in the key business areas of Central, Admiralty and Tsimshatsui, the
maijor part of our retail portfolio is based in Causeway Bay and
Mongkok, Hong Kong's biggest, busiest and most popular shopping
districts. In Causeway Bay, we are the largest landlord of street level
shops, while in Mongkok, we are one of the largest landlords of retail
properties in the heart of this bustling area, which is bordered by
Nathan Road on one side and by Sai Yeung Choi Street on the other.
Attracting huge pedestrian flows, the two areas buzz with people,
virtually 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

We also make every effort to add value to our properties with
professional and effective management together with comprehensive
and ongoing improvement and refurbishment programs. The
completion of extensive renovation work, both at Amoy Plaza in
Kowloon East and Fashion Walk in Causeway Bay in the past year, for
example, has helped to enhance the tenant mix while also lifting
rentals. Together with our long-term tenant partnerships and
committed services, our effective leasing strategies and constant
reviews and adjustment of the tenant mix, we maintained an average
occupancy of 98% during the year, with total rental income rising to
HK$1,288.2 million, a growth of 7% over the previous year.

Our flagship property in Causeway Bay, Fashion Walk, recorded a
significant improvement in rental received of 12% growth, primarily
due to the improvement in the tenant mix and shop reconfiguration
which came to a successful conclusion during the year. As a matter of
fact, the property has achieved a cumulative rental increment of 40%
over the past three years with the successful repositioning of the
property and enhanced shop reconfiguration. The improved
environment and fresh facilities have attracted a number of new brand
names. Some of the fashion world’s most well-known brands, also
operate flagship stores within the development. With such a diverse
array of trendy and upmarket brands, not only does the area’s
reputation as a fashion hub continue to grow amongst discerning
shoppers, it is highly popular amongst both locals and tourists alike.
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The Peak, with its magnificent views of Hong Kong as well as its
green and open spaces and pleasant leisure environment, continues
to attract visitors to The Peak Galleria. During the year, it recorded a
rental income of HK$53.1 million, translating into comparatively
modest growth of 3% against 2007/08.

Our properties in Mongkok continued to perform positively with the
area having one of the highest population densities and pedestrian
flows in the world.

Our shopping complexes at Kornhill Plaza in Quarry Bay and Amoy
Plaza in Kowloon East also performed well, with rentals experiencing
little or no impact from the depressed global economy. In fact, rentals
in Amoy Plaza saw a significant improvement with the completion of
extensive renovations in 2007/08. Rental picked up rapidly with the
improved facilities and environment and an increase in the mall's total
leasable areas. The rental income for Amoy Plaza thus increased

13% to HK$206.9 million, while Kornhill Plaza grew 5% to

HK$250.7 million.

Segmental Analysis of Hong Kong Investment Properties

BEEE (TF75K) HE2WA CE¥AET) HHE (Ao
Gross Floor Area Rental Revenue Occupancy Rate
('000 sg. m) (HK$ million) (%)

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

s M Commercial and Retail 258.5 258.5 1,288.2 1,201.5 98 99
BFEERI¥ BF# Office and Industrial/Office 317.0 3170 905.9 811.5 92 95
FEREH Residential and Apartments 99.4 99.4 306.1 3073 70 73
=85 Car Parks 209.7 209.7 102.4 101.1 N/A N/A
45t Total 884.6 884.6 2,602.6 2,421.4 90 92
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The Peak Galleria, The Peak

2. THREEPL, KLY - lLA  Park-In Commercial Centre/Gala Place, Mongkok
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Amoy Plaza, Ngau Tau Kok
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1. B SRS Hang Lung Centre, Causeway Bay
2. @ L—H - BEA  One Grand Tower, Mongkok
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Office and Industrial/Office

With greater exposure to the international market, Grade-A office
properties in Hong Kong, felt the effects of the global financial crisis
more keenly. Rental in this sector experienced a downward
adjustment from the beginning of the year. We have been fortunate in
that the impact to our office properties has been limited as they are
situated in the heart of Hong Kong's major commercial hubs,
conveniently located along mass transit railway lines (the MTR), other
public transport systems and major road networks.

Our quality management as well as the diversity of our tenants
enabled us to maintain our total occupancy rates at 92%. Overall
office and industrial/office rentals rose to HK$905.9 million in 2008/09,
an increase of 12%.

We continue to enhance our office values with diverse strategies
based on the building’s location and market positioning. Our prime
properties in Central - - Standard Chartered Bank Building, Baskerville
House, 1 Duddell Street and Printing House, for example, continued
to reap the benefits of their location right in the heart of Hong Kong's
business district. These premises thus find a ready market among
major corporations and leading international organizations.

Similarly the rest of our office portfolio - - Hang Lung Centre in
Causeway Bay, Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower in Quarry Bay, Grand
Centre in Tsimshatsui, as well as One and Two Grand Tower,
Hollywood Plaza and the Park-In Commercial Centre in Mongkok,
remain in high demand due to quality management and prime urban
locations. Our policy to be a “friendly landlord’ committed to building
partnerships with our tenants, also helps us to retain many of our
choice tenants as long-term customers.
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Residential and Apartments

Our residential portfolio, which offers a mix of luxurious residential
homes and serviced apartments, started the 2008/09 financial year
very strongly. In view of its exposure to the international market, this
sector experienced a greater impact from the effects of the financial
tsunami than our other rental properties.

Popular with consular, professional and corporate tenants are our two
signature properties - - The Summit and Burnside Villa. The former is
located in Hong Kong's exclusive mid-levels area offering panoramic
views of its surroundings, while the latter consists of 45 family-style
villas at Hong Kong's most well-known beach, Repulse Bay. Though
occupancy levels remained strong, rental rates experienced a mild
decrease in the beginning of 2009 as many international organizations
reduced their staff housing allowances. Despite this setback, rental
incomes increased overall with The Summit generating an income of
HK$81.2 million during the year based on an occupancy rate of 84%
and Burnside Villa bringing in HK$55.3 million with an 88% occupancy.

Hong Kong saw a significant drop in visitors in the first half of 2009
due both to the global economic downturn and the outbreak of
Influenza A (HTN1). As such, occupancies as well as room rates
dropped at our serviced apartments, Kornhill Apartments, in the
second half of the financial year, despite their convenient location and
comfortable setting. However, our overall residential and serviced
apartment portfolio brought in total rentals of HK$306.1 million for
the year.
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Sales in the residential property market in the past 18 months in Hong
Kong can best be described as a roller coaster ride. Since the
beginning of 2009, conditions have eased and sales transaction
volumes and price levels have picked up strongly - - by the end of April
2009, prices had recovered over half of the declines recorded in
December 2008.

The HarbourSide

The HarbourSide towers majestically above Kowloon Station and the
state-of-the-art shopping complex within the development. Consisting
of 1,122 luxury units in three 80-storey blocks and boasting some of
the most magnificent views of the harbor, this prime development,
conveniently and attractively located in one of Hong Kong's most
rapidly developing areas, has proven to be extremely popular. As such,
we will seek opportunities to market The HarbourSide's garden view
units once market sentiment improves.

The Long Beach

This residential development in West Kowloon consists of 1,829 units
in eight 43-storey towers. With spectacular views and top class
recreational facilities, over 600 units were sold in just two weeks when
the first phase of the project was released for sale in October 2007 In
view of the difficult sales environment experienced in the second half
of 2008 however, we decided to postpone the second phase of sales
in the development. At the current moment, we are carefully
monitoring market sentiment, making sure we seize the right moment
to release the remaining units in timely sale phases into the market.

Other Properties and Projects

With three units being sold at AquaMarine in early July 2008, we now
have 20 remaining units in this complex. Two duplexes are also
available at Carmel-on-the-Hill. These properties will be released for
sale, as and when suitable and appropriate market opportunities arise.

Looking forward, we currently have a project under planning on a
7850 square-meter site at Blue Pool Road, in the pleasant residential
district of Happy Valley. With a total gross floor area of 8,005 square
meters, completion is expected in 2011.
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The Long Beach, West Kowloon
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Convinced that the abundant opportunities in mainland China will fuel
the future growth of the Hang Lung Group, we moved into this
market 16 years ago, developing two prime properties in Puxi,
Shanghai's commmercial and cultural center. Fulfilling our expectations,
these properties have flourished, consolidating our foothold in the city
and growing from strength to strength. Despite the effects of the
global financial crisis, they realized double digits income growth in
2008/09, increasing 18% to bring in total rental incomes of
HK$2,082.2 million.

Plaza 66 is located on Nanjing Xi Lu, one of Shanghai’'s most well-
known shopping streets. This award winning project, which has
become a city landmark, continues to attract the most acclaimed
brands in the retail business. Contemporary and elegant, its spacious
interiors provide the perfect showcase for the world’s leading
products, and every name in high fashion - - from Chanel to Louis
Vuitton to Versace, is represented, together with the world's top
jewelry and watch makers - - Cartier, Tiffany, Harry Winston,
Boucheron, Girard-Perregaux, Chaumet and Chopard among many
others. In view of the unique shopping experience this offers
customers, Plaza 66 remains fully occupied, with a growing waiting
list of tenants which includes some of the most well-known names in
the high-end retail industry. We therefore continued to see an upward
trend in rentals during the year with commercial and retail rentals for
the development rising to HK$388.1 miillion, an increase of 18% over
the previous year.

Endorsing the architectural quality and excellent management of this
commercial, retail and office complex, its two office towers continue
to be popular among leading multinationals, being seen as the
address of choice among many Fortune 500 companies operating

in Shanghai. The two towers, which are among the tallest office
buildings in Puxi, enjoyed an occupancy rate of 97%, bringing in rental
revenues of HK$663.0 million during the year.
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The Grand Gateway, “the place to be seen” for local trendsetters in
the city, consists of a large-scale lifestyle complex with over 450
retailers, restaurants and other leisure facilities. The 120,000 square-
meter shopping complex, is conveniently located in the Xujiahui
commercial district above Shanghai's largest and busiest metro
station. Recent conversion work along the inner streets and
basement floor has increased the total leasing area, which together
with office and residential development contributed rental income of
HK$1,019.9 million, an increase of 22% over 2007/08.

The shopping mall remained fully let during the year while the office
as well as the residential towers and serviced apartments maintained
occupancy levels of 98%. This was due in part to the strong efforts
made and active communication held to encourage tenants to renew
their tenancies as the original agreements came up for renewal.

With the completion of a second residential tower and the serviced
apartments, the development now has a total of 635 residential units,
making The Grand Gateway the largest hotel-type serviced apartment
complex in Shanghai. It also has the largest number of expatriate
tenants in the city.

Segmental Analysis of Shanghai Investment Properties

EEEET(TFaK) BHEBRA CB¥ESET) HhE (BoL)
Total Gross Floor Area* Rental Revenue Occupancy Rate
('000 sg. m) (HK$ million) (%)

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
s NEs Commercial and Retail 173.6 153.6 993.9 836.7 100 100
g Office 226.9 226.8 9075 785.7 97 100
EERB Residential and Apartments 83.2 83.2 149.8 110.1 98 97
=85 Car Parks 104.4 104.4 31.0 31.8 N/A N/A
st Total 588.1 568.0 2,082.2 1,764.3 98 100

* BiEHE KK 2 EE EE
Including gross floor area above and below ground
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Enhancing the value of this development, we continue to improve
facilities and organize special events that not only promote our brand
image, but also the district and surrounding area. Pedestrian flows are
also expected to improve significantly when construction work at the
Xujiahui metro station, directly below The Grand Gateway, is
complete. The station is currently being transformed into an
interchange station between two new metro lines, in addition to the
existing line in operation.

LBEERAZEB D E
Shanghai Rental Revenue by Business Segment

HEZTTNFNA=1HILFE For the year ended 30 June 2009

-1

o BSREH

Commercial and Retail

W 2FE
Office

w0 FTERSTH
Residential and
Apartments

@ =5
Car Parks
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Geographical Analysis of Mainland China Investment Properties

and Properties Under Development
R=ZTZTHFXA=1H At 30 June 2009

In addition to these properties, Palace 66 in Shenyang, Parc 66 in
Jinan, Forum 66 in Shenyang, Riverside 66 in Tianjin and Centre 66 in
Wuxi are currently under construction. \WWe expect to see increasing
contributions from these new developments as our strategy, to build a
portfolio of quality investment properties in prime locations in major
Chinese cities, increasingly come on stream. Pre-leasing activities for
Palace 66 are now underway while the pre-leasing timetable for the
other projects is anticipated to commence very soon.

IEEERE (FFHK)
Total Gross Floor Area™ ('000 sg. m)

L& Shanghai

IREER Xuhui District 315.0
&R Jing An District 273.1
X Tianjin 152.8
E Shenyang

A (R AT ) Shenhe District (Zhongjie Lu) 109.3
B (FFEAE) Shenhe District (Qingnian Da Jie) 842.4
F:5 7] Wuxi

SREm(ARPIK) Chong’an District (Renmin Zhong Lu) 263.8
SR () Chong'an District (Jiankang Lu) 113.0
R Jinan 171.0
K& Dalian 221.9
ya=t Total 2,462.3

* BIEE K 2 S EE R

Including gross floor area above and below ground
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\We opened our first store in Shanghai at the Portman Ritz Carlton
Hotel in 1998/99. A couple of years later we moved to Plaza 66 for a
number of reasons - - it is located in a highly prominent position on
one of the best commercial avenues in Shanghai, while its world-class
architecture and luxurious shopping environment make it the ideal
home for our well-known Louis Vuitton brand.

We did so well after our move there in 2001 that we expanded our
store to a duplex in 2004. Currently, with over 1,314 square meters of
space showcasing the latest fashion trends and the most up-to-date
shopping concepts, our store in Shanghai is not only the largest
Louis Vuitton store in mainland China, it is also one of the largest
luxury stores in the country. Enjoying the highest sales turnover in
the mainland China, the Shanghai store has become our flagship.
Customers come not just from Shanghai, they also flock in from the
surrounding region, which has helped to drive sales revenues up by
well over 300% in the past five years alone.

This success is due to the win-win partnerships that we enjoy both
with our customers and Hang Lung Properties. Our customers in
Shanghai are very discerning - - they are aware of the latest fashion
trends and open to new products and ideas. They also possess strong
spending power, and as one of the oldest and most recognized luxury
brands in the world, we benefit from this willingness to spend.

At the same time our partnership with Hang Lung Properties has
helped us to thrive over the years. Not only do we benefit from the
sound property management and luxurious shopping environment at
Plaza 66, its ongoing upgrades create a unique shopping experience
which attracts strong and consistent customer flows. We look forward
to continuing this flourishing relationship in the years to come.
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ERERES
Palace 66

RS T 8 ] [ P AT IS
Zhongjie Lu, Shenhe District,
Shenyang

[

Commercial
109,300 F 53K /sq.m

SRR ESHERRSGEETHES - 1A R SiRH+
BAT=ZBFHhAZBSEE  YERXASEEEETE
AHER 2 FTEIRE - HEURPEHE  FUREHE -
SRR - MR SUUEERGRE - —ZA%F
K RERAEEMERR 2T L - BUERI 2B+ AE
ZEEH Iz RIBEReEIZ—-

SEREEESN _TT/\FESEXRGERERS 28
BRNIRFERET R — %20 RINRER & ROFERE -
IR -—ZELFREONBEFHERERZRERSE
ME[2007 SEMBEIFREHAEARE — RFIEB A - HE
HRR T —2FEHK -

Palace 66, previously known as Shenyang Zhongjie
Hang Lung Plaza, consisting of 109,300 square
meters of leading retail space, will become the first
of our new property developments in mainland China
to come on stream. Located in Zhongjie Lu, Shenhe
District, it lies right at the heart of Shenyang's prime
commercial, financial and cultural hub, neighbouring
the Shenyang Imperial Palace, which is a World
Cultural Heritage site. Zhongjie Lu itself has been the
center of Old Shenyang City for the past 300 years
and is cited as one of the “10 Most Famous
Commercial Streets in China” and the “World
Famous Street"

Palace 66 received the U.S. Green Building Council's
“Gold Level — Pre-certification under Leadership in
Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) — Core and
Shell Development” in 2008 and the “MIPIM Asia
Awards — Futura Projects” issued by Le Marché
International des Professionnels de |'lmmobilier
(MIPIM) Asia in 2007 Construction is expected to
complete in 2010.
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Parc 66

ERETE T BRI
Quancheng Lu, Lixia District,
Jinan

[GE S

Commercial

171,000 F 753K /sq.m

R Er 2 B2 ES AR A B R IBEES - 2B B8R
EABARETLE-TYRkZBSEE  XER-F
ZHFEFRPT - HREURNIUREBREX MBS EEH
W BRI 2R BB K ABER T2
HOAR o

HER _ZENFRIBEGEEZERE 2 ERIIRRR
FHEREE — O RINEHER | & RNTERE - BIERMER
BRI BIFR R XY F KL AR 2009 S KB XY %
ARE — ZHEAR(RE) | ANABERFEERE R EIR
X 5 EEI 2009 RAKHB AR — TERERASR] -
HEEAR - ——FEK -

Parc 66, previously known as Jinan Hang Lung Plaza,
consisting of six storeys and 171,000 square meters
of quality shopping space, commenced construction
at the end of 2007. Centrally located in Jinan, the
political, economic and cultural capital of Shandong
Province, at Quancheng Lu, Jinan's “Golden Avenue'
the completed development is expected to create a
new landmark in the City.

Parc 66 received the U.S. Green Building Council’'s
“Gold Level — Pre-certification under Leadership in
Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) — Core and
Shell Development”, International Property Awards’
“Asia Pacific Commercial Property Awards 2009 —The
Architecture Award (Five Star)” and “MIPIM
Architectural Review Future Project Awards 2009 —
Retail & Leisure” issued by Le Marché International
des Professionnels de I'lmmobilier (MIPIM) both in
2009. Project completion is expected in 2011.

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09
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Forum 66

BRSO B B F A

Qingnian Da Jie, Shenhe District,
Shenyang

A% PoE  BERREXER

Commercial, office, hotel and serviced apartments

842,400 F J5 K /sq.m
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Forum 66, formerly known as Shenyang City Hang
Lung Plaza, is the largest of our current developments
with a prime 842,400 square-meter complex. The
project is located in the midst of Shenyang’s landmarks
- - the Liaoning Grand Theatre, the Museum of
Liaoning Province, the Municipal Government Building
as well as the City Plaza, named one of the “Best
National Cultural Plaza” by the Ministry of Culture in
2006. Sited on Qingnian Da Jie, the “Golden Corridor”
that runs through the City center and along which the
new metro line is being built, the project will further
benefit from the opening of the two stations at
Qingnian Da Jie and City Plaza at its doorstep.

Comprising world-class shopping mall, office buildings,
a hotel as well as serviced apartments, similar to
Palace 66, the project was also awarded the “Gold
Level — Pre-certification under Leadership in Energy
and Environmental Design (LEED) - Core and Shell
Development” issued by the U.S. Green Building
Council in 2008. Construction commenced in April
2007 with completion expected by phases from

2013 onwards.
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# B Shenyang
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X ¥ Tianjin K Dalian
% 7 Jinan ®

1€ 8 Wuxi

. EWIEREY - JBSEAE  Palace 66, Shenhe District in Shenyang
2. [BEES  BREE TR Parc 66, Lixia District in Jinan
3. MTEREY - &I5&ME  Forum 66, Shenhe District in Shenyang
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18 &5
Riverside 66

RIEh AT EMF i
Heping Lu, Heping District,
Tianjin

[GES

Commercial

152,800 5 3K/sq.m

IR KR 2 182 EIZ AT AR IBEES -
I8 B AL ROET O AITF R - 1tk 5% BURES
MHRERRERER 2+ AZEEmEE]
Z—RIBEEeHEz— - BELEN—IEG
WOBNT BT FHIRZESMM
HE TIRIEAETT - WRAIFRFHTER
FEANBEF -EAREOEDES  RBE
THRE-TN\BF I AKZIARAEMEE - B
B RERERIIRERACHEIRE L
ER-TELFRERFEEREBRERE
R HEEE[2007 REBEE KK — TENH
AR - BEER —ZEZ/\FHAHT - &
AR —=FEK -

Riverside 66, previously known as Tianjin
Hang Lung Plaza, is currently undergoing
construction on a prime 44,277 square-
meter site on Heping Lu, which, like
Zhongjie Lu in Shenyang City, has been
named one of the “10 Most Famous
Commercial Streets in China” and the
“World Famous Street” Located in
Tianjin's city center, it is creatively styled
as one of the longest shopping malls in
mainland China, consisting of 152,800
square meters of prime retail space. The
project aims at achieving its LEED
certification and has won the “"MIPIM
Architectural Review Future Project
Awards 2007 — Retail & Leisure” issued
by Le Marché International des
Professionnels de I'lmmobilier (MIPIM).
Construction commenced in May 2008
with project completion expected

in 2013.

EEES (—8)
Centre 66 (Phase 1)

BEHETRZEBARDRE

Renmin Zhong Lu, Chong’an District,
Wuxi

MERRAE

Commercial and office

263,800 ¥ 57K /sq.m

BREES - WEBUNEHH ZEETP
ODRZEARPR o B 2 i —5%
RSB EBRPLUERARTRE I
MRME 2 RERRIEREREES - 1B
BzHgHEEE_+ "B=FTN\BF
K BE-EERAFEYHLORFR
WMAERE - HAER_TZT/N\F+—A
BOTHTHABY AR _FT—HFED
HIERK °

Centre 66 (Phase 1), previously known
as Wuxi Hang Lung Plaza, is located on
Renmin Zhong Lu in Chong'an District,
in the heart of the central business
district. No.1 and No.2 metro lines,
now under construction, will run along
Zhongshan Lu and Renmin Zhong Lu
with a subway station at their junction,
which will have an underground
connection to Centre 66. This 263,800
square-meter development, comprises
a world-class shopping mall and Grade
A office towers. Construction
commenced with a ground breaking
ceremony in November 2008 and
expected completion by phases from
2014 onwards.
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Centre 66 (Phase 2)
BHTRZEBEER

Jiankang Lu, Chong’an District,
Wuxi

B - WA BERBBEXER

Commercial, office, hotel and serviced apartments

113,000 5 >K/sq.m

BEES ()R @R - LENERES(—H)E
H- SEBAZEEER— %/x?fﬁ/\—l—tﬂ?ﬁ%Zﬁ
Eri - RERERSCAEHAEBEAZE=THE/TN
BYAK o b RRREIER SEHEAREYF L - BEHAQ
BE BERBRBAEAN—F - WEFREREBEZEK
REHIIZOBEERRA RSB AR

T8 B 5T 8l ER Al RER KRB R AT R #8 2 |RE

Centre 66 (Phase 2) is located at Jiankang Lu, south of
Centre 66 (Phase 1). The acquisition of the adjoining
piece of land of 16,767 square meters will enlarge and
enhance the current development, Centre 66, with a
total gross floor area reaching 376,800 square meters,
forming a large scale mixed development comprising a
world-class shopping mall, Grade A office towers, a
hotel and serviced apartments. The enlarged
development will become the largest and most
prominent landmark in the City’s central business
district.

The development is aiming to achieve the LEED
certification.
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Olympia 66

RE T 7 e [ I B%
Wusi Lu, Xigang District,
Dalian

[E 3

Commercial

221,900 ¥ 75 >K /sq.m

R RE BEES N EBETEAMSEHNERZ—

SESFRABAZBUAANENARMEZOEETZ —
A  BEANE=TEAF kBT - A
MEMRNTRES  HER-EESLEERRR 2FE
BEAE  BHOT_B-TAEFIARZEY KR R
HRERR B - ﬁ# ERERORARBOTRET - BAE
FRIER R A E T RAR B YRS

THEFHEIRE
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BETR MIRIR ARG e R AR - A TEA R

Olympia 66, became one of our latest projects in
mainland China with the acquisition of a prime site of
63,400 square meters at Wusi Lu, one of the City’s
most prominent commercial avenues in the Xigang
District of Dalian City in May this year. With a
planned investment of RMB4.5 billion, the project,
located adjacent to Olympic Square, will consist of a
stylish, sky-lit seven-storey complex of 221,900
square meters offering a full range of shopping,
dining and entertainment facilities. Upon completion,
it will become the largest shopping mall in the City.

The Project is aiming at achieving the LEED

certification and the completion is anticipated in
2015.

43



LG 2 5w M « MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

P — g P E
MAINLAND CHINA — PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT

44 EREBERAR — TN\ TAEER



¥ B Shenyang
L]

% ¥t Tianjine  ® X ¥ Dalian

¥ 7 Jinan o
4. BEES  REMFRE Riverside 66, Heping District in Tianjin fiE % Wuxi ®
5. BEES(—H)  EHRTE Centre 66 (Phase 1), Chong'an District in Wuxi
6. BRES(—HR_H)  EHEZE Centre 66 (Phases 1 & 2), Chong'an District in Wuxi
7. BEES - KEANER Olympia 66, Xigang District in Dalian
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IRBREPYE

Major Properties Under Development
RZZZTNF/NA=+H At 30 June 2009

WIEEEE SEELER TEETRAK
HARE TR (FFFHK) (AHtk) =R
(FERHK) Total Gross Group's L BEER Expected
Site Area TER® Floor Area  Attributable Stage of Completion
b 2h Location (sg. m) Main Usage (sg. m) Interest (%) Completion Date
TE HONG KONG
BEIEE Blue Pool Road, 7,850 R 8,005 52.7 HhAZ YR 2011
NI ERS7475%  IL 5747 Site Investigation
X2 TIANJIN
A& Heping District 44,277 C 152,800 52.7 HETE 2013
TN & Heping Lu Foundation
& SHENYANG
V& [ Shenhe District 34,845 C 109,300 52.7 BELE 2010
AR Zhongjie Lu Superstructure
[ Shenhe District 92,065 C/H/O/S 842,400 52.7 HETE 2013
HERE Qingnian Da Jie Foundation £ —Hf
Phase 1
it WUXI
SL[E Chong'an District 37,324 C/O 263,800 52.7 HWETIZ 2014
ARFRE Renmin Zhong Lu Foundation E£—H
Phase 1
ERE Chong'an District 16,767 C/H/0/S 113,000 52.7 FrEl i
R Jiankang Lu Planning N/A
B JINAN
&N & Lixia District 52,569 C 171,000 52.7 EEE 2011
R Quancheng Lu Superstructure
KiE DALIAN
piifea] = Xigang District 63,400 C 221,900 52.7 FTEIF 2015
FaytfizS Wousi Lu Planning
C: ®% Commercial
H: J&/E Hotel
0O: BFE Office
R: &= Residential
S : MR&ABEFT Serviced Apartments
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CEAGFENE
Properties Completed for Sale
RZZZNFRA=+H At30 June 2009

REEEE SEEGER REH REH
(FFHXK) (AHLE) FEBEMHE B EH
Total Gross Group's No. of Unsold No. of Unsold
FEAR Floor Area Attributable Residential Carparking
b 2h Location Main Usage (sg. m) Interest (%) Units Spaces
TE HONG KONG
BERRT - The HarbourSide, R 86,012 52.7 709 484
@B P15 - 1 Austin Road West,
BEAHBER11080%%  KIL 11080
REE The Long Beach, R 99,531 52.7 1,224 -
TSIEIESR 8 Hoi Fai Road,
NBERHEE111525%  KIL 11152
BgEX - AquaMarine, R 1,876 52.7 20 -
REX BR85S 8 Sham Shing Road,
FLBERHBER63385% NKIL 6338
B Carmel-on-the-Hill, R 286 52.7 2 23
AT 9 Carmel Village Street,
BERHBER 1112257  KIL 11122
R: &= Residential
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TEREUE
Major Investment Properties
RZTZNFA=+H At30June 2009

EEAEFRK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m)
BETER
T¥ /=55 FE=E&KBA BUEAE
5 R Es Office and ~ Residential No. of
WREREE  Commercial Industrial/ and Carparking
Hh 2 Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office  Apartments Spaces
& HONG KONG
hEB R & E CENTRAL AND ADMIRALTY
ENfITT - Printing House, 2848 1,709 5,980 = =
EHEFE6 6 Duddell Street,
A ER 33957 IL 339
AR5 1 Duddell Street, 2848 - 9,007 = =
A0 ER 731055 IL 7310
LERRAT - Baskerville House, 2880 1,473 3,379 = =
ERE2255 22 Ice House Street,
A3 ER 644 5% IL 644
BITIRITAE Standard Chartered 2854 4,814 23,730" - 16
fEEE R 4-4A5 Bank Building,
TS EHER 10357 4 - 4A Des Voeux Road Central,
AER &BER Sections A&B of ML 103
SRR Queensway Plaza, 2012 6,923 = = =
S B3 93 Queensway
AR T CAUSEWAY BAY AND WANCHAI
BpER L Hang Lung Centre, 2864 8,613 22,161 - 126
BEHE2-205% 2 - 20 Paterson Street,
A EZ 52455 M 74957 IL 524 & IL 749
25y Fashion Walk, 2842, 2864 31,072 - 7,935 -
BIENE - EHE - Paterson Street, Houston Street, & 2868
SCFERET - hnZEf - Great George Street,
RETUBHAT - 51478 - Cleveland Street, Kingston
TS EHER 23157 K Street, Gloucester Road,
5255 ML 231, ML 52,
A ER 46957 K 4705% IL 469 & IL 470
BRE Park Towers, 2060 * 1,101 = = 250
EEE 15 1 King's Road,
A EX 856057 IL 8560
LR Shui On Centre, 2060 * - 16,313 - 42
15 2812 - 15/F-28/F,
7B 6-855 6 - 8 Harbour Road,
A EZ 863357 IL 8633
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Major Investment Properties (Continued)
RZZZTNFNA=1H At 30 June 2009

REEE(FITK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m)
BYER
T¥/EF8 FEREFR  BE
5 K Office and Residential No. of
WEREmFEH  Commercial Industrial/ and Carparking
o Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office  Apartments Spaces
FEw HONG KONG (Continued)
B RBIAE KORNHILL AND QUARRY BAY
ERIGE% Kornhill Plaza, 2059 * 53,080 10,577 - 1,069
EELLIE1-25% 1 - 2 Kornhill Road,
A EZ 8566557 IL 8566
FREE Kornhill Apartments, 2059 * = — 35,275 —
RILE25 2 Kornhill Road,
A B 856657 IL 8566
GaEALN Stanhope House, 2082 1,051 26,720 - 70
WEET345 734 King's Road,
A3 ER 350755k IL 3507
WER¥ILE THE PEAK AND MID-LEVELS
ILTEE - The Peak Galleria, 2047 12,500 = = 493
ILTEZE 11857 - 118 Peak Road, RBL 3
T XBHb R 355
TEEZE - Nos. 2&3, Garden Terrace, 2078 & 2886 = = 558 25
2-35R5E & - Block 2, 8A Old Peak Road,
EILTHEBA IL 896 & IL 2850
A1 ER 89655 K 28505
e - The Summit, 2047 - - 15,225 54
RITEREA1C5E - 41C Stubbs Road,
A3 B 88705k IL 8870
BEME HONG KONG SOUTH
BRE - FEEER Burnside Villa, 2072 = = 9,212 89
T XBHEER 99455 9 South Bay Road, RBL 994
HA MONGKOK
AR LE—H - Argyle Centre, Phase |, 2060 114 = - -
B E6885E - 688 Nathan Road,
BEIHDER 126255 KIL 1262
R O—H One Grand Tower, 2060 19,276 22,637 - 40
TEEG27- 641ATR - 627 - 641A Nathan Road,
JLEEAHIER 1024655 KIL 10246
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MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES

FTERENE &

Major Investment Properties (Continued)
RZZZTNFNA=1H At 30 June 2009

BEmE (F5K)

Gross Floor Area (sg. m)

BYER
T /5578 FEREA B EH
G K] Office and Residential No. of
WEREmFEH  Commercial Industrial/ and Carparking
b Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office  Apartments Spaces
&) HONG KONG (Continued)
i 9= NC ) MONGKOK (Continued)
RO ZH Two Grand Tower, 2060 1,629 8,614 - =
TREIE6255% 625 Nathan Road,
TUBEHEER 1023457 KIL 10234
B@AE - Hang Tung Building, 2045 * = - - 955
EERE1112-112055% 1112 - 1120 Canton Road,
NBERHER 970855 KIL 9708
AR D, R4+ Park-In Commercial Centre/ 2044 * 6,297 29,966 - 478
EFT 156 57 - Gala Place,
BEIHEER 95905 56 Dundas Street, KIL 9590
RIZEEERL Hollywood Plaza, 2047 9,136 17,974 = =
BHE6105% - 610 Nathan Road,
JLRE B ER 1102458 KIL 11024
Bl Carmel-on-the-Hill, 2050 2,131 - - 11
PRI 9 Carmel Village Street,
JUBEIER 1112255 KIL 11122
RPHBERFAENE TSIMSHATSUI AND WEST KOWLOON
TR L - Grand Centre, 2038 3,688 7,198 = =
HE R TE8R - 8 Humphreys Avenue,
BEAHEER 772555 & KIL 7725 &
8026557 KIL 8026
BfER A S - Hanford Fashion, 2037 2,443 3,892 - =
T E221B-E5 - 221B - E Nathan Road,
JUBEAIHEER 1061955k & KIL 10619 &
8132%% KIL 8132
SR - The Long Beach, 2050 20,200 — — 390
TBIBIESE 8 Hoi Fai Road,
NBERHBER 1115255 KIL 11152
288X AquaMarine, 2050 22,350 - - 516
IRERBESSE 8 Sham Shing Road,
FTLRERIHDER 633855 NKIL 6338
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Major Investment Properties (Continued)
RZZZTNFNA=1H At 30 June 2009

BEmE (F5K)

Gross Floor Area (sg. m)

BTER
T¥/EFE FEREFR  BE
G K] Office and Residential No. of
MEZEMFLH  Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
b Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office  Apartments Spaces
&) HONG KONG (Continued)
S EARBIE NGAUTAU KOK AND KWUNTONG
ARES Amoy Plaza, 2047 44,951 - - 620
HEBBAETT 77 Ngau Tau Kok Road,
FABERHER535% - NKIL 53, NKIL 1482,
14825% - 26605% K NKIL 2660 &
39475 NKIL 3947
EARTEFD Amoycan Industrial Centre, 2047 - 8,589 - -
FEEABETS 7 Ngau Tau Kok Road,
FLBERHIER 174458 NKIL 1744
BEMES Laguna Plaza, 2047 15,619 - - 165
FR&E - Cha Kwo Ling Road,
BRI ER 605555 NKIL 6055
ROE - ZFR CHEUNG SHAWAN, KWAI CHUNG AND
£y ] TSUEN WAN
BEEEPL Park Building, 2047 397 13,109 = =
H1L3E4765E - 476 Castle Peak Road,
FNBERHER 176158 NKIL 1761
HI% 4388225 822 Lai Chi Kok Road, 2047 = 9,004 = 73
T ILRE N ER 556855 NKIL 5568
XTI 9 Wing Hong Street, 2047 = 35,223 = 95
FLRE N ER 622955 NKIL 6229
#IEIEE - Laichikok Bay Garden, 2047 3,109 = = 172
ZEILBIAL - 1A2 - Shops 1A1, 1A2,
5A - B6AK6BSR R4 BA, BA & 6B,
BIEX D458 Lai King Hill Road,
1 EX333657 Lot 3336 of SD 4
ATARLD - Star Centre, 2047 - 28,512 - 27

E11178443-451 5% -
LB 45445 SRIER
6905RAER

443 - 451 Castle Peak Road,
Section A of Lot 690
in DD 445
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MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES

FTERENE #

)

Major Investment Properties (Continued)
RZZEZTAFEA=1H At30 June 2009

BEEEESK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m)
BYER
T¥%/2BF8 FEREFR  BAE
7835 N e A Office and Residential No. of
MEEMELH  Commercial Industrial/ and Carparking
b Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office  Apartments Spaces
&HE®) HONG KONG (Continued)
RS ZFR CHEUNG SHAWAN, KWAI CHUNG AND
28 % TSUEN WAN (Continued)
JTHE - The Bay Bridge, 2047 = - 20,096 179
SAHEES LI AB%123%% - 123 Castle Peak Road,
2T HEL 35658 Yau Kom Tau,
TWTL 356
ERIER - Bayview Garden, 2047 4,959 - - 52
25 ILE6335 633 Castle Peak Road,
ZETHER 32958 Tsuen Wan, TWTL 329
Py TUEN MUN
RELFEE - Tai Hing Gardens, 2047 10,970 = = 387
HPIEEE115 & 11 Tsun Wen Road and
A ELAT105RA 10A Ho Hing Circuit,
WP ER 31255 Tuen Mun, TMTL 312
= RSl Luen Cheong Can Centre, 2047 = 7,856 = 37
P AT X855 - 8 Yip Wong Road,

SCEH D 13150 HER
11695

Tuen Mun,
Lot 1169 in DD 131

* WEHttThF

With an option to renew for a further term of 75 years

T KERBEEER_E-_T BT VFHRBFRZASKA HHEEZ PSRN - - —FXEA%H -

The Group is now entitled to rental on 22,101 square meters of office area. The rights to rental entitlement in the remaining area will revert to the

Group in 2012.
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TEREVE @)
Major Investment Properties (Continued)
RZTZTNF/A=TH At30June 2009

BEEE* (FHK)
Gross Floor Area* (sg. m)
BFER
T% /257 FEERBEH BuHE
i R Officeand  Residential No. of
HWEERFLH  Commercial Industrial/ and Carparking
oG Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office  Apartments Spaces
L5 SHANGHAI
BELRE R The Grand Gateway Gardens 2063 - - 64,900 -
F_H 1&2,
||BR21185% - 2118 Hua Shan Lu,
TIER Xuhui District
TSIE & The Grand Gateway, 2043 120,000 67,200 18,300 835
ITREBR 155 - 1 Hong Qiao Lu,
HRIER Xuhui District
BEES Plaza 66, 2044 53,600 159,700 = 804
PR PH B 126655 - 1266 Nan Jing Xi Lu,
HeE Jing An District

* BEHME KK BEEE

Including gross floor area above and below ground
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FA EARRRTAY  mGBENR
KE) - BREZMEREXBKIDAERS
SREPFEAE o R - WAVETBRAE TE
HEELEZMEHE  MEREME
=R G ;‘thE?%’J\ EgS I RES

Ei“?'JTﬂ:lJ ?/ E

REBEMEZESRALINBES 2+
EREE T RNEZTZBEATEL £F
MEBREXHZWARE MBS 2T\
ZEEE_tRNAFT-_A_-_T&8T ¥EE
HeWAENED 2 T ZEBEM+X
BNATHENTET - A WEHE
WABRBBRT+=EBTtEOTET
j(fPaa/Uéi/a”ﬁé}( F-BZ=Z+&8xT- &

MEXBTHRED AT AEBE
@+/\1 NF/RBEETT °

¥
Turnover
HZE/NA=1HIEFE For the years ended 30 June

BEEET

Review of 2009 Financial Results

The Group's property leasing operations achieved respectable results
in a year when the general business climate was uncertain and
market sentiments were volatile. However, the overall financial results
were adversely affected by the substantially fewer property sales
during the market downturn and a smaller revaluation gain on
investment properties compared to the previous year.

Rental income from Hong Kong properties rose by 7% to HK$2,602.6
million whilst property leasing turnover in Shanghai grew 18% to
HK$2,082.2 million. Total rental revenue increased by 12% to
HK$4,684.8 million. However, turnover from property sales decreased
drastically to HK$11.2 million from HK$6,367.4 million. As a result, total
turnover declined by 56% to HK$4,696.0 million.

R ARENEZ LA FESHNEEEF
Operating Profit Before Change in Fair Value
of Investment Properties

HZENA=1HIEFE For the years ended 30 June

BEEEL

HK$ million HK$ million
12,000 8,000
4
10,000 4
6,000
8,000
|
$3,531
6,000 $“‘!'§96 4,000 million
million i V4
7 4
4,000
@ BEmEES 2,000 & FEYERE
2000 Hong Kong leasing Hong Kong leasing
' w LEmEEs 0 HEnERS
Shanghai leasing Shanghai leasing
[SRUES 0 MEHE
ol %f %f %f %@ Property sales 0 ] % %f %@ Property sales
05 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 08 09
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HREAMEHERE D
BB MERANE T -

BEERAR

BELKERRR WIS - WEHEEEN
BB 2 THEEE =t \E—T=

BATET - EBMEZ2HEENER
BAZhEBE _t+—RZENLABET
EEMEZAELEEENHAASZ -
T—EEE+LEZT=AaTET A
- MEREEH 2 RYRBEYEH
ERMmEE=tHE_TXa=-1+8
REAE-—BETZKEMEE - &

BME AT AREVEZAFEER
MERGMRDAD 2T EEBE =

tTHRE=T-B8_t&8r-

AR & BRI TTE T B IR R X5
LR BIETREMEHE L - &
EERARABINZEFNE 2 EffE
IERRARNASREZRE  BF
A HEZBHMBREAETREKR
TR KREZREVMENGEERABY
BERGHEME - AFHENK2EER
MRER AR EEEEITHE -

ENREBERBERERRRAR - EER

BYMEFASBEE+EATHAS T
ZEEEE  HEMRAZEREERN

FEOZHUERED 2L -

Direct costs and operating expenses decreased substantially in line
with decline in property sales for the year.

Despite the challenging economic environment, property leasing
profit increased by 14% to HK$3,812.6 million. Hong Kong properties
recorded a 9% growth in operating profit to HK$2,109.0 million and
Shanghai achieved a remarkable profit growth of 21% to HK$1,703.6
million. But the robust performance of property leasing operation was
outshone by the decline in property sale profit from HK$3,426.2
million to HK$3.0 million. All in all, operating profit before change in
fair value of investment properties decreased by 47% to

HK$3,531.2 million.

With the growing size of the Group's investment properties,
particularly through its expansion strategy in mainland China, change
in valuation on those properties could have a major effect on its
financial results even though recording the revaluation gain or loss in
the income statement was merely a stipulated accounting treatment.
The Group's investment properties were revalued as at balance sheet
date by independent, professionally qualified valuers, Savills. The
valuations were conducted on an open market basis with reference to
the market conditions existing at the time.

Given the cautious view of the economic outlook, investment
properties in Hong Kong recorded a valuation loss of HK$1,054.0
million. The capitalization rates used by the valuers for major
properties were in the range of 4% to 7%.
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REMEZDNFEEM
Increase in Fair Value of
Investment Properties

HZE/NA=THLLFE For the years ended 30 June

BEEET
HK$ million

q

12,000
10,000
8,000

6,000
$3,644

million
4,000

2,000

05 06 07 08 09
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Despite the global downturn, our investment properties in Shanghai,
Plaza 66 and The Grand Gateway, remained fully let including the
enlarged retail area of Plaza 66 opened in spring 2009. Total rental
income from our Shanghai properties rose 18% to HK$2,082.2
million. The enlarged retail space of Plaza 66 and positive rental
reversions shall provide further impetus to rental growth. Our
Shanghai properties recorded a revaluation gain of HK$4,698.0 million
for the year with capitalization rates of around 7% to 10%, which have
been adjusted by the professional valuer in view of the substantial cut
in market interest rates and different business dynamics following the
outbreak of the global financial crisis. Overall, a net revaluation gain of
HK$3,644.0 million was recorded in the income statement.

MEWARZH
Interest Income and Expenses
HZE/NA=1THIE For the years ended 30 June

BEEET
HK$ million

q

600
500
400

300

$162

200 million ¢172
million

100 @ FBEA

Interest income

@ Flex

0 Interest expenses
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FEERA
Profit for the Year
HZE/NAZ=THLLFE For the years ended 30 June

As a result of aggressive interest rate cut by the banks, net interest
expenses decreased to HK$10.4 million from HK$22.2 million.

Due to substantially fewer residential units were sold and a reduction
in revaluation gains on investment properties, taxation charges
reduced by 47% to HK$1,615.6 million. Profit attributable to
shareholders decreased by 65% to HK$2,637.9 million.
Correspondingly, earnings per share decreased to HK$1.98 from
HK$5.64. The Board has proposed a final dividend of HK$0.54 per
share, which is the same as 2008.

Excluding the effect of property revaluation and the related deferred
taxation and minority interests, underlying profit attributable to
shareholders decreased by 43% to HK$1,454.1 million. The
respective adjusted earnings per share became HK$1.09 compared to
HK$1.92 in the previous year.

BREEFE
Net Assets per Share
H7NA=1H At 30 June

BEBEET BT
HK$ million HK$
16,000 60 $56.2
7 e
14,000
50
12,000 4
40
10,000
a4
Y Zq
8,000 @ EXGEF (TRIEMES 30
$5,569 fit ~ MERDEERIE R D E
o fRRAER)
million Underlying profit
6,000 (excluding revaluation,
related deferred tax and 20
minority interests)
4,000 & PEEELMBRETRIE
KA B R i 2 B
Effects of revaluation, 10
2000 net of deferred tax and
U minority interests
0 PERRER
0 *% %*% Minority interests 0 ol ==am )= "= § =y @
05 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 08 09
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RENF BZRTPRENERGSENR

Investment Properties,

Investment Properties Under Development

and Properties for Sale
MAA=+H At30 June

Review of 2009 Financial Positions

In light of the economic downturn, the Group has further
strengthened its financial position with a prudent level of liquidity and
committed banking facilities. This is to ensure the Group will always
have ample financial resources to meet working capital requirements
and other commitments.

The Group's balance sheet remained strong with net assets increased
by 4% to HK$74,941.8 million.

Investment properties increased by 6% to HK$69,958.2 million largely
due to revaluation gains. With the acquisitions of the prime sites
situated in Dalian and Wuxi in May 2009 and further progress
payments made in respect of other existing projects in mainland
China, investment properties under development increased from
HK$5,658.1 million to HK$7570.1 million.

BBEERREREE
Financing Resources and Capital Commitment
WAA=+H At30 June

BEEET BEEET
HK$ million HK$ million
g g $30,108
million
100,000 30,000 4
$85,242
million
4 25,000
80,000 4
|
4 20,000
7
60,000 Vi Y
4 15,000 4
40,000
10,000
0 By [ Eﬁﬂ;iﬁ%iﬂﬁ%%f%‘?
| t t ti ndrawn committe
20,000 nvestment properties 5,000 facilities
w0 EERREYE - PR
Investment properties @) BE RBITER )
under development Cash and bank deposits
I I o HEnE ,Li I -~ BAENE
0 % Properties for sale 0 JL JL f Capital commitment
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Capital commitments outstanding as at 30 June 2009 but not
provided for in the financial statements amounted to HK$22,451.1
million, over 99% of which related to development projects in
mainland China.

Properties for sale increased by HK$865.6 million to HK$7714.0
million largely due to the reclassification of the Blue Pool Road project
in Happy Valley from investment properties under development to
properties under development for sale.

With the very tight credit environment during the last quarter of 2008
and the first quarter of 2009, the Group maintained a prudent level of
liquid funds and banking facilities. At 30 June 2009, the Group had
cash and bank deposits amounted HK$9,631.7 million in order to
meet the stipulated equity injection requirements of various projects
in mainland China and their construction payment obligations in
addition to other working capital requirements. Netting off the said
cash and bank balance against total borrowings of HK$11,466.4
million, the Group had a net debt of HK$1,834.7 million at 30 June
2009. The gearing ratio was at a low level of 3%. With our strong
cashflow from property leasing operations, healthy cash reserves and
available committed banking facilities amounted HK$20,476.0 million,
we could meet all our cash requirements well into the first half of
2011 and in a good position to seize attractive investment
opportunities that fit our long term growth strategy.
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Land Bank Acquisition and Property Development

The Group's long term expansion plan underpins our strategy to build
up our land bank. Each development project or land acquisition requires
Board approval after thorough evaluation on various aspects including
the related risk and return. For projects situated in mainland China,

the relevant government policy, level of local government support,

the economic development and the adequacy of infrastructure
development in the surrounding area are major factors for assessment
during feasibility studies.

Each project is managed by a designated professional team with
relevant skills and experience. Projects are actively supervised by
senior management with progress regularly reviewed so that decisions
can be made promptly.

Treasury Risk

The Group's activities expose us to a variety of treasury risks. The
various risks as stated below are managed in accordance with the
Group's treasury policy approved by management.

(a) Interest Rate and Foreign Exchange

The Group is exposed to interest rate movements as most of our
borrowings are issued at floating rates. Interest rate risks are closely
monitored and, if appropriate, the Group may use interest rate swaps
to manage the risks. Maturities of monetary assets and liabilities

are carefully planned and managed to minimize mis-match and re-
pricing risks. Exchange rate risks arising from the Group’s investments
in mainland China are hedged as much as possible with Renminbi
borrowings approved by the Chinese authority. Given that Hong Kong
dollars are pegged to United States dollars, exchange rate risks relating
to United States dollar deposits are not considered significant.
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(b) Cash Management, Funding and Liquidity

The Group's cash is pooled and centrally managed in order to achieve
economies of scale. All funding requirements are controlled and
arranged at the corporate level in order to optimize borrowing terms
and facilitate financial risks control. The objective is to ensure that
sufficient funds and banking facilities are always in place to meet
operation and investment requirements. Bank facility maturity dates
are properly distributed to minimize repayment or re-financing risks.

(c) Credit/Counter-party

The Group's exposure to credit risks arise from rent receivable,
instalments receivable relating to property sales and surplus cash
placed with banks. Credit risk on rent receivable is managed through
credit assessment on prospective tenants, payment of rental deposits
and close monitoring of outstanding rentals. Receivables arising from
property sales are protected from collateral on the relevant properties.
Surplus funds will only be placed with reputable banks that have
sound credit ratings with assigned exposure limits to mitigate
concentration risk.

(d) Use of Derivatives
Derivative instruments may only be used for financial risk hedging
purposes. Speculative derivative transactions are not allowed.

Business and Operational Risk

Market trends and business environments are closely monitored

to ensure that our properties have the distinctive features and

the desired tenant mix. Periodical maintenance, renovation and
upgrading of facilities are carried out to uphold the safety and quality
of our properties. Adequate insurance covers are in place to protect
our properties against accidental losses and other perils. VWe have
established internal control systems to safeguard our assets and
protect the Group from possible malpractices, if any. An independent
internal audit team will carry out frequent reviews and tests to ensure
that the internal control systems and policies are adequate, cost
effective and complied with. Proper back up procedures are established
to safeguard against potential loss of computer data. A separate back-
up site for our computer system is in place as part of the business
continuity plan.
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The increasing diversification and growth of our business in recent
years requires just as much, if not greater, diversification and
growth in our management and leadership as well as our people.
We are therefore moving - - full steam ahead - - to create a pool of
professional talent that we can confidently draw on for our future
needs. This team must not only have the vision, corporate
stewardship, management skills, professional knowledge and
technical ability to carry our strategies forward, they must also
have the cultural diversity, leadership, innovation and
communication skills to maintain our corporate, professional and
industrial edge in every aspect of our business.

Seeking to meet these objectives, we take a two-pronged approach - -
firstly, we aim to be “the employer of choice! providing a
comprehensive package of benefits that attracts and retains the best
talent available. Once on board, we seek to present them with the
necessary challenges, creating a framework that will ensure a
progressive and rewarding career with us. Secondly, we seek to grow
our people with the necessary development and training, making sure
they gain the skills not only to carry out their jobs professionally and
competently but also to develop and unlock their full potential. This
winning combination means that our staff enjoy full, rewarding and
successful lives and careers, while we profit from a team of
committed and talented professionals who drives the ongoing
success of our business.
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At the end of June 2009, the Hang Lung Group employed 2,116 staff,
made up of 1,101 in Hong Kong and 1,015 in mainland China, with
total remuneration for the year amounting to HK$543.7 million. Based
on our strategy to be “the employer of choice’ our remuneration
package is in line with our “pay for performance” principles, with
outstanding employees also receiving salary increments and
discretionary bonuses. Share options are also granted to directors and
executives as incentives and rewards for their contribution to the
Group under our Share Option Scheme, which was adopted on 24
November 2000.

Despite the financial crisis and subsequent economic downturn, no
changes have been made to our Human Resource policies.
Manpower levels remain on par with those experienced at the height
of the market in 2007/08 and there has been no erosion in either staff
salaries or benefits. In fact, using the uncertain market environment
as an opportunity, we have actively continued our recruitment
activities, seeking to benefit from the larger pool of talent available in
the current difficult job climate.

Training and Development

During the year, we strengthened our Management Trainee (MT)
program with a major new initiative, making our program one of the
most innovative in the market. First introduced in 2005, trainees go
through 22-24 months of training, carrying out job attachments at
different divisions throughout the Group together with a sixmonth
attachment in Shanghai. Trainees from our Shanghai offices also
undergo three-month rotational training in Hong Kong, on top of their
MT training in Shanghai. Involving the trainees more strongly in their
future career direction, we are giving them a choice in what they do,
with new “Core"” and “Elective” sections in their training programs.
Trainees can thus customize their own programs - - though the “Core”
section is compulsory, they can choose from the “Electives” to
further their skills and strengthen their knowledge in their own areas
of interest.

We also took the opportunity to engage staff with our core values - -
SAIL. Standing for Simplicity, Authority, Integrity and Loyalty, these
four values form the foundations of our business culture. Earlier this
year, we launched a corporate-wide cultural reinforcement campaign,
encouraging staff to apply SAIL to their everyday work.
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\We continue to place an emphasis on continuous learning and
development to ensure that our employees are not only equipped with
the skills and competencies to perform their job, but that they will also
gain the knowledge to face new challenges and future changes with
confidence. In addition to in-house training programs together with
subsidized external training programs, we also offer annual refresher
training covering the latest security regulations and techniques together
with occupational safety information for all frontline staff in our Leasing
and Management Division. Specially designed and tailormade
programs also meet the needs of different job functions, with
customized training programs in 2008/09 covering topics such as
customer service as well as enhanced communication and improved
facilitation skills for staff working in Maintenance, Carparks and Building
Operations.

External professionals frequently give talks to our staff, not only
updating them on the latest market developments but also giving
them an insight into related fields such as insurance and tax planning.
We also collaborate with the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (ICAC) to run seminars on “Professional Ethics and
Corruption Prevention” for all staff in Hong Kong. An anti-corruption
training kit, based on ICAC guidelines as well as our Company Code
of Conduct, is also used for staff training in mainland China. Training
sessions in our Shanghai offices, do not only include the sharing of
internal control measures by our HR professionals, but also invite
representatives of the People’s Procuratorate of Shanghai to come
and introduce real cases to our staff.

Staff Well-being

Fostering harmonious relationships among staff, we continue to
co-ordinate diverse staff activities through the Hang Lung Social Club.
In addition to the Annual Dinner which was held in February this year,
a "Coral Reef Tour” was organized at Hoi Ha Wan where participants
enjoyed sightings of local species on a glass-bottomed boat; a special
movie presentation and tea buffet in the summer provided enjoyment
for staff and their families. In view of their tremendous popularity, our
Thai Boxing classes were held again and many staff honed their
cooking skills at Italian Cookery classes. On the sports front, we
participated in a number of corporate sporting events ranging from
the business associate's Bowling Invitation League and the Hong
Kong Association of Property Management Companies’ Annual
Football Challenge to the Corporate Badminton Competition organized
by the Leisure and Cultural Services Department.
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Over the years, we have seen our steady growth into one of Hong
Kong's leading property developers as well as in mainland China.
These tremendous privileges however also carry their own
responsibilities — only as a responsible corporate citizen can we
ensure that our activities are sustainable economically, socially and
environmentally.

In addition to maintaining the highest standards of corporate
governance and our ongoing commitment to staff, fundamentals in
the ongoing sustainability of any successful business, we seek to
meet our Corporate Social Responsibility in three key areas —

Firstly - - to build environmentally-friendly and sustainable buildings
that will add value to the communities that we serve.

Secondly - - to promote a green environment both in our
surroundings and our operation practices.

Thirdly - - to acknowledge the tremendous support that we have
received from the communities we serve, we seek to make a valid
contribution to these communities, participating in or sponsoring
worthwhile causes and initiatives.

Building for Sustainability

As a leading property developer, we have embraced sustainability as
an essential part of our project development in mainland China. We
have long been a major player on the environmental front,
benchmarking our properties by the highest international standards,
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even before environmental concerns were widely considered on a
national level.

\We are determined to build sustainable and culturally sensitive
developments that not only add value for the present but also the
future generations. Apart from supporting all pertinent national
policies and energy codes, we seek to excel above and beyond
established requirements by adopting advanced sustainable design,
systems and operations for all of our new developments in mainland
China. This made us one of a kind in the property development
industry in terms of the level and scale of environmental commitment
in mainland China. With such efforts, all of our new developments in
the Mainland will aim to achieve the internationally recognized LEED
(Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design) certification.

High Performance Building Facades

The first step to sustainability is the reduction in energy consumption,
or more precisely, the more efficient use of energy resources. To
reduce the demand for electricity to power lighting and air
conditioning systems, our new developments in mainland China will
boast high performance glazing fagcades and building envelopes, as
well as external shading devices. Such design features will maximize
the use of natural daylight and ensure the highest insulation enabling
energy-efficient cooling and heating of the building.

Renewable Energy

While the generation of electricity relies heavily on the ever scarce
fossil fuels, which is one of the major factors contributing to the
greenhouse effect today, we are keen to explore new possibilities to
utilize other forms of renewable energy. The unique geographical and
geological characteristics of our property sites allow us to harness
energy from the sun and the earth.

Solar energy generated by the system of photovoltaic cells on the
rooftop or facade of our properties will power internal lighting which
can reduce the electricity demand from the city main power supply.
Palace 66 and Forum 66 in Shenyang, Parc 66 in Jinan as well as
Centre 66 in Wuxi will employ this solar technology.

The ground source heat pump technology in the geothermal energy
system takes advantage of the stable ground temperature to power
our developments’ heating and cooling systems all year round. In
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summer, it extracts and dissipates heat energy from the building to
the ground and vice versa in winter. This sustainable facility will be
incorporated in Palace 66 and Forum 66 in Shenyang, and Riverside
66 in Tianjin.

Recycling and Recovery Initiatives

By extending the lifecycle of other energy and resources through
strategic recycling and recovery measures, we aim at achieving
further reductions in our demand for, and therefore consumption of
such resources. Airside heat recovery systems, for example, will
recover energy from exhaust air systems to pre-cool or pre-heat the
fresh air before it enters the airconditioning system. Grey water
treatment systems will also centralize, treat and supply recycled
water for irrigation and other non-drinking purposes. Both facilities will
be installed in all our new developments in mainland China.

Exercising Sustainability throughout Operations

On an operational level, we will adopt a series of sustainable
practices. LED and energy-efficient lighting are installed to reduce the
consumption of electricity while landscaped gardens on rooftops will
also be adopted wherever possible to provide further insulation.
Demand-control ventilation systems are also used to enable the
provision of sufficient amount of fresh air indoor. Additionally, we save
water by adopting dual-flush water closets and low-flow faucet with
automatic sensors. We also use building materials with recycled
content and those that have been extracted, harvested or recovered,
as well as manufactured, within 500 miles of the property sites. By
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shortening the delivery distance, we can further reduce our
consumption of diesel and gasoline during construction processes.

International Recognition and Certification

We believe sustainability equates to the continuing efforts made for
the betterment of the current and future generations. As such, we are
determined to keep striving for the highest international standards. Al
of our new developments in mainland China aim at achieving the
LEED certification, an internationally recognized assessment and
benchmarking system. Issued by the U.S. Green Building Council, the
LEED certification covers five key areas in building sustainability:
Sustainable Sites, Water Efficiency, Energy and Atmosphere,
Materials and Resources as well as Indoor Environment Quality.

We are delighted to report that Palace 66 and Forum 66 in Shenyang
as well as Parc 66 in Jinan have already received their LEED Pre-
certification for Core and Shell Development (Gold Level) from the
U.S. Green Building Council in May 2008, November 2008 and
January 2009 respectively. Additionally, at the time of preparing this
annual report, we have received the notification that Centre 66 in
Wuxi has been awarded the same prestigious recognition while the
corresponding application for Riverside 66 in Tianjin is currently being
processed.
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Looking forward, our objective is to continue to play a definitive role in
the property development industry by growing our specialist
knowledge and cementing our leadership role to foster the
sustainable development in the communities we serve.

Managing for Sustainability

In addition to our sustainable design initiatives, we aim to be a role
model in environmentally-friendly property management, adopting
sustainable practices in all our activities and spreading this
environmental message to our staff, business associates and the
community. This company-wide commitment is supported by staff
from all levels including an executive committee, environmental
project team, 17 environmental ambassadors and eight LEED
accredited professionals.

Saving Energy and Conserving Resources

During the year, we were once again able to reduce the use of
electricity in our investment property portfolio. These savings have
been achieved with a review of our lighting and airconditioning
systems, leading to the more efficient and careful use of lighting
systems as well as the replacement of aircooled airconditioning
systems with the more efficient watercooled versions. Hand-in-hand
with these initiatives, thermostats were adjusted slightly upwards and
lift and escalator services were also suspended during non-peak
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hours. The solar panel renewable energy system at The Peak Galleria,
designed by our environmental project team also helps to conserve
resources as it generates electricity for the development’s outdoor
floor lighting at the Green Terrace.

Conserving water, over 60% of our washroom faucets now have
infrared sensors, which has achieved an estimated 30% reduction in
water consumption. Every effort is also made to reuse and recycle
materials. Paperless commmunications which includes emails and
e-reports is widely practised. In reducing paper consumption, we
implemented e-rental bill system in 2007 — the first developer to
introduce such system in Hong Kong. Instead of receiving rental bills
by mail each month, tenants can log onto their own online account to
view their latest transactions and past billing history.

In addition to these efforts we also seek to promote a clean and green
environment. To this end, we have planted over 200 trees and plants in
our properties, creating healthier and greener surroundings. Focusing
on the importance of healthy surroundings, we also pay special
attention to the indoor air quality of our developments. During the year,
we not only received the “Indoor Air Quality Certificate (Good Class)”
from Hong Kong's Environmental Protection Department for The Peak
Galleria, we also launched the “Fresher Car Park Campaign” to improve
the air quality in our carparks. Under this initiative, environmentally-
friendly cars were given incentive parking offers and drivers were
encouraged to switch-off their engines while waiting. Periodic air quality
tests are also conducted in basement carparks.

Spreading the Message

Making every effort to promote the environmental message within
the community, we participate actively in a number of external
programs and initiatives. Cementing our leadership in the field, we are
a major patron and member of the Climate Change Business Forum
under the Business Environment Council. The organization looks into
how businesses can reduce their emissions and facilitates the sharing
of best environmental practices. We also sponsored and participated
in Earth Hour 2009, the global awareness campaign organized by
WWEF to drive home the conservation message by switching lights off
for an hour in March this year.

Within the Company, our environmental ambassadors regularly attend
seminars and make environmental visits, taking the message both to
staff internally and to tenants and the community-at-large externally.
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REAPING THE REWARDS — BOTH TODAY AND TOMORROW
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Hang Lung Properties’ Chairman Mr Ronnie C. Chan, Secretary for Education

The Harmonious China ® Glorious River - - Plaza 66 Charity Arts Festival
marks the 500-day countdown towards the Shanghai World Expo in 2010

Mr Michael Suen, members of Steering Committee and Scientific Committee of
Hang Lung Mathematics Awards (HLMA) congratulate the 2008 HLMA winners
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Regular training and education programs for staff help drive the
message home, while external visits and activities enable them to learn
the impact of pollution and the benefits of environmental protection for
themselves. During the year, these visits included a tour to Fook Woo
Recycling City in Huizhou as well as the Education Path operated by the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department in Hong Kong.

As part of our corporate commitment to youth education, The Peak
Galleria has played host to local schools and organizations, allowing
visitors to learn about our environmental initiatives through facilities
such as the solar panel renewable energy system, Green Terrace and
Green Gallery.

Reaching out to the Community

During the financial year, we made in accordance with our policies
donations to various charitable causes and non-profit organizations
totalling HK$9.8 million. Additionally, our shopping malls provided
venue sponsorships for a total of 44 events, raising funds of
approximately HK$11 million for numerous charities. Activities
included UNICEF raffle draw and red packet sale, donor drives by the
Hong Kong Red Cross, charity sales by various organizations including
Oxfam Hong Kong, as well as Charity Walkathon and Fun Fair
organized by the Children’'s Heart Foundation. In May this year, our
Amoy Plaza also provided venue for the Hong Kong PHAB
Association’s Caring Ambassadors Creative Image Awards

and Carnival.
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The 2008 Hang Lung Mathematics Award

The highlight of our community calendar took place in October 2008
with the awards presentation ceremony and announcement of the
winners of our 2008 Hang Lung Mathematics Award (HLMA).

First founded in 2004 by our Chairman, Mr Ronnie C. Chan and world
renowned mathematician, and 1982 Fields Medalist, Professor Shing-
tung Yau of Harvard University, the competition has been held every
two years since then. The 2008 event, the third in the series, drew an
overwhelming response with 80 competing teams formed by 230
students from 50 secondary schools. The competition is unique in
that, rather than answering set mathematical questions, students are
given a year to design and research their own projects. Teams then
submit a report on their findings with, in this instance, 15 finalist
teams being chosen to attend an oral defence presentation on their
research report.

Both the report assessments and award winners were determined by
the Scientific Committee, which was chaired by Professor Yau and
consisted of 16 of the world’s leading mathematicians from top
universities around the world. A Steering Committee, with Sir James
A. Mirrlees, the 1996 Nobel Laureate in Economics, acting as Chair
Professor, also provided guidance and advice.

Our aim is to establish HLMA as a pioneer, encouraging the corporate
world to support similar initiatives in other academic disciplines. \We
hope this will help to groom a pool of young talent for Hong Kong.

Hang Lung Charity Arts Festival

In Shanghai, our charity event “Harmonious China e Glorious River
Plaza 66 Charity Arts Festival” hit the year’s high note, with the debut
performance of a tailormade state-of-the-art Steinway, maestro Chen
Zuohuang, director of music at the China National Opera House,
some of China's most outstanding musicians and dancers, the
Mongolian Children’s Choir as well as a breathtaking concerto played
by 50 grand pianos. Taking place at Shanghai Grand Stage on 5
December, the event was broadcasted nationally. It was jointly
organized by the Shanghai World Expo Coordination Bureau, Shanghai
Charity Foundation and Plaza 66 to mark the 500-day countdown
towards the Shanghai World Expo in 2010.
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Interim Results announced
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10 February 2009

4 H arr
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Interim Dividend paid

—EEAFMA+TLA
17 April 2009
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Annual Results announced 31 July 2009
10 H oct
B R DE P “EEhFTATREAB
T POEFLE
Latest time to lodge transfer 4:00 p.m. on 15 October 2009
EERERMBFESR ZEERFTATAAE
(RARHBREMS) TA=+H
(BEEMAEEER)

Share Register closed
(for final dividend)

REFEBFRE
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REFEBFREBE
Annual General Meeting
(Details are set out in the
Notice of Annual General
Meeting accompanying this
Annual Report)

16 October to 20 October 2009
(both days inclusive)
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11:00 a.m. on 20 October 2009
at Registered Office

11 H nov

RIRERHRE
Proposed Final Dividend
payable
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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TEERRE
Corporate Governance Structure

We are committed to the primacy of our stakeholders’
benefits. As a responsible business corporation, we strive
to best fulfill the highest standards of corporate governance
with a qualified board, sound internal control systems and
effective risk management.

AR R B E A R 2 AE B E
Shareholders and Other Stakeholders

EBE  Transparency
BIEM  Accountability
NPl Integrity
HHE Honesty

EER
Board of
Directors
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External Auditors

NEME
Company Secretary
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HTREE

Executive Committee

S

ReEkFHZEE BERZE® X B 2 5HAM
Nomination and Audit Committee Internal Auditor
Remuneration

Committee

As good corporate governance is essential to corporate
success, we instill the core principles of good corporate
governance into our corporate culture through leadership
by example, training and effective internal controls.

These principles include an emphasis on transparency

and accountability to all stakeholders, maintaining high
standards of integrity and establishing trust through sound
governance practices.

Throughout the year, we complied with all Code Provisions
set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as
stated in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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A summary of how we comply with the Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of the
Code under Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules is set out below:

5] [=~
A

Z % Directors

Li@l

<P AR

Code Number

PRI

Code Provision

Al EER The Board
EZREABEERELEARNFZE  The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
F UTEBEBEEREREEARRQAF  Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Ey X Company's affairs.
- EERAER Corporate Governance Practices
JIY EERTFEETELMREE 0 £ Board Meetings are held at least four times a year which include
BEMIZESHAENPEZESF  two full Board Meetings to approve interim and annual results and to
#ﬁEffji‘iifn'%Y 2FEEFEAREE R BAREMAKEMR propose interim and final dividends:
Requiremegnt BEH
> RZZEN/ZTNEE EZE > five Board Meetings were held in 2008/09, including two held

R8BI THRE  HFBREMALE
FEMINBITNER  FEEHARQ
BIFE AP B 3t Y 3 A B 505 Bif e 32
g R

> SRERZRHATHAZTHEEK
X5 BEETES  ERARERD
& AREERS (0F) -

RN\ ENFEERHESRS
BERRERANT

outside Hong Kong so as to give Directors a clearer view on the
Company'’s investments in mainland China; and

>  meetings are also held as and when necessary to discuss
significant transactions, including issuance of debt securities, material

acquisitions and disposals, and connected transactions, if any.

Details of Directors’ attendance records in 2008/09 were as follows:

8T HESE Meetings Held/Attended
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B[:E'I[:EJ
B[:[:[:[:
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&
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BIIHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors JE517ES Non-Executive Director

BRHE #EEd FREE1S EHR B BREER BRRR RER RET
S.S.Yin HK.Cheng  LauraChen  Simon Ip York Liao Gerald Chan Ronnie Nelson Terry

| #=E%3 Board Meetings

B == e3% Audit Committee Meetings
B i2&REBZ S &3 Nomination & Remuneration Committee Meetings

B EEsEFA® Annual General Meeting
i F = = Director attended

MAEEHARERRRAAMER
HEEERERZFRENIIAENE
H-REHEZERERBTHEMRD
THXRA G EMEEHFHEHBE -
EXZRVYCRABEESRBUIEXER
RZ2R&F - KR BERBAA AR -

#178% Executive Directors

Chan  Yuen Ng

All Directors can give notice to the Chairman or the Company
Secretary if they intend to include matters in the agenda for Board
Meetings. Notice is given to Directors at least 14 days before a
regular Board Meeting. Procedures have also been agreed by the
Board to enable Directors to seek independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense.
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Corporate Governance Practices

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who is responsible to the Board for ensuring that
procedures are followed and that all applicable laws and regulations
are complied with. The Company Secretary is also a source of advice
to the Chairman and to the Board on corporate governance and the
implementation of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices.
Draft and final versions of minutes of Board Meetings and meetings
of Board Committees are sent to all Directors or Committee
members respectively for their comments and record. All minutes of
Board Meetings and meetings of Board Committees are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by any Director.

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, a Director shall not
vote or be counted in the quorum in respect of any contract or
arrangement in which he or any of his associates is/are materially
interested.

We have arranged appropriate insurance cover on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities.

Code Provision

There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure a balance of
power and authority.

Corporate Governance Practices

Chairman

The Chairman, Mr Ronnie C. Chan, provides leadership for the Board.
He is responsible for ensuring that all Directors receive adequate
information, which must be complete and reliable, in a timely
manner and that Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at
Board Meetings. He also ensures that:

>  the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities;
> all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a
timely manner;

> good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established; and

> appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communication
with shareholders and that views of shareholders are communicated
to the Board as a whole.

He, at least annually, holds meetings with the Independent Non-
Executive Directors without the Executive Directors being present.
He is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda
for each Board Meeting taking into account, where appropriate, any
matters proposed by the other Directors for inclusion in the agenda,
or delegates such responsibility to the Company Secretary.

He encourages all Directors to make a full and active contribution to
the Board's affairs and takes the lead to ensure that the Board acts
in the best interests of the Company. He facilitates the effective
contributions of Non-Executive Directors and ensures constructive
relations between Executive and Non-Executive Directors.
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Code Number

Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices

Status
BEEAACHE (1TIHAE ) Managing Director (Chief Executive Officer)
ESHARKEREREEAANRATIZTT The Managing Director, Mr Nelson W.L. Yuen, is our Chief Executive
BEE  ZTEERKEHEEREAT Officer. The roles of the Managing Director are separate from those
FIBEE ° of the Chairman.
BARANTHNITEESMKE - = The Managing Director is a member of the Executive Committee of
REI|EE the Company and is responsible for :
> ARRRZEEERKEE WHTT >  operating the business of the Company and implementing
E = RPN 2 BURTIZREE policies and strategies adopted by the Board of Directors;
> WREBRPNIERTEAARZH > the Company’'s day-to-day management in accordance with the
WL instructions issued by the Board;
> DEERMERTCEEMES K > developing strategic operating plans that reflect the objectives
FFhHEREIEREBAE - W A4 and priorities established by the Board and maintaining operational
RARZEBRE & performance; and
> MBERAQFZEIHBEMASEEZEH >  ensuring the adequacy of financial and internal control systems
HIA R EBEEG DT A EAEZE  and the conduct of business in conformity with applicable laws and
KIRE © regulations.
EEAKEBSEIEALTSFALTT The Managing Director chairs the monthly meetings of the
ZEfgEeS ST AATZEIE Company's various operational divisions. He formulates, for the
HERANESTAEEEBER - B Board's approval, the management organization and internal rules of
SMITHBABZEEREERNESS the Company and recommends the appointment and dismissal of
{E 3 - senior executives.

SFRIGR SR

Code Provision

BT AR
Exceeding
Requirement

A3 EEGHARK Board Composition

EEREREBEAAREREMAME@EE The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate
TR RE e - E= /P IITES  for the requirements of the Company’s business and should include
BIEHITEEMMES EZRIFHE ©  a balanced composition of Executive and Non-Executive Directors so
FEER FAMRARIE TS - 82 that there is a strong independent element on the Board which can
7 WU /E L B HIET - effectively exercise independent judgment.

AR

Compliance TEELER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
IS EE=RBAENLEBKE The Board of Directors currently comprises nine persons:

> ZEWTESE DRIAREREE
£ (RERTEZRL)  RERELE
RRLITHRE

> —EIERTEER RARERSE
£ (RRREEZRR) &

> RRBIFRPTES 255
BRHBEE  EEHLLE  RENRLK
T EBRAEERBAREE - KRE
BABEE 2B R EX AR KA
ZHBERES - WAHSEHEH
L BRRASEERIELER

> three Executive Directors, namely, Mr Ronnie C. Chan (a brother of
Mr Gerald L. Chan), Mr Nelson W.L. Yuen and Mr Terry S. Ng;

> one Non-Executive Director, namely, Mr Gerald L. Chan (a
brother of Mr Ronnie C. Chan); and

> five Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr S.S. Yin,
Mr H.K. Cheng, Ms Laura L.Y. Chen, Mr Simon S.O. Ip and Mr

York Liao. They possess appropriate academic and professional
qualifications or related financial management expertise and have
brought a wide range of business and financial experience to the
Board.
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TRIMARBZEEZRUKREEZE Th

e following chart illustrates the composition of the Board of

Directors as well as each Committee of the Company:

R (%
BHE (28
R (BERED)

EER

Board of Directors

Ronnie C. Chan (Chairman)
S.S. Yin (Vice Chairman)*
Nelson W.L. Yuen (Managing Director)

REER"
EH
BREE1G*
RHer
BHIm
Rt

EZEES
Audit
Committee

B (ER)*
Simon S.0O. Ip (Chairman)*
EpE
H.K. Cheng*
Brsia
Laura L.Y. Chen*

York Liao*

* JE#1 778 F Non-Executive Director

Gerald L. Chan”
H.K. Cheng*
Laura L.Y. Chen*
Simon S.0. Ip*
York Liao*

Terry S. Ng

RERTHEES
HITEES Nomination and
Executive Remuneration
Committee Committee

BREGR (%)
Ronnie C. Chan (Chairman)

EEdy (EE)
H.K. Cheng (Chairman)*

RER BREE NG
Nelson W.L. Yuen Laura L.Y. Chen*
R4t EiHicr
Terry S. Ng Simon S.0. Ip*

B#5e
York Liao*

* 7 IE# 778 % Independent Non-Executive Director

AATWEZEEZHNIBEMSZHAE  An updated list of Directors showing their biographical details is

ERERBEREHE

maintained on our website under Profile of Directors.
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Requirement

Code Number SFRIMESC Code Provision
A4 ZFF > BENES Appointments, Re-election and Removal
EEREHTEIES - &FEZEIW A There should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure
FHENTHEELERFT r WHEXRTFE for the appointment of new Directors and plans in place for orderly
EMFHMESE(TEE - FrAE S succession for appointments to the Board. All Directors should be
FEE BRETT IR subject to re-election at regular intervals.
AR
Compliance BEEARER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
AT BRANT A =T24E8) - EE A In accordance with our Articles of Association, one-third of the
- H=pr—BRIRFEAEFSAS (A% Directors are required to retire from office by rotation for re-election
cO:r'an with | A& WESEEEERREE A by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). In addition,

B SN BUEEARIE=F
WESR R MEREZEZNEAR
ERERTRARMCBERRGERR
EFREE - TERERERERZE
FHEREREEAFARE  BEH
RERAZBERN °

HITEEHERARNRBFT IR —F A
i #& 1E AR BR B ORERRERRIN)
ZHRIEEH - FEAITEE REIIEH
TESCZEAEEES  REZE
BEwARREE  ERRESRA
H(ZxIPEB=F—K) —&-

RE—TREEEN  ARBEER
BENFZBYIFRTES AR
RIAE SR ZR AT AT » FfM
SHEREFRGAEET  RBRRIAE
ERRRZE I FATESNEE L
ATERE - AR B AR IR 5
BYFRTEEZERRENE -

BHMERESUBIIERTESER L
AR I E3NBMRATIE R B A Bt
ZFEEERE  BWRBABEILIEH
TEEOESRSELBYE -

every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years, and new appointments to the Board are subject
to re-election by shareholders at the upcoming general meeting.
Names of such Directors eligible for re-election being accompanied
by detailed biography will be stated in the notice of general meeting.

The Executive Directors do not have any service contract with

the Company which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation). Non-
Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive Directors are
appointed for specific terms, which coincide with their expected
dates of retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

To further enhance accountability, any appointment of an
Independent Non-Executive Director who has served the Board

for more than 9 years will be subject to a separate resolution to

be approved by shareholders. We will state in the notice of AGM

the reason why we consider the Independent Non-Executive
Director continues to be independent and our recommendation to
shareholders to vote in favour of the re-election of such Independent
Non-Executive Director.

We have received from each of our Independent Non-Executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and therefore we still consider the
Independent Non-Executive Directors to be independent.

ST RIAR SR
Code Number

SPRIE

Code Provision

Ab

EEEMF
BREFAITHEEREESARAE
EZRE  AREARBZLERTR
KB RER

Responsibilities of Directors

Every Director is required to keep abreast of his/her responsibilities
as a Director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities
and development of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Practices

Every newly appointed Director will meet with other fellow Directors

and members of senior management, and will receive a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
s0 as to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the operations
and business of the Company, and that he/she is fully aware of his/

her responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing Rules,
other regulatory requirements, and especially the governance policies

of the Company. The Company Secretary will continuously update and
refresh Directors on areas regarding their responsibilities and relevant
regulations. All Directors are required to disclose to the Company their
offices held in public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments.

The Directors are responsible for:

> ensuring continuity of leadership;

> development of sound business strategies;

> availability of adequate capital and managerial resources to
implement the business strategies adopted; and

> adequacy of systems of financial and internal controls and conduct
of business in conformity with applicable laws and regulations.

Our Executive Director, MrTerry S. Ng is responsible for overseeing the
financial reporting procedures and internal controls of the Company and
its subsidiaries and compliance with the requirements under the Listing
Rules with regard to financial reporting and other accounting-related
issues.

We have set out guidelines regarding securities transactions by Directors
under “transactions in the Company’s shares” in our Code of Conduct
(the “Code of Conduct”), which are on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code contained in Appendix

10 to the Listing Rules (the “Code"). Specific enquiry has been made

to all Directors who have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Code and the Code of Conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions.

Code Provision

Directors should be provided in a timely manner with appropriate
information in such form and of such quality as will enable them to make
an informed decision and to discharge their duties and responsibilities as
Directors of the Company.

Corporate Governance Practices

Full Board or Committee papers will be sent to all Directors or committee
members at least three days before the intended date of a Board
Meeting or Committee meeting respectively.

Management has supplied the Board and its Committees with adequate
information and explanations so as to enable them to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other information put before the Board
and its Committees for approval. Management are also invited to join
Board Meetings where appropriate.

All the Directors are entitled to have access to timely information in

relation to our business and make further enquiries where necessary, and
they can have separate and independent access to senior management.
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B EERSREBEAENFH Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management
Coiﬂ‘lj\ﬁ?fber <FAIESC Code Provision
B.1 FIHR I EZKFRAL The Level and Make-up of Remuneration and Disclosure
JERBIERMEFREZIZF - A%l There should be a formal and transparent procedure for setting policy
STABMITESMES 2R RESTE  on Executive Directors’ remuneration and for fixing the remuneration
BEZ 2 HMES o packages for all Directors.
- LEERER Corporate Governance Practices
v EBERFHWZESS Nomination and Remuneration Committee
T BERFMZESSHN _ZZT=F:% A Nomination and Remuneration Committee, set up in 2003,
BEE v BEIRKEBFEMEZIE S IELHTT  now constitutes four Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely
Ejﬁ%fﬁ%‘ﬁ BEH DR ABESLE (ZEES Mr H.K. Cheng (Chairman of the Committee), Ms Laura L.Y. Chen,
xceeding

requirement
with a deviation
from
Recommended
Best Practice

) R&ERTL - BEHREERELY
Rk REZERTHETEENR
BMEBANBERZ#E  BEEEF
HRB L EARBERZEEENER
EEABZFR R G 2 ERRE -
R-ZEZ)\/ENFERN ZEGE
TTMREH  AEH (HHEE) &
ERABZKBRERERETH -

ZEgsRESE (ERRADAN
WEHRE) BETNER LRI
HRE 2 RRBRE -

AEEN - ZEREBRTHNEIERE
W

(a) MAEZRZARE BRERKE
(BEERZHEE - ARANER)

b) BAXANEBEFNELEZA
B2 HMEE REBAE TR R
o

Mr Simon S.O. Ip and Mr York Liao. Regular meetings were held
to review human resources issues, including significant changes
in salary structure of the Group and terms and conditions affecting
Directors and senior management. The Committee met twice in
2008/09 to review, inter alia, the composition of existing Board
members and Directors’ remuneration.

Its terms of reference, which are accessible to all via our website,
have included, as a minimum, the specific duties as stipulated in the
Listing Rules.

The major work performed by the Committee during the year
included the following:

(@) reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

(b) made recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior
management;
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Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
(c) ETEMAERTESNMZHREE (c) determined the specific remuneration packages of all Executive
ANEZEEHFMNEE 8 IELEF]  Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
= BRREEFNEESTE & pension rights and compensation payments; and
(d) BIERITEERBIIEHITEE  (d) made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
ZMem=EERIREERS ° Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive Directors.
EENIREEAB Z2FEEFE (8 The remuneration package of Directors and senior management,
FERTEIEAL R IR EARE) - T5ELR AT including discretionary bonus and share options, is based on the
AR - following criteria:
> AARR > their individual performance;
>  RREERIANGE >  skill and knowledge;
> HAEEEHZRHARE > involvement in the Group's affairs;
> ERZESBZ R > their achievement of business targets; and
> AREEZRBREA - >  performance and profitability of the Group.
ZEeVWEERERE @At The Committee also considers factors such as salaries paid by
By ANRXN %4 FEF/Z A comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
B REREZBRE  EEHEMEBG the Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
B - LAREKRIBHEE 2B desirability of performance-based remuneration.
ZHRBAER ©
ZEENNBRINREEIEIZHE ©  The Committee obtains benchmark reports from internal and external
DMt EEN SR EIEABESHM 2A sources for evaluation of market trends and the competitive levels
S BERmEREAKT - ZE@EIE  of remuneration being offered to Directors and senior management.
HEWERABITERS - Z22r  Sufficient resources are provided to the Committee to discharge
HBHEERRITBASSRE S EMH  its duty. The Committee may consult the Chairman and the Chief
TEEFMo=R WA EBEER  Executive Officer about their proposals relating to the remuneration
BHABEEER - of other Executive Directors and have access to professional advice
if considered necessary.
WESREEABHFMHESZEHES The Recommended Best Practice to disclose the remuneration of
NN BRI o HIIA A senior management has not been adopted as it is considered to be
ZWETREEH - not appropriate. Only details of Directors’ remuneration are disclosed
on an individual and named basis.
i r=/d
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B & & #% % Accountability and Audit

<FRIERSE
Code Number

SPAIEX

Code Provision

requirement
with a deviation
from
Recommended
Best Practice

RFRlzBEmmE  WEBKRBE
BB BRRIMELEERAEZH
Br AN ET o SMNEB AR BT - EF RS
Bih = 7 B B AR A R A 15 Rk 098 L
Z BN & R LA IR0 B 3R B (AR
B -

BEENFR - PHRE  REFERA
&R ETHRRIRER 2R H 5 E
XA - BAERLARR R ZAR T
RIS AEH 18 - B R AR 2R

R FEEFBREFE /LIS E
BREEZ - PN EMER R MEA K
g ORIRERAR o

C.1 B BB Financial Reporting
EERERATNEKRE - B &BI= The Board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible
e F ~ EMTNREE 2 © assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects.
AR
Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
v EEUARNAINEBELSEAEERNAG Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
R BEHRRAESE IR AEEE  statements on a going concern basis, with supporting assumptions
ﬁﬁ;fééfy BATBREEHAENMREZFMER or qualifications as necessary. The Company's financial statements
punken | BH - ARAT KRR TIIXM L are prepared in accordance with the Listing Rules, Companies
Exceeding A AEEHM EREBARE/RE]  Ordinance and also the accounting principles and practices generally

accepted in Hong Kong. Appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are prudent
and reasonable. A statement by the external auditors, KPMG,

about their reporting responsibilities is included in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on the Company's financial statements.

The Directors endeavour to ensure a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Company’s position and
prospects in annual reports, interim reports, price-sensitive
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other statutory requirements.

The Recommended Best Practice to publish quarterly financial
results has not been adopted as it is considered not practical and
not cost effective for a property company.

<F RIS
Code Number

SFRIEX

Code Provision

Requirement

RTA B TREEZIRE -

RINFEIRGE - 28T EHME
RAKBEZEBMEHAN BHILEE
REHWMBA - ERFFRERIELS
IIABTHEE - A R st B R ER AN &
Bz BEm AR RRIEH B -

C.2 A EBEFE Internal Controls
EERERFEAAFINANIEEIZEZ4  The Board should ensure that the Company maintains sound and
BEZE=MAAN  MREERERIE effective internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investment
BERARBINERE - and the Company'’s assets.
AR
Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
IS KIS R IFH AN ZPE IR X4 - #ER  We maintain a good internal control environment to enable the
BT NEEEIE X M2 FERGE(E - #5F  internal control systems and procedures to perform effectively.
Exceeiing ERIFMAEB 2 KEEHRE » fE The Code of Conduct details the Group’s philosophy in running its

business and acts as a benchmark for all staff to follow.

Internal control systems have been designed to allow us to monitor
the Group's overall financial position, safeguard its assets against
loss and misappropriation, to provide reasonable assurance against
fraud and errors, and to manage the risk in failing to achieve the
Group’s objectives.
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Corporate Governance Practices

We have a well defined specific limit of authority governing activities
of the Executive Committee, Directors, executives and senior staff.
Annual and mid-year budgets on all capital and revenue items are
prepared and approved by us before being adopted. \We monitor the
business activities closely and review monthly financial results of
operations against budgets. We also review and update the internal
controls to meet upcoming challenges.

We take extreme precautious measures in the handling of
price-sensitive information. Such information is restricted to a
need-to-know basis.

We maintain an internal audit department which is independent of
our daily operations and accounting functions. The Internal Auditor
reports directly to the Audit Committee. An internal audit program
based on risk assessment methodology was designed which

has been reviewed by the Audit Committee on an annual basis.
On a monthly basis, the Internal Auditor discusses his internal
audit reviews and findings with the management, and obtains
management’s responses on various issues. Internal audit reports
are prepared for the Audit Committee every quarter.

Formal meetings are held every six months between the Internal
Auditor and the Audit Committee to discuss internal audit issues.
During Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee also
enquires on financial and internal control matters with the external
auditors. The Audit Committee has the authority to have direct
discussion with external auditors in the absence of management if
deemed necessary, and they meet at least once annually for this
purpose. One Executive Director is present at the Audit Committee
meetings to answer enquiries from the Audit Committee and to
report to the Board of Directors on matters arising.

We acknowledge that it is our responsibility to maintain effective
risk management and internal control systems and to review them
twice a year. We manage risks by strategic planning, appointing
appropriately qualified and experienced personnel at senior
management positions, monitoring the Group's performance
regularly, maintaining effective control over capital expenditure and
investments, and setting a high level of Code of Conduct for all
Directors and employees to follow.

The Directors have conducted a review covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 and were satisfied

that an effective and adequate internal control system had been

in operation. Considerations are also given to the adequacy

of resources, qualifications and experience of the staff of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programs and budget. We came to such conclusion based on
our clearly set company policies and procedures, specific limits of
authority, budgetary controls, regular monitoring of performance and
the reports from both the external auditors and the Internal Auditor.

We confirm that there have been no major changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks faced by us from the previous financial
year, and we have the ability to respond to any such changes in our
business and the external environment. Furthermore, there were no
significant internal control problems encountered during the year.
We closely monitor our system of internal control, and had received
further assurance from the Audit Committee that the internal audit
function has been functioning effectively. We have complied with
the Code Provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices in respect of maintaining an effective internal control
system.
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Code Provision

ML ST B 53T
Exceeding
Requirement

&I BRI B BB R B IENTT
Ex DhREHTEE (REEX
B) ~ EESSEA - RERREREY
nEEk e REHARBEEZEMEE
XEBRIMEA M BERES - T
ZESEFRIKIMAGH  HE
EBIEINEZEE R AR EEHED - B
BEERRARWE @ AswmARET
THEZHEEMEGREARTZEEZA
MEE - BREEERNERERSHE
SNERZBEN ST E (BEEEL T
)  R=FBE/\FENFERN B
ZEEBRTTMREHR

EZZReZRESE (BHRAA
AIMMEEHRE) B EmRAMR
ELZABRE -

ZESRESREE UHEHEBE
BENZEFERA : RAEAEE R
ERMFBER  MAAREEHEARSE
ez ERELBAGNE  RINTVE
BALTHEMBIEEALSRE
B RRARENEFAEHEBELR
MEFZIARALLEEE - TS
BRHEEHERABTHRE -

C.3 ERESE Audit Committee

SEREMRWNMERIIEESRRZAZ The Board should establish formal and transparent arrangements
B [ Bl [ N{A] 4 5 B K A RIAZ B for considering how it will apply the financial reporting and internal
HENBERER AN EFEEE 2% control principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship
BE o with the Company's auditors.

AR

Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
Y FERZESETN—NNANFEHEZEER An Audit Committee was established by the Board in 1999,

which now comprises four Independent Non-Executive Directors
with appropriate academic and professional qualifications or

related financial management expertise, namely, Mr Simon S.O. Ip
(Chairman of the Committee), Mr H.K. Cheng, Ms Laura L.Y. Chen
and Mr York Liao. Meetings are held at least two times a year and
are attended by external and internal auditors, the Finance Director
and the Company Secretary for the purpose of discussing the nature
and scope of internal audit work and assessing the Group's internal
controls. Separate meetings will also be held with the external
auditors (in the absence of management) as and when required. The
Audit Committee held two meetings in 2008/09.

Its terms of reference, which are accessible to all via our website,
have included the duties stipulated in the Listing Rule.

The Committee is authorized by the Board to investigate any activity
within its terms of reference; to seek any information it requires from any
employee and all employees are directed to co-operate with any requests
made by the Committee; to obtain outside legal or other independent
professional advice; and to secure the attendance of outsiders with
relevant experience and expertise to their meetings if necessary.
Sufficient resources are provided to the Committee to discharge its duty.
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Compliance TEERTHR Corporate Governance Practices
Status
KREFNRN - B%EE=2ET T (A During the year, the Audit Committee has performed, inter alia,
BIE) AT ZBE : the following:
o EHWMHTIEEMINEZEENE o  reviewed and obtained explanation from management and the
BAEBTEESE CREEZ) 243 external auditors on the interim (unaudited) and annual results, including
BB BEBETEEAME  causes of changes from the previous period, effects on the application of
ZERA - - RAFETBREZZE - ¥ new accounting policies, compliance with the Listing Rules and relevant
EmREBIFNEREERERIE R - LA legislation, and any audit issues, before recommending their adoption by
RAEMZHBRERE - REEHFEEHBEHE  the Board of Directors;
MERAEE
o EZENMEEREHBEZEEE ¢  considered and proposed to the Board on the re-appointment of
EREStEBMARR T ZNER%  KPMG as the Company'’s external auditors;
BRD
o EELZHEMAIIEZSEN AL e  considered and approved the procedures and guidelines in
RNERHIEZE RS 2 12T FdEa] employing the external auditors to perform non-audit assignments for the
Company;
o WWENRIEAIEETEI 2 AZEE o received and reviewed the internal audit reports from the Internal
TR Auditor;
o HINNEEREEIFE® (BIEEWLT e  meeting with the external auditors in the absence of management
BIFE) LATS ST A B EE to discuss any audit issues;
o HRAIMEEMAZITHEUETA o meeting with the Internal Auditor in private to discuss internal
B RS audit issues,
o T _ETEN TNFEZANI e  approved the internal audit program for 2008/09; and
EitEtEl &
o HARFHANELELLMGIMELSE e carried out an annual review of the internal control system of
EEE BEAATELE RIEE  the Company including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
ML T ENER EIEENKEH experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
ELREH UREIESHIEFIE  function, and their training programs and budget.
BREABENEERR °
D EEZEREINWER Delegation by the Board
chéﬁ\kﬁnﬁer <F AR Code Provision
D.1 EE )5 Management Functions
ARANRER—HIEAXAMWFEETZIER ©  The Company should have a formal schedule of matters specifically
FEFREEEEREREZEE N reserved to the Board and those delegated to management.
BEEHEERAEZEE -
AR
Compliance EERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
V4 SRMEHAEBESHEEERSH/ Senior management, comprising assistant directors and senior
&I HEEKHITESBERNASRT managers, is responsible for the day-to-day operations and
fgﬁjs‘lﬁtf ZK%ZE%‘EVE&??BZ%@ o &% administration function of the Group under the leadership of
Requirement BEETEREEAS/EMIES - B8 the Executive Directors. The Board has given clear directions to
MRTWLLE=IEALEES B E -  management as to the matters that must be approved by the Board
SHERABFARKARATER R before decisions are made on behalf of the Company. The types
FTo-a2=RBEEIMREEBAESR{EE of decisions to be delegated by the Board to management include
REZEEBIE  MITEEH/ATEL  implementation of the strategy and direction determined by the
B ET - REE 2 275E/E - # Board, operation of the Group’s businesses, preparation of financial
BB HRR N EEEESZR ANEST  statements and operating budgets, and compliance with applicable
BRAZEEMEL - KARITEEIER laws and regulations. These arrangements will be reviewed
HELHE - BIRHBEASANATZFAE »  periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate to our needs.
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Colﬁ\&%fnﬁier PRI Code Provision
D.2 EERETHWZEE Board Committees
EERETNKEZESMKVEZIEZ Board Committees should be formed with specific written terms
AW ERE&EE - S25#HESE  of reference which deal clearly with the Committees’ authority and
ZHENREE - duties.
AR
Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
4 HITZEES FREESNEERFH An Executive Committee, Audit Committee, and Nomination and
MESEHFR— L/ \NE - — AL Remuneration Committee were formed in 1989, 1999 and 2003
SEFART | NER-ZTT=FKV - GHFEXZE respectively. Information on the Audit Committee and Nomination
gg;ﬁ?r';'n‘:‘g:‘t BEeMEERFMEE e 2488558 and Remuneration Committee can be found in Code Numbers C.3
R EXSPRIRFRC.3RBARA © and B.1 above.
BITESE Executive Committee
KAREERZHTZESETN— . The Executive Committee of the Board of Directors of the
NNFEKY  BMAEKEBFEZ2IEHTT Company was formed in 1989. Its members are all the Executive
= SR AMREISRSLELE =ERSE  Directors of the Company, namely, Mr Ronnie C. Chan, Mr Nelson
EREt+amhkAd - HRETHERTE W.L Yuen and MrTerry S. Ng, who meet regularly to establish the
F 0 BEUSIEARAT 2R ML strategic direction of the Company, and to monitor the performance
EEREWEB KRN - EFHEHEMBS  of management. Clear terms of reference have been adopted
MTEVERAESIE - WO gtE TZARLHEE by the Board, and guidelines were also set up for certain issues
ERRTEMEEHIZITIES| - §2Z% requiring Board approval. Each of the Committee members has full
EeXEY TSR ILLEIFE/ALH understanding on determining which issues require a decision of the
EEZREERAT  WLEFEARZHEZE  full Board and which are delegated by the Board to the Committee
EexEEEESE - or management.
E BERRMEE Communication with Shareholders
Co?eﬁ‘lj\l%friﬁber Rpille3 Code Provision
E.1 B EE Effective Communication
SEREENERTEFERZESE - The Board should endeavor to maintain an on-going dialogue with
THIEERRAFASEMKRES shareholders and in particular, use annual general meetings or other
& BB A R E R 2 2 - general meetings to communicate with shareholders and encourage
their participation.
AR
Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
V4 ARNRIZzREFEFREAEEHERE Our AGM provides a good opportunity for communication between
. REHEERK - EERNEKEZEE the Board and shareholders. The Chairmen of the Board and of
Comply with | Z EFE— M HFEABREREIREH the Committees are normally present to answer queries raised by
Requirement | 7 R RE » INEZHEI G Fth & HFE  shareholders. External auditors also attend the AGM every year.
FRE - AFASBENREBAXHER  Notice of the AGM and related papers are sent to shareholders at
AReRTHHRL —TEZ2%2H% least 20 clear business days before the meeting. Each separate
THRE - EERMETEBELANEETE issue is proposed by a separate resolution by the Chairman. The
FHIRE RER - BFEASEAREER meeting enjoys strong participation from shareholders. Six Directors
HE - m@HhELEEF  X&EZE (out of nine), including the Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the
(AREESER  BHRZEEEXEMIEEL  Audit Committee and Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration
EFMEESTFE) BFETEF 2B Committee, attended last year's AGM.
FRE o
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Requirement

ZNFBRFRGZBEEFAHTIK
RABRRFTARRNEFIESF - &
HE-BAZTRUBRESHBIRAE
HERE - 8L BEEREFURE
AARABERBR  RAKRREMR
AR RETRRNF AR  PT
AR-ZZEN\FREFAGLIEZHR
AR HPERMBmER  BEERZ
Az BREREME - RBRGET R
REHUARETARR  RERRE
RIF B S EA R B B R A2 4
BTE -

BEEREABEN-_ZZENETAC-
+THERTZAFAE([ZZ2TAEF
BERE]) BB EITARRZER
ZIRMAA) o TEE B EE BRAR R AR RS
WEZHH BERESAEEHZE=
T-—TFENAZTHIEFE 2R K
BRRBEBREMBITNEEREEN
BE - URBFARESHEH D540
—E2—ZF—AK - —_E—ZTF+tA
K -UE=_F—ZTF+HALET-

meeting was attended by 105 shareholders present in person or by
proxy. At the meeting, the Chairman had demanded a poll on each
of the resolutions submitted for voting, and the shareholders were
provided with detailed procedure for conducting a poll. All resolutions
tabled at the 2008 AGM, inter alia, the financial statements, re-
elected Directors, re-appointed auditors and renewed general
mandates were voted on by poll, and the results of poll voting were
posted on the websites of our company and the Stock Exchange in the
evening on the same day.

The Board confirms that there are no changes proposed to the
Articles of Association of the Company at the forthcoming AGM

to be held on 20 October 2009 (2009 AGM"). The important
shareholders' dates for the coming financial year, which include the
Board Meetings for the declaration of interim and final dividends

for the year ending 30 June 2010 and the AGM, are expected to be
held at around late January 2010, late July 2010 and in October 2010
respectively.

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09
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Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
MEETLDRAATES ZHEEE  On the requisition of our shareholders holding not less than 5% of
R7ZBRRIBEER (RRIELEERE  our paid-up capital as at the date of the deposit of the requisition
H#EA LR E REARRD A ZARE  carrying the right of voting at our general meetings, our Directors
A FEEEZRERE) - AQTESE  shall forthwith proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting.
AR BARRFRRE -
MR A SRS RS ES - RIS A  Specific enquiries and suggestions by shareholders can be sent in
NAElz il FEEB/ A A FME  writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at our registered
HEEHEARRQA] © address or by e-mail to our company.
Cojelﬁ\‘lj\l’gffber <PAIESC Code Provision
E.2 Ve EV . Voting by Poll
RATIERRIRAEARBIAZZF R The Company should ensure that shareholders are familiar with the
TRRBOFMIER © detailed procedure for conducting a poll.
AR
Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
44 ARr FEREFKRE ([ZZ2Z)\FH Our last AGM was held on 3 November 2008 (“2008 AGM") at our
sazalex | FAG)MRZZTENFE+—H=H% registered office. Notice convening the 2008 AGM had detailed the
Comply with | RAF ZFMHEEEIT - B —F procedures for and the rights of shareholders to demand a poll. The
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Compliance DEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status

F HEFE M # & Voluntary Disclosure

F1 ZEFT 2 Auditors’ Remuneration

—EENFAFAE - REER KPMG was re-appointed as our external auditors by shareholders
EEEEER ST =R AZNAT at the 2008 AGM until the conclusion of the 2009 AGM. They are
ZONERZEE c EE_ZTT NERE  primarily responsible for providing audit services in connection with
KA - BEZFTESEIFEE  the annual consolidated financial statements.

(R IS MR IR AL BRES ©

ER R TFINEZEEN RS Z &84 During the year, the total remuneration in respect of services provided

NS by the external auditors is as follows:
2009 2008
BEEET BAEEET
HK$M HK$SM
SR ZE R Statutory audit services 8.6 8.4
% S E A AR TS Tax and other services 1.6 0.1
10.2 8.5

F2 HRFER Code of Conduct

AATE - NNMNEREANDERRST We have adopted a corporate Code of Conduct since 1994 which is
R WA ER - AEITHHEFE  updated from time to time, setting out clear guidelines for employees
THEEZEMES : on matters such as:

>  ZREEEAE >  soliciting or accepting advantages;

> REFE > offering advantages;

> R (ArDEE T/ERESTE >  observing local laws when working in another jurisdiction;
HERR

> RENSER: > handling of conflict of interests situations;

> BRERZEERNEIGE > handling confidential information/company property;

> (FRAMMBIHARL > use of information and communication systems;

> EBSTESTER] R >  compliance with the Code of Conduct; and

> ETARATRMGDZRS > transactions in the Company’s shares.

RS ERBEMmERTS|EFES| - 82  The Code of Conduct also sets out guidelines on matters in relation to
TREAMER ARG BREKOEEE  suppliers and contractors; customers and consumers; responsibilities
ZEE  BWREMB&R S B to shareholders and the financial community; employment practices;
BEER ARG ZEE - and responsibilities to the community.

BEER T BB R 2B Y - &3 In order to monitor and enforce the compliance of the Code of
FRIBEESREFEETBRAOERKRE Conduct, functional managers are responsible for ensuring their
STRELBFMBATE c BERIMEE®ST  subordinates fully understand and comply with the standards and
HED BEEHSER - e MBE requirements as stipulated. Any violation thereof will result in the
BAZk BB REAKIEERRFHE)S employee being disciplined, including termination of employment.
s E M TETT - MEMIZESEHEMNIX  Suspected corruption or other forms of criminality will be reported
HOBERE - BEFE - HEBE - #E to the Independent Commission Against Corruption or appropriate
o ARRRERARARIZEEF{EL 2 authorities. The Executive Directors will also answer directly to any
B HITEEEEERZXESELE Board member for impartial and efficient handling of complaints
Bl% - UEREBRFEDNTEREM received from all shareholders and potential shareholders; customers
RZEE o and consumers; suppliers and contractors and our employees.

o - FFEERATHAMNIESHZE Also, all employees above a designated level are required to complete
FEESWEE [FRER]| - HFEH  and sign a Statement of Interest annually declaring their interest,
BHENBEEARARSHNTB AR directly or indirectly, with the Company and our subsidiaries and
BN A 2T 0 AMERFTA X associated companies, so as to make sure that all operations are
BEREBRESMEL LN RME  managed in accordance with the highest standards of practice and
BIRMERIETT o corporate governance.
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Transparency and Disclosure

ARBBRNABRANLEEREELE
B2 HBER - BREBARRZFR
R #HmEN TEHELTE S
- BOLES ERHERNE
B UAREARARBEEREHRESR - K
R KEE FRARRALZME
SHNER DHRTES  [EM
EREEZSREEABRAERE -

ERALEAIE EARR 2 HEEH
ARRZEFR  BREFRBTSZE
BemBEsE  maHEs Ra
RH - REHMBEEGERI K
REZ@EATRREAD R EMEHE
B BEAHhEnE  HEDE -
R BETRA  EERRZBMD
i ARAFELEREERREZH

We are committed to disclose relevant information on our activities
to our shareholders and investors through regular analysts’ briefings,
press conferences and press releases, e-mails and our website,
apart from our annual and interim reports. All enquiries and
proposals received from shareholders, investors, media or the public
are responded to by Executive Directors, Company Secretary or
appropriate members of senior management.

The Company's information including the terms of reference of

Board Committees is also accessible to all via our website. Terms of
reference of Board Committees are also available on request. Besides
providing traditional financial data, our website also contains the most
current information including properties available for sale and leasing,
latest issued capital, updated substantial shareholders’ interests in
shares, major corporate events and frequently asked questions.

p
M

o
R
W

B -
T S Y
A= Moving Forward
[EELTIRIBHEE NEEE N EMZE ©  Corporate governance practices keep evolving in light of the

CEERERIMHAEER - RMSEHR
ERHNEREABRRMAARANEE
ERTREITR - BIOE— (LR
MERERKF  BERENKEERR
MEBE -
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changing business environment and developing regulatory
reforms. We constantly keep track of the latest corporate
governance developments and review our practices to
strengthen our corporate governance standards and align
ourselves with international best practices.
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Mr Ronnie Chichung Chan

Chairman

Aged 59, Mr Chan joined the Group in 1972 and became
Chairman in 1991. He is also Chairman of the Group’'s major
subsidiary, Hang Lung Properties Limited, which is publicly
listed. Mr Chan is a Vice-President of The Real Estate
Developers Association of Hong Kong, a Vice Chairman of
the Asia Society and Chairman of its Hong Kong Center,
and an advisor to the China Development Research
Foundation of the State Council of the People’'s Republic of
China. Mr Chan also serves on the governing or advisory
bodies of several think-tanks and universities, including the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and the
University of Southern California, USA, where he received
his MBA. Mr Chan is a brother of Mr Gerald Chan, a Non-
Executive Director of the Company.

Mr Shang Shing Yin

Vice Chairman (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Aged 78, MrYin joined the Group in 1970, held various
positions on the Board, including Managing Director
between 1986 and 1992, and has been the Vice Chairman
since 1992. He has over 20 years of experience in the fields
of property investment and development, and is a qualified
banker with a Banking Diploma from The Chartered Institute
of Bankers in London, UK. MrYin is also the Vice Chairman
of Hang Lung Properties Limited.

Mr Nelson Wai Leung Yuen
Managing Director

Aged 58, Mr Yuen has been with the Group since 1978
when he joined the Company as its Financial Controller.

In 1981 he became an Assistant Director and began to
assume various operating responsibilities in the Group. In
1988 he became an Executive Director and was appointed
Managing Director of the Company and its subsidiary,

Hang Lung Properties Limited, in 1992. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr Yuen practised public accounting for four years in
England and Hong Kong. He is a graduate of the University
of Manchester, UK, a Fellow of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and an Associate of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr
Yuen is a Director and Member of the Executive Committee
of The Real Estate Developers Association of Hong Kong.
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Mr Gerald Lokchung Chan

Non-Executive Director

Aged 58, Mr Chan has been a Director of the Company
since 1986. As co-founder of Morningside, Mr Chan

has been active in venture capital and private equity
investments since 1987 He sits on the boards of several
private companies. He serves on the advisory boards of
numerous universities including the University of California,
Los Angeles, Harvard University and Fudan University. Mr
Chan received his undergraduate training in engineering at
the University of California at Los Angeles and his Doctor
of Science degree from Harvard University, USA. He is a
brother of Mr Ronnie Chan, Chairman of the Group.

Dr Hon Kwan Cheng GBS, OBE, JP
Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 82, Dr Cheng joined the Group in 1993. Dr Cheng
obtained an engineering degree from Tianjin University and
a post-graduate diploma from Imperial College, London, UK,
of which he is a Fellow. He is a past President, Honorary
Fellow and Gold Medallist of The Hong Kong Institution

of Engineers, Fellow of the Hong Kong Academy of
Engineering Sciences, and past Vice President, Fellow and
Gold Medallist of The Institution of Structural Engineers,
Fellow of The Institution of Civil Engineers, UK, Honorary
Fellow of The Institution of Engineers, Australia, and an
Authorized Person and Registered Structural Engineer in
Hong Kong, State Class/Registered Structural Engineer
qualification. Dr Cheng was a Member of both the
Executive and Legislative Councils and Chairman of the
Hong Kong Housing Authority. Dr Cheng is an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Wing Hang Bank Limited,

Agile Property Holdings Limited and Tianjin Development
Holdings Limited. He is also an Independent Non-Executive
Director of Hang Lung Properties Limited.
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Ms Laura Lok Yee Chen

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 61, Ms Chen joined the Group in 1997 She has been
involved in the banking, real estate, and financial service
industries for over twenty years, both in Hong Kong and in
the USA. Since 1993 she has been a director of the Sterling
Group — — a private investment entity — — and managing
investment portfolios in global capital markets, with special
interests in emerging markets and high-yield products. Over
the past few years her professional career has transitioned
into the direction of the development and management of
philanthropic programs and activities. She is the Executive
Chair of Hong Kong based ZeShan Foundation. On a
personal level, she serves on the advisory councils of the
Hopkins-Nanjing Center — — a joint program between the
Johns Hopkins and Nanjing universities, the Asia Society
Hong Kong Center, and numerous non-profit organizations.
Ms Chen holds an MBA from the George Washington
University in Washington DC, USA, and a post-graduate
certificate in International Banking from the University

of Virginia, USA. Ms Chen is also an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Hang Lung Properties Limited.

Mr Simon Sik On Ip CBE, JP

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 60, Mr Ip joined the Board in 1998. Mr Ip is a solicitor
and Notary Public. Mr Ip has a distinguished record of public
service. A former Legislative Councillor, past President of
the Law Society of Hong Kong and Founding Chairman of
the Hong Kong Institute of Education, he is a Steward of
the Hong Kong Jockey Club, a member of the Advisory
Committee on Post-service Employment of Civil Servants,

a member of the Exchange Fund Advisory Committee

and holds honorary positions in two local universities and
Tsinghua University.
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Dr York Liao sBs, JP
Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 63, Dr Liao was appointed Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in 2003. Dr Liao is
currently a Council member of The University of Hong
Kong, Managing Director of Winbridge Company Limited
and a Non-Executive Director of Armitage Technologies
Holding Limited. He was appointed as the Chairman of the
Hong Kong Council for Academic Accreditation in 2003.
Dr Liao obtained a Master of Arts degree and a Doctor
of Philosophy degree in Applied Physics from Harvard
University, USA in 1968 and 1973 respectively, after
graduating from California Institute of Technology in 1967.

Mr Terry Szeyuen Ng

Executive Director

Aged 49, Mr Ng has been with the Group as an Executive
Director since 2001, and is responsible for two areas

of the Group's activities. As Director of Finance and
Administration, he leads the Group's strategic and
corporate planning, financial investments, and relations
with the investment community. In this role, he also
manages the Group's organizational and support functions.
As Director of Leasing and Management, Mr Ng oversees
management of the Group's property investment portfolio.
Mr Ng is a Fellow of CPA Australia and holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Commerce from the University of New South
Wales, Australia, as well as a Master's degree in Business
Administration from the Asia International Open University
(Macau). In addition, he was appointed as a member of the
Dual Filing Advisory Group of the Securities and Futures
Commission. Mr Ng is also an Executive Director of Hang
Lung Properties Limited.
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Ms Velencia Lee
Company Secretary
Assistant Director — Finance & Administration

Aged 44, Ms Lee joined the Group as Accounting Manager
in 1997 and was promoted to Group Chief Accountant in
2000. She was promoted to Assistant Director in 2006
and was appointed Company Secretary in 2007. Having
previously worked in the finance and auditing field in
London and Hong Kong, Ms Lee is a graduate of the
Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine,
London, UK, and an Associate of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report together
with the audited Financial Statements for the year ended 30
June 2009.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding,
and through its subsidiaries, property development for sales
and leasing, property investment for rental income, and other
investments. The Group also operates in car park management
and property management, and through its jointly controlled
entities, the Group is involved in the operation of dry-cleaning.

An analysis of the turnover and trading results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) by
business and geographical segments during the financial year
is set out in Note 2 on the Financial Statements.

Principal Subsidiaries and Jointly Controlled Entities

A list of principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities,
together with their places of operations and incorporation and
particulars of their issued share capital/registered capital, is
set out in Notes 33 and 34 on the Financial Statements.

Financial Results

The profit of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2009, and
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that
date are set out in the Financial Statements on pages 108 to
174.

Ten-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last ten financial years is set out on page
175 of the annual report.

Dividends

The directors now recommend a final dividend of HK54 cents
per share which, together with the interim dividend of HK16.5
cents per share paid on 17 April 2009, makes a total of HK70.5
cents per share in respect of the year ended 30 June 2009.
The proposed final dividend, if approved by the shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting on 20 October 2009, will be paid
on 13 November 2009 to shareholders whose names appear
on the Register of Members on 20 October 2009.
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Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year, both the percentage of purchases attributable
to the Group’s b largest suppliers combined and the
percentage of turnover or sales attributable to the Group's 5
largest customers combined were less than 30% of the total
purchases and turnover or sales of the Group respectively.

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 22 on the Financial
Statements.

Donations
Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$9.8 million (2008: HK$34.4 million).

Fixed Assets
Details of movements in fixed assets during the year are set
out in Note 10 on the Financial Statements.

Bank Loans
Particulars of bank loans of the Group as at 30 June 2009 are
set out in Note 16 on the Financial Statements.

Borrowing Costs Capitalization
Borrowing costs capitalized by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$152.8 million (2008: HK$179.7 million).

Major Group Properties
Details of major properties of the Group as at 30 June 2009
are set out on pages 46 to 53 of the annual report.

Share Capital

During the year, the issued and fully paid share capital was
increased by the issue of 250,500 (2008: 462,500) shares of
HK$1.00 each for the total consideration of HK$2,034,225 as
a result of the exercise of share options under the Company's
share option schemes.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in Note 21 on the Financial Statements.
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Share Capital of the Company’s Listed Subsidiary

During the year, the issued and fully paid share capital of the
Company'’s listed subsidiary, Hang Lung Properties Limited
("HLP") was increased by the issue of 536,000 (2008:
2,168,000) shares of HK$1.00 each for total consideration of
HK$5,278,500 as a result of the exercise of share options
under HLP’s share option scheme.

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and as at the
date of this report are listed on page 176 and their brief
biographical details are set out on pages 92 to 95 of the
annual report. Details of their remuneration are set out in Note
5 on the Financial Statements.

In accordance with Articles 103 and 104 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Ms Laura L.Y. Chen, Mr York Liao and
Mr S.S.Yin retire from the Board by rotation at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

Directors’ Service Contracts

The appointments of non-executive director and independent
non-executive directors are for specific terms (not exceeding 3
years) which coincide with their expected dates of retirement
by rotation in accordance with the provisions of the Company's
Articles of Association. The executive directors do not have any
service contract with the Company which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contract of significance in relation to the Group's business
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time
during the year or at the end of the year.
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EERRD HEAROREEZ 2 Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
wRAE Underlying Shares and Debentures
BIFFEHFNMAEED ([EHIEH]) % As at 30 June 2009, the interests or short positions of
XVERS BB AR EEEITESZ  each of the directors in the shares, underlying shares and
SHEESTRBME RN T REBE  debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
AXGHARRAR  SIBREFEFHIEH  (within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
F-AARTIEREATHEF2ESL  (the "SFO")) which were required to be notified to the
MrRss SEEN_ZFZFLEFE XA Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
—tHEEBEEAAANEMEAE (F& pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model
BHIER) 2B - BRI k&R  Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

BLZERSOKRUT Issuers or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO are as
follows:

O] ERBEERAR
The Company Hang Lung Properties Limited
EBEH REHE RE: 1RE
hxz nRE R kA MREZRE
BOl (MzE1) BALL (M3£2)
R &E %of  No. of Shares R E %of  No. of Shares
No.of Issued under Option No.of Issued under Option

BEHE ah Name of Directors Capacity Shares  Capital (Note 1) Shares  Capital (Note 2)

RRR  EA Ronnie C. Chan Personal - - 11,790,000 - - 25,570,000

BRHE - S.S.Yin - = - = = = -

=ER A Nelson W.L. Yuen Personal - - 8,000,000 - - 30,746,000

BgR - Gerald L. Chan - = = = = = =

gy - HK. Cheng - - - - - = =

By - Laura L.Y. Chen - - - = S = =

iz - Simon S.0. Ip = = - - - - -

BAR - York Liao - - - - - - =

R+ fAA Terry S. Ng Personal - - 4,338,000 - - 23,039,000
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Notes:

1. RIEAD R Z R0 BT 81 A

Options granted under the Share Option Scheme of the Company

=k
Date Granted ez

Name

#30/6/20091R #
HiRE R R 0E 2 AR
No. of Shares
under Option

as at 30/6/2009

GRRATIEE
(&%)
Exercise Price
per Share
(HK$)

EEp e
Vesting Period

A
Expiry Date

24/2/2000 RER

Nelson W.L. Yuen

2,500,000

$6.12

724/2/2001#20%
20% from 24/2/2001
124/2/2002#£30%
30% from 24/2/2002
724/2/2003#50%
50% from 24/2/2003

23/2/2010

1/11/2001 Rt

dl

Terry S. Ng

1,250,000

$5.87

#1/11/2002#£20%
20% from 1/11/2002
#1/11/2003#30%
30% from 1/11/2003
#1/11/2004#50%
50% from 1/11/2004

31/10/2011

20/5/2004 FRELR

Ronnie C. Chan
Nelson W.L. Yuen
Terry S. Ng

5,090,000
3,000,000
1,388,000

$9.45

720/5/20054£25%
25% from 20/5/2005
#20/5/2006#225%
25% from 20/5/2006
#20/5/2007#825%
25% from 20/5/2007
#20/5/20081£25%
25% from 20/5/2008

19/5/2014

20/11/2006 FRELR

Ronnie C. Chan
Nelson W.L. Yuen
Terry S. Ng

6,700,000
2,500,000
1,700,000

$20.52

#20/11/2007#210%
10% from 20/11/2007
7420/11/2008#220%
20% from 20/11/2008
#20/11/20094£30%
30% from 20/11/2009
#20/11/2010#£40%
40% from 20/11/2010

19/11/2016
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2. REEEBERRAEZROMEBIRE AR

Options granted under the Share Option Scheme of Hang Lung Properties Limited

AR HA A T R B 2 AR B
No. of Shares under Option BRITEE
()
FREL Exercise
#1/7/2008 Granted 730/6/2009 Price per
BB As at During As at Share B )=
Date Granted 4 Name 1/7/2008 the Year 30/6/2009 (HK$)  Vesting Period Expiry Date
20/5/2004 FRER 5= Ronnie C. Chan 5,090,000 - 5,090,000 $9.20  #20/5/2005#825% 19/5/2014
=ER Nelson W.L. Yuen 7,126,000 - 7,126,000 25% from 20/5/2005
KRETT Terry S. Ng 3,239,000 - 3,239,000 120/5/20061#225 %
25% from 20/5/2006
#20/5/2007#225%
25% from 20/5/2007
7420/5/2008#225 %
25% from 20/5/2008
20/11/2006 FRER Ronnie C. Chan 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 $17.14  #20/11/2007#210% 19/11/2016
=ER Nelson W.L. Yuen 5,800,000 - 5,800,000 10% from 20/11/2007
KL Terry S. Ng 3,300,000 - 3,300,000 7420/11/2008#E20%
20% from 20/11/2008
720/11/2009%£30%
30% from 20/11/2009
#20/11/2010#240%
40% from 20/11/2010
21/8/2007 BRERR Ronnie C. Chan 3,640,000 = 3,640,000 $25.00 #421/8/2008#210% 20/8/2017
=ER Nelson W.L. Yuen 3,510,000 - 3,510,000 10% from 21/8/2008
RET Terry S. Ng 3,250,000 - 3,250,000 7421/8/2009#£20%
20% from 21/8/2009
#21/8/2010%230%
30% from 21/8/2010
721/8/2011#840%
40% from 21/8/2011
21/8/2007 FREUR Ronnie C. Chan 5,600,000 = 5,600,000 $25.00 #21/8/2009#E10% 20/8/2017
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen 5,400,000 - 5,400,000 10% from 21/8/2009
KL Terry S. Ng 5,000,000 = 5,000,000 721/8/2010%£20%
20% from 21/8/2010
#21/8/2011#30%
30% from 21/8/2011
#21/8/2012240%
40% from 21/8/2012
31/12/2008 FRECR Ronnie C. Chan - 9,240,000 9,240,000 $17.36  #31/12/2010#10% 30/12/2018
=ER Nelson W.L. Yuen - 8,910,000 8,910,000 10% from 31/12/2010
RtT Terry S. Ng - 8,250,000 8,250,000 7A31/12/2011#220%
20% from 31/12/2011
731/12/2012#830%
30% from 31/12/2012
131/12/2013%£40%

40% from 31/12/2013

BRIAERTIEEIN  WEARNABEEN
BEZEABBAR-_ZTAFNA
=T AFBEARRR M BBEE 2

Pefn - HERAR D Sk B RE 2 #E 2 SR
ﬁ\ o

BRIA ERTALON - REREMRERE - K
X A SR AT F B 2 R R AR )
ZHEARRES (BEREZEBR
R+ N\BRZFR) AIFEREARDRA R
LA EL A A 2 B Sl (B RE T e ©
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Save as disclosed above, none of the directors of the
Company or any of their associates had, as at 30 June 2009,
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation.

Other than as stated above, at no time during the year

was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to

any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company
(including their spouses and children under 18 years of age)
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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TERERHEMBATRABRES RERERKR Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests
EZRAKE and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares
BESSEMNE=a =+ F/E As at 30 June 2009, details of substantial shareholders’ and
FigE s B MrsasE T ERE R other persons’ (who are required to disclose their interests
R B A GBI EXVE B EE#EZ > pursuant to Part XV of the SFO) interests and short positions
HWALTHR -_ZETZNE,xA=+H# inthe shares and underlying shares of the Company as
BARARZ G ERBEEIRG 2 #EZ5LL recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
R Z e EmMT 336 of the SFO are as follows:

FA MR AERE D 28

No. of Shares or BRTRAZBEAL
Underlying Shares Held % of Issued Capital
HE KB wE 9)
(i Long Short Long Short
HZ Name Note Position Position Position  Position
PR E 2 Chan Tan Ching Fen 1 498,428,580 = 3735 =
Cole Enterprises Holdings Cole Enterprises Holdings
Limited Limited 1 498,428,580 - 3735 -
Merssion Limited Merssion Limited 1 498,428,580 - 37.35 -
Kingswick Investment Limited Kingswick Investment Limited 2 97.965,000 - 7.34 -
Aberdeen Asset Management Aberdeen Asset Management
Plc and its Subsidiaries Plc and its Subsidiaries - 80,407,846 - 6.02 -
Commonwealth Bank of Commonwealth Bank of
Australia Australia - 79,929,000 - 5.99 -
Davis Selected Advisers, L.P. Davis Selected Advisers, L.P. - 66,870,000 - 5.01 -
Bk :
Notes:

1. ERBE—FRESMFEZRORBA—MERYN  REBS LT RZEREEZKIA °

These shares were the same parcel of shares held by a trust of which Ms. Chan Tan Ching Fen was the founder.
2. Kingswick Investment Limited Fi#FA 2 N FTtE N T NER TN E BIEE LillBREE S Z 1 / Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited / Merssion Limited FiisA 2
MEAFNEE+=—BNFTEENTRBRHZEAR -

The 97,965,000 shares held by Kingswick Investment Limited were included in the above-mentioned number of 498,428,580 shares held by Ms. Chan Tan
Ching Fen / Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited / Merssion Limited.

BRUA EPTHBEE SN - BIBZHIEMIZE  Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2009, no other
TE=TABHAEETHERFE 2ERM  interest required to be recorded in the register kept under
Mtk RZZTNF/NA=THIE Section 336 of the SFO has been notified to the Company.
\mOMEARQ G 2 iz o
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken
in the usual course of business are set out in Note 28 on the
Financial Statements. None of these related party transactions
constitutes a discloseable connected transaction as defined
under the Listing Rules.

Management Contracts

No contract for the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
During the year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors of the
Company as at the date of this annual report, the Company
has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules.

Corporate Governance

The Company's corporate governance principles and practices
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 75
to 91 of the annual report.

Auditors

A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of
the Company until the conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting.

By Order of the Board
Velencia Lee

Secretary

Hong Kong, 31 July 2009
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Hang Lung Group Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Hang Lung Group Limited (“the Company”) set out on pages
108 to 174, which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 30 June 2009, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and

the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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RN

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’'s preparation
and true and fair presentation of the financial statements

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of the affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 30 June 2009 and of the Group's
profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince's Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

31 July 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

HE-_ZTNFE/A=1+HILFE For the year ended 30 June 2009

B sE

NAKBEETHE in HK$ million Note 2009 2008
3o Turnover 2(a) 4,696.0 10,553.1
HagA Other income 3 164.4 2879
BERANEEER Direct costs and operating expenses (880.4) (3,780.1)
1THE A Administrative expenses (448.8) (450.1)
FREFAIREWE Y AFE  Operating profit before change in fair value

FEIR L R F of investment properties 3,631.2 6,610.8
& 2 A FEE Increase in fair value of investment properties 10 3,644.0 11,164.2
BE AR EYE NFE{E  Operating profit after change in fair value

FHNEERT of investment properties 7175.2  17775.0
BrisE A Finance costs 4 (172.1) (306.6)
NIl Share of profits of jointly controlled entities 12 181.1 222.6
R 258 A ) Profit before taxation 2(a) & 4 7184.2  17691.0
%18 Taxation 6(a)  (1,615.6) (3,033.7)
REE T Profit for the year 5,5668.6 14,6573
FEAE4ER Attributable to:

AR Shareholders 22 2,637.9 7,516.3

DR RS Minority interests 23 2,930.7 7,141.0

5,568.6 14,657.3

iz & Dividends 8(a) 940.7 940.5
FRRAEF Earnings per share 9(a)

BN Basic $1.98 $5.64

g Diluted $1.96 $5.56

W MERM T I AT BRE 2 —FH © The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEETS

RZZTZAFRA=+H At 30 June 2009

%£E Group A@] Company
M
NAEEETTE in HK$ million Note 2009 2008 2009 2008
ERBEE Non-current assets
BEEEE Fixed assets
KEYE Investment properties 69,958.2 66,136.3 - -
BRERPIREME Investment properties under
development 7,570.1 5,658.1 - -
HEmEFEE Other fixed assets 124.6 105.6 - -
10 77,652.9 71,900.0 - -
B A R Interest in subsidiaries 11 - -  13,531.9 12,741.6
AENEEE Interest in jointly controlled
. entities 12 1,499.8 1,421.9 5.6 5.2
HEMmEE Other assets 13 1,274.3 1,163.5 = -
R IRE BE Deferred tax assets 19(b) 61.4 33.8 - -
80,488.4 74,519.2 13,6375 12,746.8
REEE Current assets
Eﬁ@&fﬁ{ﬂ_ Cash and deposits with banks 24(b) 9,631.7 10,738.1 0.2 -
E U AR &Emﬂ’éﬂﬂzm Trade and other receivables 14 699.4 1,383.0 - -
’%%ﬁm% Properties for sale 15 7714.0 6,848.4 - -
18,045.1 18,969.5 0.2 -
REBEE Current liabilities
WITER Bank loans 16 800.0 1,000.0 = -
:EEH;;IJHHZ Floating rate notes due 2009 17 1,500.0 - - -
< % I
FERBRR N E A ERZL  Trade and other payables 18 2,387.5 2,183.7 7.2 5.7
FERELIE Taxation payable 19(a) 888.7 881.8 - -
5,576.2 4,065.5 7.2 5.7
REEE (BfE) FE Net current assets/(liabilities) 12,468.9 14,904.0 (7.0) (5.7)
EEHAERABEE Total assets less current
liabilities 92,957.3 89,423.2 13,530.5 12,7411
FREBEE Non-current liabilities
WITER Bank loans 16 9,166.4 8,039.6 - -
mﬂé?ﬂi’]ﬁkﬁ‘* Finance lease obligations 20 287.2 393.0 = -
JER B A Amounts due to subsidiaries 1 = - 684.0 299.7
LL%RIEEE! Deferred tax liabilities 19(b) 8,561.9 7.434.2 - -
:EEHE El -l Floating rate notes due 2009 17 = 1,500.0 = -
/? o _J_TJ%
18,015.5 17.366.8 684.0 299.7
BEERE NET ASSETS 74,941.8 72,056.4 12,846.5 12,4414
BEAXRREE Capital and reserves
J&ZK Share capital 21 1,334.3 1,334.0 1,334.3 1,334.0
1 Reserves 22 37,2977 354476 11,5122 11,107.4
f% B AE = Shareholders’ equity 38,632.0 36,781.6 12,846.5 12,4414
DEIR R Minority interests 23 36,309.8 35,274.8 = -
R TOTAL EQUITY 74,941.8 72,056.4 12,846.5 12,441.4
RER Nelson W. L. Yuen
EEAKE Managing Director
Rt Terry S. Ng
HITESR Executive Director

MR T IR B|RE 2 —FD © The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-_ZTNFE/A=1+HILFE For the year ended 30 June 2009

B RE
NABEBEETTE in HK$ million Note 2009 2008
REA—RAz#EfER Total equity at 1 July
MR SR A Shareholders’ equity 36,781.6| | 29,095.4
DB R R Minority interests 35,274.8| | 29,394.4
72,056.4 58,489.8
FRAEEAKRZHE Total recognized income and expense
for the year
B AFE Increase/(Decrease) in fair value of listed
#Zn O investments 22 3.5 (13.0)
BENRIEARRFE Increase/(Reduction) of capital reserves of
@ GRid) jointly controlled entities 22 0.3 (0.3)
HME BN B A R BRIE Exchange difference arising from translation
EACERZRE of overseas subsidiaries 120.7 1,813.5
FARRF Profit for the year 5,568.6 14,657.3
5,693.1 16,4575
EFERPKRE Final dividend in respect of previous year 8(b) (720.4) (620.2)
REEFHRKE Interim dividend in respect of current year 8(a) (220.2) (220.1)
BITRG Issue of shares 21 & 22 2.1 4.7
EEREER Employee share-based payment expenses 133.5 132.5
EXrEBEMBARZ Change in minority interests arising from
IRFEZ MM EL D increase of the Group’s shareholding in
BRRERESE certain subsidiaries 23 (605.3) (907.6)
ENLPERRKRE Dividends paid to minority interests 23 (1,306.7) (1,177.0)
EELERETIE Repayment to minority interests 23 (90.7) (103.2)
RAA=1+THzZ@EER Total equity at 30 June 74,941.8  72,056.4
PEfhREES Attributable to:
A% 5= Shareholders 38,632.0( | 36,781.6
DBRR R 2 Minority interests 36,309.8| | 35,274.8

74,941.8 72,056.4

B RS SRR FE DA A 3Rk 2 — 8B o The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HE-_ZTNFE/A=1+HILFE For the year ended 30 June 2009

BT
NEEBBILAE in HK$ million Note 2009 2008
REEH Operating activities
RERKEEK RS Cash generated from
operations 24(a) 3,960.4 8,260.2
BEAHIE Tax paid
BNEEFEH Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (194.0) (149.4)
BRI ERER PRC Income Tax paid (314.6) (123.7)
REKEESH2IREFHE Net cash generated from
operating activities 3,451.8 79871
RETE Investing activities
BEETEE Purchase of fixed assets (2,267.2) (1,448.4)
2 U B Interest received 152.3 278.4
EREERRIRE Dividends received from jointly
controlled entities 375 36.0
FELIREEE Net repayment of advances to
BRCERE unlisted investments 1.8 1.9
BERAIER Repayment from jointly
controlled entities 66.0 81.6
RITEREIEMERIE  Proceeds upon maturity of
bank deposits 699.5 -
HERBTEEESHIE  Proceeds from disposal of
fixed assets - 145.9
BARREEE 2H £ B Net cash used in investing
activities (1,310.1) (904.6)
AE R E Financing activities
FIEIRITEZRSIE  Proceeds from new bank loans 2,736.8 1,625.3
BEIEITER Repayment of bank loans (1,800.5) (983.3)
1T AR {7 B Exercise of share options 2.1 4.7
BRI REMEE Interest and other borrowing
=35 costs paid (300.3) (450.0)
ENmERLYER Finance lease charges paid (31.2) (37.4)
Ekﬂ%&z%\ Dividends paid (940.6) (840.3)
BN HIRRRE Dividends paid to minority
interests (1,306.7) (1,177.0)
EELEIER Repayment to minority
interests (90.7) (103.2)
MTE&T LE R EZ  Decrease in minority interests
2 in subsidiaries (723.4) (1,317.1)
@Eéfﬂzﬁzﬁf$%ﬁfﬁ Capital element of finance
lease (94.1) (82.9)
ARBEEH 2 HEE%E Net cash used in financing
activities (2,548.6) (3,461.2)
iﬁé&}i%:’gﬁ'}@z (Decrease)/Increase in cash
WD) /g and cash equivalents (406.9) 3,621.3
ETEEJJZE’ Effect of foreign exchange
rate change - 25.2
RtA—BAZRER Cash and cash equivalents
HEZEY at 1 July 10,038.6 6,392.1
MAA=+HBZ®EK Cash and cash equivalents
HEZEEY at 30 June 24(b) 9,631.7 10,038.6
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The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. A summary of the principal accounting
policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. These new
and revised HKFRSs have no significant impact on the financial
statements of the Group for the years ended 30 June 2009
and 30 June 2008.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period (see
note 31).

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended

30 June 2009 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest
in jointly controlled entities.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except as otherwise
stated in the accounting policies set out below.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the judgments about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed

on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
note 30.

(c) Subsidiaries and minority interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control
exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity, so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights
that presently are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealized profits arising
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealized gains but only to the extent that there
is no evidence of impairment.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Subsidiaries and minority interests (Continued)

Minority interests in the consolidated balance sheet comprise
the outside shareholders’ proportion of the net assets of
subsidiaries and are presented as a part of equity in the
consolidated balance sheet and statement of changes in
equity. Minority interests in the results of the Group are
disclosed as an allocation of the profit for the year between
the minority interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the minority's
interest in the equity of a subsidiary, the excess, and any
further losses applicable to the minority, are charged against
the Group's interest except to the extent that the minority

has a binding obligation to, and is able to, make additional
investment to cover the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently
reports profits, the Group’s interest is allocated all such profits
until the minority's share of losses previously absorbed by the
Group has been recovered.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less any impairment losses. The results of
subsidiaries are recognized by the Company to the extent of
dividends received and receivable at the balance sheet date.

(d) Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates under a
contractual arrangement between the Group or the Company
and other parties, where the contractual arrangement
establishes that the Group or the Company and one or more of
the other parties share joint control over the economic activity
of the entity.

The Group's interests in jointly controlled entities are
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under
the equity method and are initially recorded at cost and
adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the
Group'’s share of the jointly controlled entities’ net assets. The
consolidated income statement includes the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the jointly controlled
entities for the year.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in

the jointly controlled entity, the Group's interest is reduced

to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued

except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
jointly controlled entity. For this purpose, the Group's interest
in the jointly controlled entity is the carrying amount of the
investment under the equity method together with the Group's
long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the jointly controlled entity.

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its jointly controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly
controlled entity, except where unrealized losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which
case they are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

In the Company’s balance sheet, its investments in jointly
controlled entities are stated at cost less any impairment
losses. The results of jointly controlled entities are recognized
by the Company to the extent of dividends received and
receivable at the balance sheet date.

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business
combination over the Group's share of the fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses
and is tested regularly for impairment.

Any excess of the Group's interest in the fair value of the
acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of a business combination is recognized
immediately in profit or loss.

On disposal of an entity, any attributable amount of purchased
goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on
disposal.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(f) Properties

1. Investment properties

Investment properties are those which are held either to earn
rental income or for capital appreciation or for both. They are
stated at fair value, representing the amount for which an
asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing
parties in arm'’s length transaction, assessed by external
qualified valuers. Any changes in fair values are recognized in
the income statement. A property interest under an operating
lease which is held for the above purposes is classified and
accounted for as an investment property.

2. Investment properties under development

Property that is being constructed or developed for future use
as investment property is classified as investment property
under development. Investment properties under development
include payments for leasehold land and land use rights,
construction costs and borrowing costs capitalized, if any, and
professional fees, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses. When the construction or development is complete, it
is reclassified as investment property at fair value. At the date
of transfer, the difference between fair value and its previous
carrying amount is recorded in the income statement.

3. Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale are classified under
current assets and stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Costs include the aggregate costs of
development, borrowing costs capitalized and other direct
expenses. Net realizable value represents the estimated
selling price less estimated costs of completion and costs to
be incurred in selling the property.

4. Completed properties for sale

Completed properties for sale are classified under current
assets and stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Cost is determined by apportionment of the total development
costs, including borrowing costs capitalized, attributable to
unsold units. Net realizable value represents the estimated
selling price as determined by reference to management
estimates based on prevailing market conditions, less costs to
be incurred in selling the property.
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2.
(i)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Other fixed assets

Other fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses.

Leased assets
Classification of assets leased to the Group

The classification is determined based on an evaluation of the
substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the
arrangement takes the legal form of a lease. Leases of assets
under which the lessee assumes substantially all the risks and
benefits of ownership are classified as finance leases. Leases
of assets under which the lessor has not transferred all the
risks and benefits of ownership are classified as operating
leases, with the following exceptions:

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09

property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property
is classified as an investment property on a property-by-
property basis; and

land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair
value of which cannot be measured separately from the
fair value of a building situated thereon at the inception of
the lease, is accounted for as being held under a finance
lease, unless the building is also clearly held under an
operating lease. For these purposes, the inception of the
lease is the time that the lease was first entered into by
the Group, or taken over from the previous lessee, or at
the date of construction of those buildings, if later.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Other fixed assets (Continued)

2. Leased assets (Continued)

(i) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance
leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the leased
asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease
payments, of such assets are included in fixed assets and
the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are
recorded as obligations under finance leases. Depreciation

is provided at rates which write off the cost or valuation of
the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where it is
likely the Company or the Group will obtain ownership of the
asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note 1(h). Finance
charges implicit in the lease payments are charged to the
income statement over the period of the leases so as to
produce an approximately constant periodic rate of charge on
the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting
period. Contingent rentals are written off as an expense of the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

(iii)  Operating leases charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to the
income statement in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognized in the income statement as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rentals are
charged to the income statement in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

(h) Depreciation

1.  Investment properties

No depreciation is provided for investment properties and
investment properties under development.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Depreciation (Continued)

2. Other fixed assets

Depreciation on other fixed assets is calculated to provide so
as to write off the cost, less their estimated residual value, if
any, on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Buildings 50 years or unexpired lease term,
whichever is shorter

Furniture and equipment 4-20 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

(i) Other investments in equity securities

Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted
market price in active market and whose fair value cannot

be reliably measured are recognized in the balance sheet at
cost less impairment losses. Other investments in securities
are classified as available-for-sale securities and are initially
recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. At each balance
sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant
gain or loss being recognized directly in equity, except for
impairment losses. When these investments are derecognized,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized directly in
equity is recognized in the income statement.

Investments are recognized/derecognized on the date the
Group commits to purchase/sell the investments or they
expire.

(j) Impairment of assets

As assessment is carried out at each balance sheet date to
determine whether there is objective evidence that a current
or non-current asset, other than properties carried at revalued
amounts, is impaired. In the case of equity investments
classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost

is considered in determining whether the investments are
impaired.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, any impairment loss is determined
and recognized as follows:

—  For current receivables carried at amortized cost, the
impairment loss is recognized when there is objective
evidence of impairment and measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective rate where the effect of
discounting is material. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the attention
of the Group about events that have an impact on the
asset’'s estimated future cash flows such as significant
financial difficulty of the debtor. If in a subsequent period
the amount of impairment loss decreases, the impairment
loss is reversed through the consolidated income
statement. A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognized in
prior years.

- For available-for-sale investments, the cumulative loss

that has been recognized directly in equity is removed
from equity and is recognized in the consolidated
income statement. The amount of the cumulative

loss that is recognized in the consolidated income
statement is the difference between the acquisition
cost (net of any principal repayment and amortization)
and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
asset previously recognized in the consolidated income
statement. Impairment loss in respect of available-for-sale
investments is not reversed. Any subsequent increase
in the fair value of such assets is recognized directly in
equity.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (Continued)

—  For other non-current assets, the recoverable amount
is the greater of its net selling price and value in use.
An impairment loss is recognized as an expense in the
consolidated income statement whenever the carrying
amount exceeds the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognized in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to the
income statement in the year in which the reversals are
recognized. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed.

(k) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortized cost less impairment losses
for bad and doubtful debts, except where the receivables

are interest-free loans or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost
less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts.

(I) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group's cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of
the consolidated cash flow statement.

(m) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortized cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognized initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated

at amortized cost with any difference between costs and
redemption value being recognized in the income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

(o) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the income statement in the
period in which they are incurred, except to the extent that
they are capitalized as being attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale.

The capitalization of borrowing costs as part of a qualifying
asset commences when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that
are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended
or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the qualifying assets for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

(p) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities

1.  Financial guarantees issued

Where the Company issues a financial guarantee, the fair

value of the guarantee (being the transaction price, unless

the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially

recognized as deferred income within trade and other

payables. The deferred income is amortized in profit or loss

over the term of the guarantee.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities (Continued)

2. Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing

or amount when the Company or the Group has a legal or

constructive obligation arising as a result of past event, it is

probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required

to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(q) Revenue recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can

be measured reliably, revenue is recognized in the income

statement as follows:

1. Sale of properties

Revenue from sale of completed properties is recognized upon
the signing of sale and purchase agreements or the issue of
occupation permit by the relevant government authorities,
whichever is the later.

2. Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognized on a
straight line basis over the terms of the respective leases.
Lease incentives granted are recognized in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payment receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognized as income in the accounting
period in which they are earned.

3. Interest income
Interest on bank deposits is recognized as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

4. Dividends
Dividends are recognized when the right to receive payment is
established.

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09 123



B ok Wk

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 FESHER @

() BHIR
AEERBRBREAFRE  BLEHREA
BERAENEDY BRRALERDZANE
EHER IR R Z AR IR TR ERC AR
o EWKE%RIE&EL%RIE,QE&
BENZE RN K S RER

REBIBERFARERTWAKREEH
EAEBMKELE FEEROREFTFE TR
HENMIE  WEBENEFERNH
HM AR -

BEMIBEEMEED BB NE & E
AREREZEEE MEFEENEE
REBEEEVBHRK LNREEHEELE
ERBENABERMECEZR - BT
MIBEENAREAREANRIEEER
REARIBE R

BETAERNFRIBRIN - FEETH
HEE AR RRAIBEBERBE A A
HEHEEEDH ELEHABEENS T
RoBAELEHBREEMBBEZARE
BIER - BREAAHIBMOEEMELN
EREZR  URTHESHHERT G
MEBENMBEZTATHER

EREERENSRERBEZREER
BENRAECAHERIERLRN
?;zE%SC FEAMSAEE L2 MK

R E c BREMREEERBEHTEIR
FTE .
AREENSEEHENEMELHRIES
ENEREE WESBEITBIEAERH
%%ﬁmﬂufﬁm@m%ﬂ SRR T
MIBEE TR - EHEATRELIRE
SR FE SR B m A B - BB BN T A e
@ o

124

1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r) Taxation

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
in the income statement except to the extent that they relate
to items recognized directly in equity, in which case they are
recognized in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted

at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable

in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible

and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the
asset can be utilized, are recognized. The limited exceptions
to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those
temporary differences arising from goodwill not deductible for
tax purposes and the initial recognition of assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits.

The amount of deferred tax recognized is measured based
on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilized. Any
such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each entity

in the Group are measured using the currency that best
reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and
circumstances relevant to the entity (“functional currency”).
The financial statements of the Group are presented in Hong
Kong dollars.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are
recognized in the income statement.

The results of foreign operations are translated in Hong

Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance
sheet items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The
resulting exchange differences are recognized directly in a
separate component of equity.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences recognized in equity which relate to
that foreign operation is included in the calculation of the profit
or loss on disposal.

(t) Related parties
For the purpose of these financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the Group if:

(i)  the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial
and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over
the Group;

(i) the Group and the party are subject to common control;

(iii) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in
which the Group is a venturer;
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t) Related parties (Continued)

(iv) the party is a member of key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a close family
member of such an individual, or is an entity under the
control, joint control or significant influence of such
individuals;

(v) the party is a close family member of a party referred
to in (i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for
the benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.

(u) Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is
engaged in providing products or services (business segment),
or in providing products, or services within a particular
economic environment (geographical segment), which is
subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of
other segments.

In accordance with the Group's internal financial reporting, the
Group has determined that business segment be presented as
the primary reporting format and geographical segment as the
secondary reporting format.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well as
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that
segment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets, and liabilities
are determined before intra-group balances and intra-group
transactions which are eliminated as part of the consolidation
process, except to the extent that such intra-group balances
and transactions are between group companies within a single
segment. Intersegment pricing is based on similar terms as
those available to other external parties.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(u) Segment reporting (Continued)

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during
the period on additions of segment assets (both tangible and
intangible) that are expected to be used for more than one
period.

(v) Employee benefits

1.  Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement schemes

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, the cost of non-

monetary benefits and obligation for contributions to defined

contribution retirement schemes, including those payables

in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and Hong Kong

under relevant legislation, are accrued in the year in which the

associated services are rendered by employees of the Group.

2. Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
measured at grant date, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted, and is
expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period
taking into account the probability that the options will vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity (Employee share-
based compensation reserve).

During the vesting period, the number of share options that

is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to
the cumulative fair value recognized in prior years is charged/
credited to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an
asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-
based compensation reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual
number of options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment
to the employee share-based compensation reserve).

At the time when the share options are exercised, the related
employee share-based compensation reserve is transferred to
share capital and share premium, together with the exercise
price. If the options expire or lapse after the vesting period,
the related employee share-based compensation reserve is
transferred directly to retained profits.
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2 HEEERIFER 2 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

RATEBRBEMA - EEZEHKA/IE  The principal activities of the Company, which is incorporated

& - WHEBEMBAREEYEME  in Hong Kong, are investment holding and, through its

g HIEERKRECWEERE  F85  subsidiaries, property leasing, property development for

EERMEER - sale and investment, car park management and property
management.

EEBIEVFEHERBEE ZWA - &% Turnover represents revenue from property leasing and sales.
BRMES LI 2EEBEH N T An analysis of turnover by business and geographical segment

X o is set out below.
(a) ¥BDH (a) Business segment
(i) DEWARESE (i) Segment revenue and results
o EBUA DEBHELE
Segment revenue Segment results
NAKBEETE in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
MEHRE Property leasing 4,684.8  4,185.7  3,812.6  3,346.8
MEHE Property sales 11.2 6,367.4 3.0  3,426.2
4,696.0 10,553.1 3,815.6 6,773.0
EHgA Other income 164.4 2879
TERER (M) Administrative expenses (Note) (448.8) (450.1)
FREF AR EWE Y AF{E Operating profit before change in
EENH) L E fair value of investment properties 3,531.2 6,610.8
KEWEZ NFEEI  Increase in fair value of investment properties
—MERE — property leasing 3,644.0 11,164.2
B & A Finance costs (172.1) (306.6)
i RN Share of profits of jointly controlled entities
—WEHRE — property leasing 181.1 222.6
5 B ) Profit before taxation 7,184.2 17.691.0

W THEReEREER—B=T=aAtE87T Note: Administrative expenses included share-based payment expenses of $133.5 million

—TTNF: —B=ZFT-ERATEL) - B’ (2008: $132.5 million) representing the amortization of the fair value of options
ERARTEENROBEREBHAZAT granted to employees over the vesting period and which do not involve any cash
BR#E  AARVEABRLEERSTL - outflow for the Company.
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
(a) XHB75 @) (a) Business segment (Continued)
(il DEHEEREE (i) Segment assets and liabilities
BE afE
Assets Liabilities
NAKBEETE in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
WEHAE Property leasing 77,9071 72,2435 = 2,068.4 1,595.6
YIEEEE Property sales 8,166.6 7906.7 300.2 504.2
86,073.7 80,150.2 2,368.6 2,099.8
REE QR 2R Interest in jointly controlled entities
MERES Property leasing 1,324.9 1,174.3 = -
MEEE Property sales 174.9 2476 - -
AofE (MsE) Unallocated (Note) 10,960.0 11,916.6 21,223.1 19,3325
98,5633.5 93,488.7 23,591.7 21,432.3

ik : RO BrBEITERESBHENEEE B Note: Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate assets including cash
FEReRBTERNATAB=ZF—BLTE and deposits with banks of $9,631.7 million (2008: $10,738.1 million), other assets
T(ZTENF: —AZEE=TN\B—T&8 of $1,262.8 million (2008: $1,143.0 million), interest-bearing borrowings including
T) EEE+ _EBAT_a/N\t+E8x (=% bank loans of $9,966.4 million (2008: $9,039.6 million), other liabilities of $1,787.2
ZN\F: +—EBET=ZEERT) TREEEE million (2008: $1,893.0 million), and taxation of $9,389.2 million (2008: $8,282.2
BABERNTABEATFRANTEL (ZZF million).
NEFE N TRE=ZFABATER) UREME
BErtBENANTLtEZ+8T (ZZZNF: +
NEANT=ZEER)  SBREAT=EBNATFTILE
—H+ER (ZEENF N+ZBNATFZEZ
T8 e
(i) BXEZRITE (iii) Capital expenditure and depreciation
BEARFR e
Capital expenditure Depreciation
WEEBETHE in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
MEMEE Property leasing 2,686.1 1,647.3 15.2 14.3
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2 EEERIBER @ 2 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
(b) ihED B (b) Geographical segment
(i) DERARFEE (i) Segment revenue and results
o EBUA DEBEELE
Segment revenue Segment results
B BEETAE in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
55 Group
B8 Hong Kong 2,613.6 8,765.3 2,112.0 5,364.6
=8 PRC 2,082.4 1,787.8 1,703.6 1,408.4
4,696.0 10,553.1 3,815.6 6,773.0
A& R Jointly controlled entities
B Hong Kong 181.1 222.6
(i) DEBEE (ii) Segment assets
LB ESTTE in HK$ million 2009 2008
B Hong Kong 56,128.3 57,319.3
=8 PRC 32,708.0 25,395.8
88,836.3 82,715.1
(i) BAXREZ (iii) Capital expenditure
NAEBBEILTE in HK$ million 2009 2008
&5 Hong Kong 181.9 183.5
=8 PRC 2,504.2 1,463.8
2,686.1 1,647.3
3 HawA 3 OTHER INCOME
%8 Group
NAEBBEEILTE in HK$ million 2009 2008
M BUA Interest income 161.7 284.4
W EEE 2B EUW A Dividend income from listed investments 2.4 2.7
JE LTI EIEE 2 i S U A Dividend income from unlisted investments 0.3 0.8
164.4 2879
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4 BRBIAER 4 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

%8 Group
WEKBAETHHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
BBATDEME NG T54S 8« Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:
BARAENEEZIRITER  Interest on bank loans and other borrowings
FEMEEZFE repayable within 5 years 254.4 408.1
BEMENER Finance lease charges 31.2 37.4
HEmEESH Other borrowing costs 39.3 40.8
EEZ M4eE Total borrowing costs 324.9 486.3
W BEZHEANLE (BsE)  Less: Borrowing costs capitalized (Note) (152.8) (179.7)
M%EER Finance costs 172.1 306.6
B EYEK K Cost of properties sold 8.2 2,404.1
BIRA BIEESREE  Staff costs, including employee share-based payment
A—REB=FT=aRat+&7T expenses of $133.5 million (2008: $132.5 million) 543.7 528.5
ZEENF  —E=F
“BR+ERT)
e Depreciation 15.2 14.3
EEHLNBRH  BIEXRA Operating lease charges, including contingent rents of
HeE—_FTha~TEx $29.6 million (2008: $30.2 million) 117.1 110.9
—EEN\F: =FF
—tE&x
1% B AT BN & Auditors’ remuneration
— ZE R - audit services 8.6 8.4
— B R A A0 AR T - tax and other services 1.6 0.1
WEEFTA - and after crediting:
HEWA  BHBREEYH Rental income less direct outgoings of $872.2 million
NELtT-_BHE=-+ET (2008: $838.9 million), including contingent rentals of
—EENE . \E=TF $179.2 million (2008: $193.8 million) 3,812.6 3,346.8
NBEATERL)  BEFIA
He—EtThBE=T&81
(ZZTN\F | —BILT
ZENAtTET
HEREMET T Profit on disposal of investment properties = 162.8

et REFMEZEEILCEREFES 2281 Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalized at an average rate of 2.7% (2008: 4.4%)
(ZZEZNF: Aoz0HMm) 2 FHERER per annum for properties under development.
{E o
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5 EENSAEEEZME 5 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of four
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Committee makes
recommendation to the Board on the Directors’ remuneration
packages and terms of employment. The emoluments of
Directors are determined by the scope of responsibility and
accountability, and individual performance of directors, taking
into consideration of the Group’s performance and profitability,

market practice and prevailing business conditions.

o

RALFNEZ B S BRIUABIIFNTT
EFX-ZZEBeRNEFERMEHES
¥R MR GRER - EFH
EHRBRBELAHERE  EFEH
RE - BEBARBNKRBRLEFN ™
S EPI RIRITHEBARRMETE

’

ESMEFIIMT

Details of directors’ emoluments are summarized below:

NAEBELTE in HKS million AEEY
Eoic - 1:i RikeitE
REWF= A
Salaries, Group's
allowances ETEA  contributions
#% andbenefits Discretionary to retirement
4 Name Fees in kind bonuses scheme 2009 2008
HTES Executive Directors
[Ee Ronnie C. Chan 0.6 19.6 5.6 2.0 278 35.0
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen 05 18.2 5.2 18 25.7 32.7
RI Terry S. Ng 0.5 9.5 3.4 0.7 14.1 170
FHTES Non-Executive Director
fRéR Gerald L. Chan 0.2 - - - 0.2 0.2
BYUEHTEE  Independent Non-Executive Directors
BHE S.S.Yin 0.4 - - - 0.4 03
G Laura L.Y. Chen 0.6 - - - 0.6 0.4
e H.K. Cheng 07 - - - 0.7 05
BBz Simon S.0. Ip 03 - - - 03 0.2
BiR York Liao 0.3 - - - 0.3 0.2
ZEZhE 2009 4.1 473 14.2 45 70.1 86.5
—EENE 2008 2.8 20.1 61.7 19 86.5
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5 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Other than directors’ emoluments of the Company set out

above, the emolument to a director of the Group's listed

subsidiary, Hang Lung Properties Limited (“"HLP") is analyzed

as below:

ABBEETLE  in HKS million REEY

Eoic - 1:i RINEEE

RENF|= A

Salaries, Group's

allowances WEFEL  contributions

#% andbenefits Discretionary to retirement
4 Name Fees in kind bonuses scheme 2009 2008
SiRE William PY. Ko 0.2 8.4 3.0 0.8 12.4 15.2

B FuiBla o - KA T RIERMEZE  In addition to the above emoluments, certain directors of

TFEEREBEARD R REREHEHRSK
REETEIEE TR0 B - AR E RIBE
Hh 5 () 2 AR An HAME R 15 A B A 3Rk P
FE27(0) R o

ERE&REFALF =R (ZFFN
F:ZR) RARAEEFR B (ZF
TNF:—R) BERMWEEER REZ
B &7 XX R M3 27 (b)#EE - Bfr—
AIR-ZZZNFR-_ZZNF2ZHE
s

the Company and HLP were granted share options under the

share option schemes of the Company and HLP. Details of the
share options granted by the Company and HLP are disclosed
in note 27(b) to the financial statements.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three
(2008: three) are directors of the Company and one (2008:
one) is a director of HLP whose emoluments are disclosed
above and in note 27(b). The emoluments of the other
individual for 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

%£E Group
NAEBEETE in HK$ million 2009 2008
e RMEEYNZ Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2.1 1.1
B FEAL Discretionary bonuses 0.6 0.5
REBERKRSTEIAOME Group's contributions to retirement scheme 0.2 1.5
izt & A Share-based payment expenses 0.9 0.4
3.8 3.5

BE_TTEANFAA=ZTEER-ZZN
FANA=ZTHLFE #HERLAES
KREEITHA BN FRERRER A E
KRB RF B EE -

During the years ended 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2008,
there were no amounts paid to directors and senior executives
above for compensation of loss of office and inducement for
joining the Group.
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6 SEWBERAZBIE 6

(a) HREBBERAZHIES (a)

TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT

Taxation in the consolidated income statement
represents:

%8 Group
NAEBEETTE in HK$ million 2009 2008
REFIA Current tax
BEBNISH Hong Kong Profits Tax 200.8 725.4
BIEEE 2B AIR S Under/(Over)-provision in prior years 13.4 (23.5)
(%1R)
214.2 701.9
H B (> EEFTIS Y PRC Income Tax 301.3 225.3
515.5 9272
IEAEFIE Deferred tax
WEMEZ NFEE Change in fair value of investment properties 1,008.5 2,108.8
EEE MERIERME  Other origination and reversal of temporary differences 91.6 173.1
=5
EBMEEE A —H Effect of change in Hong Kong tax rate
ZIRIERI A A B on deferred tax balances at 1 July - (175.4)
R
A& (FEE19(0)) Total (Note 19(b)) 1,100.1 2,106.5
BIEX HaEst Total income tax expense 1,615.6 3,033.7

FRNS R IRBE IR F R 2 E5HE
ABBHFRABD 2 AR (ZFF
NF:BRZTREDL) GHE - PED
EEBRAETBERRRGTE -

BE_TTNFRA=THILFE
ZEERERARBREAE-_THAN
TEXT(ZZEZNF: —_TN\BEB
7T) BERFABBEAZRREMA o

(b) (b)

134

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%
(2008: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
year. PRC Income Tax is calculated at the rates applicable
in the PRC.

Share of jointly controlled entities’ taxation for the year
ended 30 June 2009 of $24.8 million (2008: $28.0 million)
is included in the share of profits of jointly controlled
entities.
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6 HLZEWBRAZHIE @ 6 TAXATION INTHE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT (continued)

(c) MEZHEBRBAGFABARE (c) Reconciliation between tax expense and profit before

ATECHE taxation at applicable tax rates:
WEEBETHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
R B Al g ) Profit before taxation 7,184.2 17,691.0
AT ADE A LAE AT Z  Tax on profit before taxation at applicable rates 1,709.8 3,332.9
STE 2 FIE
FEMBZERNAmNZ Tax effect of share of profits of jointly controlled entities (24.8) (28.0)
AT
e .:%%RH&U\Z%}EEIE%% Tax effect of non-taxable income (39.6) (90.3)
EH ST B 2 FIEY Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 30.5 75.7
EEHQZE%‘%EEE& Tax effect of tax losses utilized and
H e RS =% other deductible temporary differences (89.6) (83.9)
ZRIAR &
RIER Z%RWFETEZ Tax effect of unrecognized tax losses 19.3 31.2
MIAR
H A, Others (3.4) (5.0)
WBEFEEZ2BELIE Under/(Over)-provision in prior years 13.4 (23.5)
(Z12)
%RT‘%@JQLL@QIEE%H Effect of change in tax rate on opening balance of deferred tax - (175.4)
[yl
ERHIAS N Actual tax expense 1,615.6 3,033.7
7 REEGLF 7 NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLETO
SHAREHOLDERS
PR EE AN BIERARBKHREZA 2 Net profit attributable to shareholders includes a profit of
WA =FE_FNANE=1T&E;x (ZZEZ $1,328.3 million (2008: $1,003.6 million) which has been dealt
NE: HREE=ZFT8T) - with in the financial statements of the Company.
8 RKE 8 DIVIDENDS
(a) mXEERE (a) Dividends attributable to the year
NABEBEETTE in HK$ million 2009 2008

DEMERDIETEIRE  Interim dividend declared and paid of 16.5 cents
BRI (=2 (2008: 16.5 cents) per share 220.2 220.1
TNEF - AREAM)

REEE BB REIA% 2 Final dividend of 54 cents (2008: 54 cents) per share
FRAE+TTWL (ZZEZ  proposed after the balance sheet date 720.5 720.4
J\E - AL

940.7 940.5

REEZEHERIKZ RERKRE - WEER  The final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date has
REEBZAE - not been recognized as a liability at the balance sheet date.

(b) ZZEZENFHHRFREZHEZTFTZE (b) The final dividend of $720.4 million for financial year

M+E8TREAREERZZTEZTN 2008 was approved and paid in financial year 2009 (2008:
Eﬂﬁﬂlifgﬁt}‘%&/ﬁ% (ZZZEN $620.2 million).

FANEZTEZFET) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 BREX 9 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) BREARAREBERFIIZATNEIE (a) The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is
ETE based on the following data:

WEKBAETHHE in HK$ million 2009 2008

FUETESREARKLEE Earnings for calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share
BR| 2 BF (net profit attributable to shareholders) 2,637.9 7516.3
(BNRRER FE (L 4B H))

& E
Number of shares

LB ERE in million 2009 2008
AUGtESRERETF]  Weighted average number of shares used in calculating

2 B0 hnkE ¥ 8 basic earnings per share 1,334.2 1,333.8
BESEIER ZBERI)  Effect of dilutive potential shares — share options 13.9 18.5

T8 — R HE

R EGIREERT]  Weighted average number of shares used in calculating

2P0 NkE S5 85 diluted earnings per share 1,348.1 1,352.3

(b) BREREEEARGRN (TEEREY  (b) The underlying net profit attributable to shareholders

FNTEES  WHREBELER which excluded changes in fair value of investment
BRLHBRRER) 2FTEWT - properties net of related deferred tax and minority

interests, is calculated as follows:

WEKBAETHHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
5% B8 FE () 4t 7] Net profit attributable to shareholders 2,637.9 7516.3
"EYE 2 N EE Effect of changes in fair value of investment properties (3,644.0) (11,164.2)
2/ 48
=
MEEELERIB 2 Effect of corresponding deferred tax 1,008.5 1,944.7
AL NTINIREYE S, Effect of change in fair value of investment properties net of
NEEEHWINRIERE  related deferred tax of jointly controlled entities (93.1) (143.1)
BT IE 2 o2

(2,728.6) (9,362.6)
LHIRE T Minority interests 1,544.8 4.401.0

(1,183.8)  (4,961.6)

% B3 FE (i EE AN AT R Underlying net profit attributable to shareholders 1,454.1 2,554.7
BERREGEERNENGFE ZGRAT] The earnings per share based on underlying net profit
B attributable to shareholders are:

2009 2008
HAK Basic $1.09 $1.92
s Diluted $1.08 $1.89
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10 BEEE - &E

10 FIXED ASSETS - GROUP

BEH
REME
Investment
REME  properties
Investment under Hi A&t
UAERETHE in HK$ million properties development Others Total
RAESE Cost or valuation:
R-ZZZ+&+A—H At 1 July 2007 52,539.2 3,973.8 352.5 56,865.5
fE 54,392 (P ) Exchange adjustment (Note) 1,645.0 366.3 1.8 2,013.1
NE Additions 2978 1,318.0 315 1,647.3
B E Reclassification 722.1 - - 722.1
HeE Disposals (232.0) - (2.3) (234.3)
AEEEMN Increase in fair value 11,164.2 - - 11,164.2
RIZEZN\FERSA=ZTHK At 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008 66,136.3 5,658.1 383.5 72,1779
—“EZ\E+HA—H
SRS Exchange adjustment (Note) - 1176 - 1176
NE Additions 1779 2,474.0 34.2 2,686.1
E iyl Reclassification - (679.6) - (679.6)
HE Disposals - - (4.3) (4.3)
NFEEA Increase in fair value 3,644.0 - - 3,644.0
R-ZEAERA=1H At 30 June 2009 69,958.2 7,570.1 4134 77,941.7
ZEE Accumulated depreciation:
RZZZ+F+A—H At 1 July 2007 - - 265.8 265.8
AEEHE Charge for the year - - 14.3 14.3
A ER#E Written back on disposals - - (2.2) (2.2)
RZZEFNFERXA=TER  At30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008 - - 2779 2779
“TENF+A—H
AEEHE Charge for the year - - 15.2 15.2
R ERD Written back on disposals - - (4.3) (4.3)
RZZEZAERA=1H At 30 June 2009 - - 288.8 288.8
R Net book value:
R-ZEAERA=1H At 30 June 2009 69,958.2 7,570.1 124.6 77,652.9
RZEZNFRA=TH At 30 June 2008 66,136.3 5,658.1 105.6 71,900.0
ETEERNA=TAZ Cost or valuation of the fixed assets
AEREENT - at 30 June is made up as follows:
“EZhE: 2009:
e Valuation 69,958.2 - = 69,958.2
PRAE Cost = 7,570.1 413.4 7,983.5
69,958.2 7570.1 413.4 77941.7
—EENE: 2008:
fhE Valuation 66,136.3 - - 66,136.3
B%NE Cost - 5,658.1 3835 6,041.6
66,136.3 5,658.1 383.5 72,1779

MiaE - BIBH 1SS 2 AEE S HE - XEE  Note: In accordance with the Group's accounting policy in note 1(s), balance sheet

ZHREBZEEREREAR (BERTEE)
TREAAZERSRERET - ARETEE

items in the PRC operations of the Group, including fixed assets, are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet

ZERZBEO R AE LM -

date. The exchange difference relating to fixed assets has been dealt with in the
exchange reserve.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 BEEE — ;I.E (#&) 10 FIXED ASSETS - GROUP (continued)
MEZREFEITNT - An analysis of net book value of properties is as follows:
BREPIREME
WEMZE Investment properties
Investment properties  under development
WEKBAETAHE in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
HFEREME Long leases in Hong Kong 30,445.2 30,962.1 = 679.6
EEEINREH 2 Long leases outside Hong Kong 1,096.0 1,053.0 2,992.2 2,388.2
EET 22 Medium term leases in Hong Kong 14,404.0 14,730.2 - -
B EH N B 22 Medium term leases outside
Hong Kong 23,925.0 19,255.0 4,577.9 2,590.3
NS h e Short lease in Hong Kong 88.0 136.0 = -
69,958.2 ©66,136.3 7,570.1 5,658.1

(a)

138

AEBIREMEAR_FTZFNF
NAZTHRAE - KFREHEE
MBEXBEREBRARZEMEEA
B (EXRE) REBEELELSZ
ZHFEREAMHERE I
SRARGERENREET R Z
AR EET T -

AEBREVMEZRIFHENRTE
REMEBVOFAZEE - EF@
FEANTHE=TABEET (=
ZENF O+ OEET A&
JT) °

AEEEMEEEEZFRIFEER
BUNEBARPIZ L F BRI
PARR B3t 2245 8 1O + 3 N2 Y oy
RIB/NAENTET (ZEENEF:
NBATERT) E-TEAXRTS
T(ZEZNEFE: —ThAARETE
JT) °

FR-ANELThBEATETZHE
ERREDVEZEFDBRLSFED
=,

MEHERSEBREEREME 2HE
WARBEN+RENTEHENA+S
T(ZEENF  O+—FBNATH
Btt&T) -

(a)

Investment properties of the Group carried at fair value
were revalued as at 30 June 2009 by Mr Charles C.K.
Chan, Registered Professional Surveyor (General Practice),
of Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited,

on an open market value basis with reference to the

net rental income after taking into account reversionary
income potential.

The net book value of investment properties of the Group
includes an amount of $4,439.0 million (2008: $4,441.0
million) in respect of an asset held under a finance lease.

The net book value of other fixed assets of the Group
included long leases of $9.8 million (2008: $9.9 million)
in respect of land and building held in Hong Kong and
medium term leases of $27.6 million (2008: $19.5 million)
in respect of land and buildings held outside Hong Kong
respectively.

During the year, an investment property under
development amounting to $679.6 million was reclassified
as properties for sale.

Property leasing revenue includes gross rental income

from investment properties of $4,684.8 million (2008:
$4,185.7 million).
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10 BEIEEE — &8 «w)

(b)

AEBRBELXBOLEMZHE
MODHEREYE - ZSHEO—
RFRIM_Z=RF - HPHHA
REORBEY  EREMHEIA K
Ko REBLBEE STAEN R
SFBHEE 2GR MAKEEF
BE—ELPINBORRED - &
THOBEXAEE - H2REP
ZWATMETE e

RANAZ1+8 » ZEBERETAIHE
He EEROKIRRZRKREE
MEEIN R

10
(b)

FIXED ASSETS - GROUP (Continued)

The Group leases out its investment properties under
operating leases and subleases under finance lease.
Leases typically run for an initial period of two to five
years, with some having the option to renew, at which
time all terms are renegotiated. Long term leases contain
rent review or adjustment clauses and the Group has a
regular proportion of its leases up for renewal each year.
Certain leases include contingent rentals calculated with
reference to the revenue of tenants.

At 30 June, the Group’s total future minimum lease
income under non-cancellable operating leases were as
follows:

H a4

SaRE Other 4BEt
Subleases leases Total

BB BEEILTE in HK$ million 2009
—F R Within 1 year 356.6 3,424.4 3,781.0
—FRERFA After 1 year but within 5 years 559.5 3,215.1 3,774.6
AFE After 5 years - 202.9 202.9
916.1 6,842.4 7,758.5

2008
—FR Within 1 year 265.2 3,473.5 3,738.7
—FRERFRA After 1 year but within 5 years 518.5 3,238.5 3,757.0
hFiE After 5 years - 21.1 21.1
783.7 6,733.1 7,516.8
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11 B ARIER

11 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

A 7] Company

NAEEETTE in HK$ million 2009 2008
LT - RAE Unlisted shares, at cost 165.7 165.7
FEUTBT B A B EF BB Amounts due from subsidiaries less provision 13,366.2 12,575.9

13,531.9 12,741.6

TEMBAR ZFAMERF N EIS

FEU, FEAS T /BB A B SR IE R AR AR
2B RERTEERY - MEABBHZER
HERAR+T ZEARTEE EFE
& BOWERBEE A -

12 6 PNAERS

Details of principal subsidiaries are set out in note 33.

Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest
bearing with no fixed terms of repayment and classified as
non-current assets/liabilities as they are not expected to be
recoverable/repayable within the next twelve months.

12 INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES

%8 Group A\ Company

NAKBEETHE in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
FE LR - KA Unlisted shares, at cost - - 5.4 5.4
EIEEEFE Share of net assets 641.3 4974 = -
641.3 4974 5.4 5.4

JEWE &R RIFRIA Amounts due from jointly
controlled entities 871.5 9374 7.3 6.9

FERT& & REIHIE Amounts due to jointly

controlled entities (13.0) (12.9) (7.1) (7.1)
1,499.8 1,421.9 5.6 52

EERELARRERBREAATLE T8
T(ZZEZNEFE: "TEtAE—-t8T)
B BR=TOEETET (ZZEZEN
F-TNENTERL WEEKAZAR
AR T IS MR BIN - U ()
BERAFEAYSEER RS NER
EESRE  MERMZERETERAKR
REZEARWKEEE - BOEIER
BEE/AfF-
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Amounts due from jointly controlled entities included a
provision of $67.1 million (2008: $67.1 million). Except for the
amount due from a jointly controlled entity of $34.7 million
(2008: $18.8 million) which is interest-bearing at market rate,
amounts due from/(to) jointly controlled entities are unsecured,
non-interest bearing with no fixed terms of repayment and
classified as non-current assets/liabilities as they are not
expected to be recoverable/repayable within the next twelve
months.
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12 E&DAEER @

EBAEAF L FHMERHN KIS -

AEBREGERR ZRENHAMBEE

12 INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENT'T'ES (Continued)

Details of principal jointly controlled entities are set out in note
34. The summary financial information related to the Group's

BT - interest in jointly controlled entities are as follows:
WEEBETHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
IEREEE Non-current assets 1,632.0 1,649.8
REEE Current assets 123.3 146.4
EmEBaE Non-current liabilities (1,063.6) (1,234.5)
UE RN Current liabilities (50.4) (64.3)
BEFE Net assets 641.3 4974
WA Revenue 171.1 123.1
REE Profit for the year 181.1 222.6
13 HiEE 13 OTHER ASSETS

%8 Group
WEKBAETAHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
BB ELTRE (H5E(@@) Unlisted investments in Hong Kong (Note (a)) 0.2 0.2
B TIELTIREATHEM Advances to unlisted investee companies less provision 10.8 12.6

11.0 12.8
REBZ FTKRE  EHE Listed investments in Hong Kong at market value 70.0 66.5
RIBE K Mortgage loans 11.5 20.5
mEE (b)) Intangible assets (Note (b)) 1,181.8 1,063.7

1,274.3 1,163.5

B3 Notes:

(a) AR IE LIRS W\ A IRE B WIS L EE T 5 (a)
RERETHQAFE  FHIREAINRRE
(anF) ABE °

Unlisted investments are carried at cost less impairment, if any, as they do not
have a quoted market price in an active market to determine their fair value.

) EBREEST—ENT-BNTELT(ZZEZ (b
NE:HRATFZEELTEL) 282
BERAEENEMBARERBEARAT
(MEREME ) 2 BAESIEMMEE —E—T
NBE—TELTZEE (ZTTNF: RE-T
NBRTEL) - AREREEME 2 ERh
—EEN\FERAZTRZANZA T —HNE
MEZZZAFRNA=ZTHAZEAZATZH
o RFEHR ARESLERHEET KL S
HEMATRENR  WERSRE -

Intangible assets represent goodwill of $1,181.8 million (2008: $1,063.7 million)
including additions of $118.1 million (2008: $619.5 million) arising from the Group's
additions in equity interests in its subsidiary, Hang Lung Properties Limited
("HLP"). The Group's interest in HLP increased from 51.9% at 30 June 2008 to
52.7% at 30 June 2009. As at year end, an impairment test was performed by
comparing the goodwill with the recoverable amount and no impairment was
recorded.
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14 FEURRR R H 1l FE K
BT A AR A R L A B R 2 W B

14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Included in trade and other receivables are trade receivables

HEARRSTAOT - with the following terms:
%8 Group
NAKBEETE in HK$ million 2009 2008
HEE—EAR Current and within 1 month 411.4 1,071.8
—Z==1@A 1 — 3 months 3.2 3.0
=EAE Over 3 months 54.2 5.6
468.8 1,080.4

KEDFEHENRUBEIRE S HHE
MIRREE - HERXNHEEZSING
FHEAAREEEMENAE - AEEE
HIBE R B WGRIA R AR B LD IR - PAR
EEERREEREK - BRAKBEMER
ZWEHEIN - AEBE L Eh It TR
HEENERR R-ZETAFR-F
ZENFRA=ZTH  RERBEBHREL
TERK

Proceeds from property sales are receivable pursuant to the
terms of the sale and purchase agreements. In addition to
the payment of rental deposits, tenants are required to pay
monthly rents in respect of leased properties in advance.
Receivables are regularly monitored and closely followed

up to minimize any credit risk. Except for sale of properties
developed by the Group, it does not hold any collateral over
these balances. The balance of bad and doubtful debts as at
30 June 2009 and 2008 is insignificant.

15 FEWE 15 PROPERTIES FOR SALE
%8 Group
NAKBEETE in HK$ million 2009 2008
FEREPYE — REME Properties under development for sale — long leases
— &5 - Hong Kong 760.2 42.7
HEDEAYE — RHIME Completed properties for sale — medium term leases
— &8 - Hong Kong 6,949.0  6,800.8
— BAEIN — Outside Hong Kong 4.8 4.9
6,953.8 6,805.7
7714.0 6,848.4

HERRBYEBEHE—FERR -
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The properties under development for sale are expected to be
recovered after more than one year.
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16 RITERK
RN A =+ REIERRITER 225K
T

16 BANK LOANS
At 30 June, bank loans were unsecured and repayable as
follows:

&£ E Group

WEKBETHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
—F sk BNER Within 1 year or on demand 800.0 1,000.0
—FRERFER After 1 year but within 2 years 1,023.5 700.0
MEEZRERFR After 2 years but within 5 years 8,194.1 7.381.3
9,217.6 8,081.3
S REESS BB R Less: unamortized front end fees (51.2) (41.7)
9,166.4 8,039.6
9,966.4 9,039.6

FA- ABARITEFHRTH=ZEE X
BNE (ZEENEF: —HEEtE)
FREETE o

AREBZETEEX DU BHZORS
SZEVBRYOBERANEERMERREZ
REAREAEFETFERREEGLR
BEREEFEZLEIERRREK
FoFR AREDEE2ETELERZY

RZZEZENFARNAZ+TH AEEH
B-EENEETRBEET (ZEEN
F:—AH-TBATAEERL) AHH
BRITEGEEE -

17 —EFNFIAHZFERE
FERERARRZHEDRAELT - 1t
FEMERBESRAFNRELAS
RFE  BEFETHAEE=HNE
(ZZTN\F: —H—EERH—E) it
B YERZEENFE+ - ABHEE
FRBRENBRAKARRREMDE 2
5 o

RZBZEANFARA=1TH BRULESR
RE2HN - AEB YW B E M REER
HE B30T B R B S AT AT ©

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09

All bank loans are interest-bearing at rates ranging from 0.3%
t0 6.8% (2008: 1.1% to 7.0%) per annum during the year.

Certain of the Group’s borrowings are attached with financial
covenants which require that at any time, the Group's
consolidated tangible net worth is not less than and the
ratio of borrowings to consolidated tangible net worth is not
more than certain required levels. During the year, all these
covenants have been complied with by the Group.

At 30 June 2009, the Group had $20,476.0 million (2008:
$11,096.0 million) committed undrawn banking facilities.

17 FLOATING RATE NOTES DUE 2009

The floating rate notes were issued by the Company's
subsidiary. These notes are guaranteed as to principal and
interest by Hang Lung Properties Limited, bear interest
ranging from 0.6% to 3.6% (2008: 2.1% to 5.1%) per annum
during the year, repayable in full in December 2009 and have
no rights of conversion into shares of the Company or any
other body corporate.

At 30 June 2009, except for the above floating rate note, the

Group has no other outstanding fixed or floating rate notes or
convertible bonds.
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18 ENERERRHEMESR 18 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
&1# Group A &] Company
NEEBELAE in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
R R FERTE R Creditors and accrued expenses 1,276.4 1,150.7 7.2 5.7
(P 5E(a)) (Note (a))
2UIZE (FFE(b)) Deposits received (Note (b)) 1,111.1 1,033.0 = -
2,387.5 2,183.7 7.2 5.7

BT Notes:

(a) ERZREEFEREEBERN—FATSEN () Creditors and accrued expenses include retention money payable of $68.0 million
ZREBREATNEELT (ZEENF: —F (2008: $10.5 million) which is not expected to be settled within one year.
TRTET) -

(b) BRZESNE-_TZB=_+tET(ZZEZN\ (b Deposits received of $922.2 million (2008: $671.5 million) are not expected to be
F:RNEEtF-—EBR+ERL EHER—FRT settled within one year.

BEM -

EEFABENERREAMEMNKZEME  Included in trade and other payables are trade creditors with

FEEBRRITAT - the following ageing analysis:

%£E Group
NAEBEETTE in HK$ million 2009 2008
— & A AEIH Due within 1 month 734.5 682.2
=1 A1 5 & Due after 3 months 108.8 56.6

843.3 738.8

19 REEEEBXRLZFHE 19 TAXATION IN THE BALANCE SHEETS
(a) AEHIE (a) Current taxation

%8 Group
NAEEETTE in HK$ million 2009 2008
EEFESHEBE Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax 200.8 725.4
AR FTS T R Provision for PRC Income Tax 110.9 124.2
NFFEZENESE Hong Kong Profits Tax payable relating to prior years 577.0 32.2

SR

888.7 881.8
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19 REEEEBRLZFHIE »

19 TAXATION IN THE BALANCE SHEETS (continued)

(b) IEFERIRE (b) Deferred taxation
%8 Group
NABEBEBEILE in HK$ million 2009 2008
EEREAE Deferred tax liabilities 8,561.9 7434.2
EERIBEE Deferred tax assets (61.4) (33.8)
RIETHIEA B 58 Net deferred tax liabilities 8,500.5 7.400.4

REFREERER LBERZELHAR
&/ (BE) MARRFRZEEHIT :

The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognized
in the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during
the year are as follows:

WEBBETHE in HK$ million NESFES
PR & ERH
Depreciation BEEE
allowances in ZBRERE
excess of MEE Future
related  Revaluation  benefit of Hit B
EREHEEAR : Deferred tax arising from: depreciation of properties  tax losses Others Total
R-EE+F+A—H At 1 July 2007 7170 4,424.7 (43.6) (30.9) 5,067.2
E’\fﬁfﬁWﬂJ[‘? Charged to reserve 48.4 1783 - - 226.7
Rz AR R% (FsE6(a) Charged to consolidated
income statement (Note 6(a)) 1211 1,944.7 22.3 18.4 2,106.5
RZZEZENEAA=1TER At 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008 886.5 6,5477 (21.3) (12.5) 7400.4
“ZEN\FtA—H
WAl R AR /(BA)  Charged/(Credited) to consolidated
GEGED income statement (Note 6(a)) 119.2 1,008.5 (10.8) (16.8) 1,100.1
RZBEAFRA=TH At 30 June 2009 1,005.7 7556.2 (32.1) (29.3) 8,500.5

(c) FAERZELEHRIEEE

RNEE SRS TH B A 7] &8 AR
B -+ EB=-FREA~TET(=ZF
ZENF: - EB=ZFT—-BHRE+ET)
ﬁﬁ%%%?i%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ
R EAR_TEEAFA=+H 7
%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%é%%a&@%ﬁ%ﬂm
THEE - EBEAEBORBEENER
B RIS A IR B0 R e - iR BRI AY
MEEENRNEEeTFEEAFED

B o
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(c) Deferred tax assets not recognized

The Group has not recognized deferred tax assets in respect
of tax losses of $2,225.6 million (2008: $2,131.5 million)
sustained in the operations of certain subsidiaries as the
availability of future taxable profits against which the assets
can be utilized is not probable at 30 June 2009. The tax losses
arising from Hong Kong operations do not expire under current
tax legislation. The tax losses arising from the PRC operations
expire five years after the relevant accounting year end date.
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20 BhEENRIE 20 FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS
MEMYOFRIEMNZESEBELHEEFME  Total minimum lease payments under finance lease and their
wr present values are as follows:

£ Group

RLEMN  BRARR
ZHEE  FEA
ZHE ZMBER RLIEM

X
Present Interest L 4EEE
value of  expenses Total
minimum relating ~ minimum
lease to future lease
payments periods  payments
BB BEETTHE in HK$ million 2009
e &8 Amounts payable
—&FR Within 1 year 105.8 24.2 130.0
—FRERFER After 1 year but within 5 years 287.2 24.3 3115
393.0 48.5 4415
2008
AN Amounts payable
—FR Within 1 year 94.1 31.2 125.3
—FEREREFER After 1 year but within 5 years 393.0 485 4415
4871 79.7 566.8

MEHOFREZEREMRA+HE (= The effective interest rate of the finance lease obligations is

TZENF  £E) - 7% (2008: 7%) per annum.
21 R 21 SHARE CAPITAL
2009 2008
f&1n e B & & B
(BER) (BBR)
Number Number
of shares B A& of shares BERET
(Million) HK$ million (Million) HK$ million
JETE Authorized
SIREE—TT Shares of $1 each 2,000.0 2,000.0 2,000.0 2,000.0
BEITRER Issued and fully paid
RntEAR—H At 1 July 1,334.0 1,334.0 1,333.6 1,333.6
MR R () BRfE T 2 Shares issued under share
E: e n) option scheme 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4
WANA=+8 At 30 June 1,334.3 1,334.3 1,334.0 1,334.0
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22 f#E

22 RESERVES

£ Group ‘A @] Company
NABEBEETETE in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
& 175 (B Share premium
ntA—H At 1 July 2,245.7 2,240.4 2,245.7 2,240.4
TR, Issue of shares 1.8 4.3 1.8 4.3
& B i% {0 Bt 18 7 Employee share option benefits 0.3 1.0 0.3 1.0
RNA=+H At 30 June 2,247.8 2,245.7 2,247.8 2,245.7
JEB{HA &R T Share of capital reserves of jointly
BN controlled entities
REA—A At 1 July 0.4 0.7 - -
FREM,(BE) Increased/(Released) during the year 0.3 (0.3) - -
BNA=1+H At 30 June 0.7 0.4 - _
B NS O] R Capital redemption reserve
REA—HE/SA=1+H At 1 July and 30 June 26.1 26.1 26.1 26.1
WEEHEFEE Investment revaluation reserve
REA—A At 1 July 4.9 17.9 - -
R EAFE Increase/(Decrease) in fair value
#, Ced) of listed investments 35 (13.0) - -
RNA=+H At 30 June 8.4 4.9 - -
BE 3, (7 g Exchange reserve
ntEH—H At 1 July 956.6 15.3 = -
MEEIMNBATIBRIE  Exchange difference arising from
EAEZERZR translation of overseas subsidiaries 68.8 941.3 = -
BNA=1H At 30 June 1,025.4 956.6 = -
EERMOHERE Employee share-based compensation
reserve
»tEA—H At 1 July 155.5 86.5 61.8 427
EEREEMA Employee share-based payment
expenses 77.4 79.1 15.3 23.3
TR RE Transfer to share premium (0.3) (1.0) (0.3) (1.0)
EBRERE RN Transfer to retained profits (5.7) (7.5) - (3.2)
O# /(=) & Transfer from/(to) minority interests 1.0 (1.6) - -
DE R RS
RANA=1H At 30 June 227.9 155.5 76.8 61.8
TREES General reserve
MWHA—BE/SA=+H At 1 July and 30 June 275.0 275.0 861.6 861.6
REEF Retained profits
-t A—H At 1 July 31,783.4 25,099.9 7,912.2 7.745.7
AN LR Net profit for the year 2,637.9 7,516.3 1,328.3 1,003.6
KFEERARE Final dividend in respect of
previous year (720.4) (620.2) (720.4) (620.2)
REEHERE Interim dividend in respect of
current year (220.2) (220.1) (220.2) (220.1)
m{EE M HEEHEE A Transfer from employee share-based
compensation reserve 5.7 7.5 = 3.2
RNA=+H At 30 June 33,486.4 31,7834 8,299.9 7,912.2
37,297.7 35,447.6 11,512.2 11,107.4
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22 RESERVES (continued)

The retained profits for the Group at 30 June 2009 included
$22.2 million in respect of statutory reserves of the PRC
subsidiaries.

The application of the share premium account and the capital
redemption reserve are governed by Section 48B and Section
49H of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance respectively. The
investment revaluation reserve comprises the cumulative net
change on the fair value of available-for-sale securities held at
the balance sheet date and is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies in note 1(i). The general reserve was
derived from retained profits and is distributable. The exchange
reserve represents the exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of overseas subsidiaries.
The employee share-based compensation reserve comprises
the fair value of share options granted which are yet to be
exercised, as explained in note 1(v).

The aggregate amount of the Company's reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company at 30 June
2009 was $9,161.5 million (2008: $8,773.8 million).

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits to other stakeholders, and to secure access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholders’ returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in the light of changes in the Group’s business
portfolio and economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing its

gearing ratio and cash flow requirements, taking into account
its future financial obligations and commitments. The gearing
ratio represents the proportion of net debt to equity plus net
debt. Net debt represents bank loans, floating rate notes and
finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits with banks.
Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and minority interests.
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22 ﬁ{ﬁ (%) 22 RESERVES (continued)

BEXREE (4) Capital management (Continued)
RZZFZNFAAA=THZAEZXARH The gearing ratio as at 30 June 2009 is 3% (2008: 0.4%).
D= (ZFZTN\F : BH2ZEM) - Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to

RATSHEEAMERR L | EIMNE  externally imposed capital requirements.
BEATRZBRR -

23 VEBRERER 23 MINORITY INTERESTS
%8 Group

NAEEETE in HK$ million 2009 2008
s = At 1 July 35,274.8 29,394.4
NEZLHRRERS Profit attributable to minority interests for the year 2,930.7 7.141.0

FEAE & A
D EARER B Dividends paid to minority interests (1,306.7) (1,177.0)
Big LI R HIE Repayment to minority interests (90.7) (103.2)
AAREEEE THIE AR Decrease in minority interests arising from increase

ZHRRERINmMESVEL  of the Group's shareholding in certain subsidiaries (605.3) (907.6)

&y
e G Share of reserves 107.0 9272
WNA=+H At 30 June 36,309.8 35,274.8

DERRER BN ERAEE (B Minority interests represent the equity interests and the share

NAZ1TH) EEEHmBENHEARA  of profit or loss attributable to outside shareholders in respect

R AKESS N B S FI B8 - 3E2 &% of its various subsidiaries that were not wholly-owned by the

EMB AR T EHRERMERRATKL Group as at 30 June which are mainly Hang Lung Properties

ETHELBREMEZHBLAG - Limited and certain of its subsidiaries that hold investment
properties in Shanghai.
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24 FmEBERERKEE 24 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT
(a) RERKEXKZ2RE (a) Cash generated from operations
WEKBAETHHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
KR4 Az ) Profit before taxation 7.184.2 17.691.0
FHEE Adjustments for:
2 U A Interest income (161.7) (284.4)
B8 H Finance costs 172.1 306.6
e Depreciation 15.2 14.3
AW AEZ AN Increase in fair value of investment properties (3,644.0) (11,164.2)
EhEeEREEF Share of profits of jointly controlled entities (181.1) (222.6)
EEREER Employee share-based payment expenses 133.5 132.5
HEREWMEZEHM Profit on disposal of investment properties - (162.8)
E H =58 Exchange difference - 8.9
FEWME L (38h) F L (Increase)/Decrease in properties for sale (63.7) 2,175.8
BB ERZ /D Decrease in mortgage loans 9.3 11.9
FEWBRF R E A fEURFL  Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 585.5 (622.7)
2w ()
ENZRETER (Decrease)/Increase in creditors and accrued expenses (167.0) 110.9
A /1 hn
2R S 23N Increase in deposits received 78.1 165.0
REKEEK RS Cash generated from operations 3,960.4 8,260.2
(b) RERELSEZEY (b) Cash and cash equivalents
B BEBTAE in HK$ million 2009 2008
SAEBEABEXRAOIE  Cash and deposits with banks in the consolidated
MARITER balance sheet 9,631.7 10,738.1
B M= A%F)EIM  Less: Bank deposits with maturity greater than three months - (699.5)
HRITIFH
GFAEIMERERNISE  Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated
LIREEEBY cash flow statement 9,631.7 10,038.6

REEEABRIZBSMEITHERIZTFE  Cash and deposits with banks in the consolidated balance

HRESF—BAE (ZZEZN\F : = sheet are interest bearing at an average rate of 1.6% (2008:
BhE)FR - 3.5%) per annum.
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25 HAEE 25 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
RANA=THZHABERT : At 30 June, contingent liabilities were as follows:

~a] Company
LAOBEEH BT E in HK$ million 2009 2008

BB A TP ES 2 8877 Guarantees given to banks to secure credit facilities
EEmiRM 2 IR drawn by subsidiaries 5,324.7 4,628.8

RARWEBRMB AR 2 EELHEAMIR  The Company has not recognized any deferred income for
TEEREZEREREMELZWA - the guarantees given in respect of borrowings and other bank
HAzSEERBITEEZAFEREE  facilities for subsidiaries as their fair value cannot be reliably
AT E REXNZE (ZEZ/\F :  measured and their transaction price was $Nil (2008: $Nil).
") -

26 FiE 26 COMMITMENTS
(a) RANA=ZTHEARRTBEH®EREE (a) At 30 June, capital commitments not provided for in the
ZEREENT financial statements were as follows:
%8 Group
NAKBEETE in HK$ million 2009 2008
B4 Contracted for 4,460.4 2,405.2
BB REL Authorized but not contracted for 17,990.7 14,4875

22,451.1 16,892.7

FHEEEIEAERAEBRNFRHZME The above commitments include mainly the land costs and

WHBREIREMESEL 2 LKA construction related costs to be incurred in respect of the

MM o Group's development of its investment properties in various
cities in the PRC.

(b) AEERBTFAEMmZTAHE (b) The Group leases certain properties under non-cancellable

EEMNMERETYE - & THY operating leases expiring within ten years. Certain leases
BIESZEYERAMEE 2 AE include contingent rentals calculated with reference to
& RANAZTH  RERKIER revenue from the properties. At 30 June, total future
SO - minimum lease payments were as follows:
%£E Group
WEKBAETHHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
—FR Within 1 year 91.7 80.7
—FRERFA After 1 year but within 5 years 138.5 212.6
230.2 293.3
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27 EE®A

(a) EBIKER
AEBEAERERIATETHIEKRS
e ZFE T EER— MBI
RAIZEANEE  THEEXESKEE
B-HEAEECEESHERE -

BENEEVZEEZEAF S ZET
BOLER - BREBES LERREFEM
BATRE - EERENAEHESFAEHE
AT R B %At 8 - BB R Wz i3k TD
BAFTEIES ZHER - AEERETF
REOKFMERIEARKEEER
ZiEEBRAEZEKERP - AEBAH
BN PR DB BEFERAAREE
I DAL 75 SRR R » AEBRF R
ZHFEBES-TNEANTELT (ZF
ZNEFE: —TREO+ERT) MBEA
e S REREBRBS=TET
(ZZENF: XTET) -

—IEEREFERIEAERFE ([981E
ZETE) BRI IR BB AR S
wmER - BIREEDHZEE ZEA
BERAWA(ERAZET) 2EHZH
TER R BIMEHRR - REBEZHAE2H
LA RBNER 2RFPILI REEHE
AtEINZ RE D - ARERAFERN
BB HAEBRS_ AN TET
(ZZEZENF: ZB—T&T) °

HRAEE ZRARESFE T —HEH L
RS HRPIR B SRIRET 8] (TR
Katdl]) - BRAGE Eaiag st 8
ZHREBERER - M EER —RIEE
B2 HEBRRAG B EETE -
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27 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a) Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution provident fund
scheme for its employees. The assets of this scheme are

held separately from those of the Group by an independent
corporate trustee and managed by professional fund managers.

Contributions are made by both the employer and the
employees at a certain percentage of employees’ basic
salaries, the percentage varying with their length of service.
When an employee leaves the scheme prior to his or her
interest in the Group’s contributions being fully vested,
forfeited contributions are credited to reserves of the fund.
Depending on the level of reserves, the Group may direct
the trustee to credit dividends to members’ accounts out of
the reserves of the fund. The Group's contributions may be
reduced by the forfeited contributions, but there was no such
reduction of the Group’s contributions during the year. Total
contributions made by the Group for the year amounted to
$18.8 million (2008: $16.4 million) and forfeited sums credited
to reserves amounted to $0.3 million (2008: $0.6 million).

A master trust Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) is operated by an independent service provider.
Mandatory contributions are made by both the employer and
the employees at 5% of the employees’ monthly relevant
income, up to a limit of $20,000. The Group’s contributions will
be fully and immediately vested in the employees’ accounts as
their accrued benefits in the scheme. Total MPF contributions
made by the Group for the year amounted to $2.4 million
(2008: $2.1 million).

As the Group's provident fund scheme is an MPF Exempted
Occupational Retirement Scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”),
eligibility for membership of the ORSO and MPF schemes is
identical. New employees are offered a one-off option to join
either the ORSO or the MPF scheme.
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27 BEREA @

(a) EARER 2

ARNBETRELEBHBAR £
& 8 Jyrh B % 3 7 AT BT 4 9t 2 R 4K
BREE ([PERKBENGE) 2K
B o S AWE QR EAE S E—
B DREECZIHLEIEZETS
B+ 1) B3R AR I 5 B4R H 4 R UA 4E
RRKEFES  MPEE TR
REZETEWBLRZAERMEE
RRARZEBEZRABHMEE - ZED
B B A IR AR E R 2 ke %E
AE—FE=+BIT(ZTTN\F: B

i —

=+&7T) °

(b) BHOHEREF

b /N |
RARABIR_EETF+—HAZ+HEAR
SR EARERTE o WETEIREARARE
ERMEREALT (BEAEEREM
NAIZER) BTROHBAERBEERAF
B o RO EAETFEEREERRET
A& 1D BR#ERT R TE - W MZB B EE -
RETERBRG 2 WHERE TR AE
EERAZFHUME=BFP2HRE -
e HER - TEHAERSH RN
HEAREROCHEHYHESTRNE
FEERE o

18fE b E B R 2 &
RARMBAREEMERR AR ([1B
EwE) R-FEE_F+—-—H-+=H
AR HARERT & o WA EIIREEE M
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SEATARABZES) KTk HE
RBEEMEZ KD - RO EEITEE
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27 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(a) Retirement benefits (Continued)

Staff in the Company’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC,

are members of a retirement benefits scheme (the “PRC

RB Scheme") operated by the local municipal government

in the PRC. The only obligation of the PRC subsidiaries is to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the PRC RB
Scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal
government in the PRC undertakes to assume the retirement
benefits obligations of all existing and future retired employees
of the PRC subsidiaries. Total contributions made by the PRC
subsidiaries for the year amounted to $10.3 million (2008: $9.3
million).

(b) Equity compensation benefits

The Company

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted
on 24 November 2000, whereby the Board of Directors (the
“Board”) of the Company are authorized to grant options

to selected participants, including directors of any company
in the Group, to subscribe for shares of the Company. The
exercise price of the options is determined by the Board at
the time of grant, and shall be the highest of the nominal
value of the shares, the closing price of the shares at the date
of grant and the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.
The vesting period, the exercisable period and the number of
shares subject to each option are determined by the Board at
the time of grant.

Hang Lung Properties Limited

The Company'’s subsidiary, Hang Lung Properties Limited
("HLP") has a share option scheme which was adopted on 22
November 2002, whereby the Board of HLP are authorized to
grant options to selected participants, including directors of
any company in the HLP group, to subscribe for shares of HLP
The exercise price of the options is determined by the Board
of HLP at the time of grant, and shall be the highest of the
nominal value of the shares, the closing price of the shares at
the date of grant and the average closing price of the shares
for the five business days immediately preceding the date

of grant. The vesting period, the exercisable period and the
number of shares subject to each option are determined by
the Board of HLP at the time of grant.
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27 BERA @) 27 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
(b) BEOHERFN @ (b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

FAARBRMD I ZZSHINT

The movements of share options of the Company during the

year are as follows:

Number of share options

B SRHE

R-BENF

+A—H ~NA=TH RidE B
HARRTE HARBKITEE 2Es  (Br)
Outstanding Outstanding Period during  Exercise
A on 1 July B Bi7fE BAM on 30 June which options price
Date granted 2008 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2009 are exercisable (HK$)
“ZETFE-A-+IA 3,310,000 - (100,000) - 3,210,000 “2E-F-A-1{MEZE 6.12
24 February 2000 “Z-ZE-A-1=H
24 February 2001 to
23 February 2010
I s = 1,370,000 - - - 1,370,000 “EEF+—F-HE  587-
25 -F+ZRtH S = 6.83
1 November 2001 to 1 November 2002 to
7 December 2001 6 December 2011
“EEMFERA-TH 11,450,500 - (150,500) - 11,300,000 “EERERA-tHE 9.45
20 May 2004 “E-RFRATNA
20 May 2005 to
19 May 2014
i = 77000 - - - 77000 S s = 14.70
1 November 2005 “Z-RF+A=1-H
1 November 2006 to
31 October 2015
ZERRET-AZTH 11,400,000 - - - 11400000 =ZZZ+E+—A=+R%E 20.52
20 November 2006 ZE-RET-ATAA
20 November 2007 to
19 November 2016
4Bt Total 27607500 - (250,500) - 27357000

bt FR A Bt BARE R AR A B AR AT —
ERFERBE  YARELAHTFE
MERRTTTEE - AR B AD EIREAS K2

All the above options may vest after one to five years of the
grant date and are exercisable up to the tenth anniversary of
the date of grant, after which they will lapse.
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27 EEE%U (%48) 27 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
(b) BROBEER )

) (b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)
(i) MERWEITEZARARAROHESZEE () Movements in the number of share options of the

e

REEBINETHTERE 2 #EH Company outstanding and their related weighted average
K exercise prices are as follows:
2009 2008
g ik B
1I(EE 1B
(BIT) &7 (B7) K&t
Weighted QS H Weighted HRfEZLE
average Number average Number
exercise of exercise of
price options price options
(HKS) (HKS)
M+ A—H#ABITE  Outstanding at 1 July 13.46 27,607,500 13.62 29,051,000
217E Exercised 8.12 (250,500) 10.40 (462,500)
R Lapsed = = 19.61 (981,000)
RNA=+TH#EAREITEE Outstanding at 30 June 13.51 27,357,000 13.46 27,607,500
RANA=1+HRF11#  Exercisable at 30 June 11.66 21,637,750 10.29 19,019,000
RERNTEZ RN BETEERZ The weighted average share price at the dates of exercise
MEFHRER-_TRAT=AL for shares options during the year was $25.37 (2008:
W(ZZEENF: =+ T\ A= $39.82).
fill)
(i) MEFEBRRAREITEZBRMDEIEZ (i) The weighted average remaining contractual life of
MEFHFRGENRRAYM=F options outstanding at the balance sheet date was 5.3
(ZZZENF : "B=F) - years (2008: 6.3 years).
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27 EEEHN &)
(b) BRHOBEEBER 5
FRERMER KA 2 E8IT :

27 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
(b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)
The movements of share options of HLP during the year are as

follows:

R s e

Number of share options

RZEZENE RZZENE

tA-H ~A=tA BHE  TRE

WARKITER BRI TS (Bn)

Outstanding Outstanding Period during  Exercise

R A on 1 July BRE Bi7fE RER on 30 June which options price

Date granted 2008 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2009 are exercisable (HKS)

“ZTMERAZTH 21,644,000 - (490,000) - 21,154,000 “EERFRA-TAZE 9.20
20 May 2004 “Z-mERATIA
20 May 2005 to
19 May 2014

“ZTRFENA-BE 1,206,000 - - - 1,206,000 “ETENA-AZ 11.40 -

“ZTRET—H-A “Z-n%¥+tA=+-H 12.35
1 September 2005 to 1 September 2006 to
1 November 2005 31 October 2015

ZEENET-ATHAE 25,050,000 - (46,0000 (390,000) 24614000  ZERLFF-ATMEE  1675-

ZE2ZLEZATNE ZE—+EZATNH 22.60
14 November 2006 to 14 November 2007 to
19 March 2007 18 March 2017

ZET+ErA=AZ 34,350,000 - - (750,000) 33,600,000 “2T)\F+AZHE  25.00-

“ZF)\FMA-H —Z-\F=A=1-AH 34.45
3 July 2007 to 3 July 2008 to
1 April 2008 31 March 2018

“ZE\E\ATN\RE - 47650,000 - (480,000) 47170,000 “2-ZE\ATA\BE  1736-

“EE)\$T-A=1+-H - \EtZA=1H 24.20
18 August 2008 to 18 August 2010 to
31 December 2008 30 December 2018

£t Total 82,250,000  47650,000 (536,000)  (1,620,000) 127,744,000

b A R AR T R A AR R —
ERFERBEE  XARELARTFE
ATTTIE » BLIR R ) ARG &5 53
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All the above options may vest after one to five years of the
grant date and are exercisable up to the tenth anniversary of
the date of grant, after which they will lapse.
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27 EBE®A @ 27

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b) BROBHEREF 9 (b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)
(i) MARWITE 2 BEMERMDEES (i) Movements in the number of share options of HLP
BREEBINETHTERECZE) outstanding and their related weighted average exercise
R prices are as follows:
2009 2008
It g
1B IEE
(BIT) &) (B7) K&t
Weighted QS H Weighted HRfESE
average Number average Number
exercise of exercise of
price options price options
(HKS) (HKS)
WA —H#AKETE  Outstanding at 1 July 18.38 82,250,000 13.54 52,891,000
[ qun] Granted 18.30 47,650,000 25.14 34,350,000
[REGRES Exercised 9.85 (536,000) 10.94 (2,168,000)
[ Lapsed 24.71 (1,620,000) 15.67 (2,823,000)
RNA=1H AL ITE Outstanding at 30 June 18.30 127,744,000 18.38 82,250,000
MRNA=1+HA F17#  Exercisable at 30 June 13.63 35,417,700 10.11 24,752,000

RERTE 2RO PREITEERZ
EfEmENMEFARES - TR
AR (ZZENEF  =+WmT=
AR -

(iv) WEERRARRITEZRODEEZ  (iv)

MEFHRGAENBREHNF
“RENFN\F) e
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The weighted average share price of HLP at the dates
of exercise for share options during the year was $20.56

(2008: $34.29).

The weighted average remaining contractual life of
options outstanding at the balance sheet date was 7.9
years (2008: 8.0 years).
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27 EEE*U (#8) 27 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
(b) BROBEBER & (b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)
(v) FRAREZROEBENRELHBER (v) The weighted average value per share option granted
RAlahw -8R EEX - during the year estimated at the date of grant using a
KOE R EARE 2 G R G T Black-Scholes pricing model taking into account the terms
2 Bk B 2 EFHER and conditions upon which the options were granted was
R=ZTT=A - KA Z MEFER $3.3. The weighted average assumptions used are as
B3 UNNE follows:
BB 1
HLP
B B AR (E Share price at grant date $17.82
1T1EE Exercise price $18.30
f [ e F1| R Risk-free interest rate 2%
TEEAEAFER () Expected life (in years) 6
R IR Volatility 0.3
SRS Expected dividend per share $0.66
IRFBER B RIR 2 IEEEE S 2K The volatility measured at the standard deviation of
8 DEREEEERHBEBHII—FAT expected share price returns is based on statistical
ARRE 2z Sat T A% - HEAERK analysis of daily share prices over the one year
REDRIBBEREMET - Bk immediately preceding the grant date. Expected dividend
i AJE B B AT EETER per share is based on historical dividend. Changes in the
BAFE o input assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.
Vi) AT REBRMERFAATRE (vi) Inrespect of share options of the Company and HLP
BERENEE 2 R EE - KIE granted to the directors of the Company and HLP,
MIEE1 (V)2 FTE 2 NE B 5T BUR the related charge recognized for the year ended 30
st REBZEZZETNFARA=T June 2009, estimated in accordance with the Group's
AFFEERZEBS LT accounting policy in note 1(v)(2) was as follows:
(a) BRE&E4E: =F—5F"H—+ (a) Mr. Ronnie C. Chan, $31.1 million (2008: $33.2
BT (ZEENF: =F=H million);
—+&x)
b)) TER%LEE: —_FhBE—1 (b)  Mr. Nelson W.L. Yuen, $29.1 million (2008: $30.8
B (ZTZEN\F : =FFEN million);
T&8T)
() S+mxk4t: ZFTHEETT () Mr. Terry S. Ng, $24.0 million (2008: $23.8 million);
(ZZENF: —F=aN+ and
sn) &k
(d mRELE: —FALBEAT (d)  Mr. William PY. Ko, $19.6 million (2008: $19.2
B (ZTEN\F: —TFTNBE million).
—+E&T) -
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28 BEALTRS
AEBE—HALERR2EEBHEKER
NEIRBME —HMERRAE - A&
ERFEZAERARAD Z - THm - »
—TERNFXNAZTH AEBERAZ
BENRAHABRLEATHE=TE
T (ZEENF : \ELtFTZBHLET+E
L) MBS REAEEE 2885
BNERMEE -

EELRTEEEEMNSE N AR
27(b) 5t -

29 HHEEREEBERBER

ME - RBEL  FEREBERKE
AEBZERER - REBEANUTE
BB ECERENENEEZER

G o
S

(a) RIRER

AEE 2 MRERKBRITERNER
fBE AEEEYERMNEES UKk
RAMEER SRR (AER) A
RITHEBHRRERE -

STEUBEEREBEBEZFERHIFEG
17 ~ 20 24(b) T LA EE ©

RIEFRETEREBITERLEE ZE
BON - A HEMESERTE W
BAMEREFERBER MR N—F1E
AU BB LOAEE 2GR E R
NEESORAT—_a~t8rT (ZZ2Z
N —FE—FET) -

AW HRBEREBEAMET ARE
BRE - MR RROBEFNE - B
FERARNERHOE A KB R 2 FBB - B0
PrREIATHIA :

— WHEMNEELEFEIREMIA

FRITIEEZMBWA R« &

- HMBAREMMBEEREBEH#FTT

28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group has a 20% interest in a jointly controlled entity
which participated in the development of Package One of the
MTRC Tung Chung Station Development Project. At 30 June
2009, the Group advanced to this jointly controlled entity a
total of $794.3 million (2008: $872.7 million). All advances are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

Emoluments to directors and key management has been
disclosed in notes 5 and 27(b).

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Exposure to interest rate, liquidity, credit and currency risks

arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The

Group has policies and practices approved by management as

described below in managing these risks.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from deposits
with banks and borrowings issued at floating rates. Interest
rate trend and movements are closely monitored and, if
appropriate, existing borrowings will be replaced with new
bank facilities when favourable pricing opportunities arise.

The interest rates of interest-bearing financial assets and
liabilities are disclosed in notes 16, 17 20 and 24(b).

Based on the simulations performed at year end in relation to
the Group's bank deposits and borrowings, it was estimated
that the impact of a 100 basis-point increase in market interest
rates from the rates applicable at the year end date, with all
other variables held constant, would decrease the Group's
profit after taxation and total equity by approximately $52.6
million (2008: $10.1 million).

This analysis is based on a hypothetical situation, as in practice
market interest rates rarely change in isolation, and should not
be considered a projection of likely future profits or losses. The
analysis assumes the following:

— changes in market interest rates affect the interest
income and interest expenses of floating rate financial
instruments and bank borrowings; and

— all other financial assets and liabilities are held constant.
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29 BIKREKBEEEEREEK @ 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) REESLRB (b) Liquidity risk

AEBEEEEERSETFEEAAGTGNLE  The Group manages its surplus cash centrally and the liquidity

MBAR BB RREELREM - risk of the Company and its subsidiaries at the corporate level.

SEMREES TV ZESMEE 2R The objective is to ensure that an adequate amount of cash

TRE  WEMNEZ2BESL 2FK A and committed bank facilities are available to meet all funding

EEFEBIRFEZBEEEEGEEE  requirements. Significant flexibility is maintained through

CRERIIE  LWERKEER Z2#E  diverse sources of committed credit lines to respond to

NEIE - unforeseeable opportunities and events.

BRRFTRASRE

Contractual undiscounted cash flow

BRT(E —4% A Between Between
Carrying 4t Within 1 and 2 and
NAEBEETTE in HK$ million amount Total 1 year 2 years 5 years
RITER Bank loans 9,966.4  10,283.0 887.8 1,109.9  8,285.3
FEEE Floating rate notes 1,500.0 1,504.7 1,504.7 - -
IR ED B A A 40 AR Non-current finance lease 287.2 311.5 - 135.5 176.0
obligations
FERBRF N E T3 Trade and other payables 2,3875 2,411.7 1,421.5 356.9 633.3
R-ZBTHEXNB=1+H At 30 June 2009 14,1411 14,510.9 3,814.0 1,602.3 9,094.6
BHRTRBERE
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
—EWFEAN —ERFA
ERTEE —4 K Between Between
Carrying “st Within 1 and 2 and
LB E BT E in HK$ million amount Total 1 year 2 years 5 years
RITER Bank loans 9,039.6 9,708.2 1,214.5 878.5 7615.2
FERE Floating rate notes 1,500.0 1,558.1 38.7 1,519.4 -
IEREN R A FH 4 A E Non-current finance lease 393.0 4415 - 130.0 311.56
obligations
FENBRFR L EMERF Trade and other payables 2,183.7 2,214.9 1,532.9 382.4 299.6
KRB NEXA=+H At 30 June 2008 13,116.3 13,922.7 2,786.1 2,910.3 8,226.3
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2 2R B AR
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Moo AEBETE R HEW - W&
RELEE - AR 2 EE R
iﬂiﬂi

AREEWEETERATETLARS - &
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BRADBIFIIEH 2 RO (ANBT T
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BYAKEEN AR EREEMNENEE
[\ o

AEBUESAEREERR

HEERRZEAEFRAGZS
RANBMBEEZRAE -

BEERE

(d) E¥REE
MEEREERBBUIEREREBHE
AMARNEEENINZ B, TIE - A
EEE¥ERAR -  NEBABETETRT
B eBERBATRE—TE8ET
ZEENF: AENFT—BE8ET) -
BB EE TR - ZEFRATEIE
ZEBRE BRI TERK o

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade

receivables and deposits held with reputable banks and

financial institutions.

It maintains a defined credit policy including stringent credit
evaluation on and payment of a rental deposit from tenants.
Except for sale of properties developed by the Group, it does
not hold any collateral over the receivables. Receivables are
regularly reviewed and closely monitored to minimize any
associated credit risk.

The Group does not engage in any derivative transactions.
Surplus cash is placed with reputable banks and financial
institutions in accordance with pre-determined limits based on
credit ratings and other factors to minimize concentration risk.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Company

as set out in note 25, the Group does not provide any other
guarantee which would expose the Group or the Company to
material credit risk.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
balance sheet.

(d) Currency risk

Currency risk arises when recognized assets and liabilities

are denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the Group's entities to which they related. The
Group maintains certain bank deposits denominated in United
States dollars amounting to US$696.1 million (2008: US$541.0
million). Given that Hong Kong dollars are pegged to United
States dollars, the resulting currency risk on such deposits is
considered insignificant.
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29 WBEBREEEERBEE @

(d) B @)

REENEBETBRMBERGEE MK
EYEBRRREEE MEZSEWBARZ
FEEAZIINERR - AEE (REA
) SSRUARBEEE AEFREZ K

o

I

EEREMR  ARBHBLEXRME
REABS 2 - STeYAREE 2 HEME
RERTE  WAEEZ s K R RIS
m/ B —E—F—A=tEBT (=
TN\F: —EZ-_HO+ET) -

AN BREREBREEADE
TR R B CHRIRFIE) ]

R -

(e) 2FE
i 3E EMIRE 2 NP ERER SERTE
AR A EMRBEERTIR -

JE SRR R B EL A PR WK~ PR R e
MR - WE R|ITHER - RITER
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

The Group also engaged in property development and

investments in the PRC through its local subsidiaries whose

net assets are exposed to foreign currency risk. Where

appropriate, the Group seeks to hedge investments in the PRC

through borrowings denominated in Renminbi.

Management estimated that a 1% appreciation/depreciation of
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar would not have a material
effect on the Group's profit but the Group’s equity would be
increased/decreased by $112.3 million (2008: $102.4 million).

The above analysis has been determined assuming that the
change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the balance
sheet date and that all other variables, in particular interest
rates, remain constant.

(e) Fair value
Unlisted investments for which their fair values cannot be
reliably measured are stated at cost less impairment losses.

The fair values of trade and other receivables, trade and

other payables, cash and deposits with banks, bank loans and
floating rate notes are considered to approximate their carrying
amounts.
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30 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 27(b) contains information about the assumptions and

their risk relating to fair value of share options granted. Other

key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties of the Group are revalued as at the
balance sheet date by independent professionally qualified
valuers, on an open market value basis with reference to
the net rental income after taking into account reversionary
income potential.

The assumptions adopted in the property valuations are
based on the market conditions existing at the balance
sheet date, with reference to current market sale prices for
similar properties in the same location and condition and the
appropriate capitalization rate.

(b) Properties under development

In assessing the recoverable amount of investment properties
under development, it requires the Group's judgment on the
anticipated rents by reference to recent leasing transactions
in nearby locations, marketing costs and the expected costs
to completion of the relevant properties. The present value of
future cash flows is based on the application of an assigned
discount rate with certain assumptions on the time value of
money and the risks specific to the project.

(c) Properties held for sale

The Group determines the net realizable value of unsold
properties based on estimation of future selling price less
costs to be incurred in relation to the sale, with reference to
the prevailing market data and market survey reports available
from independent property valuers.
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31 EfHEZARREE

AEETEREFRAWBELBSHNAE
MK R ARERZIERT - ER KR
B o ML FIERT BRI AT eI & (R
MER S AR B 2 @5t R MM B @wEK

ZERTRIE -

31 FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
The Group has not early applied the amendments, new
standards or interpretations which have been issued by the
HKICPA but are not yet effective. The adoption of the following
amendments or standards may have impact on the Group's
accounting policies and presentation of financial statements in
the first period of adoption.

RPAT A Bk AT& R 1R

2 & A AR

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after

HKFRSs ({£5T )
HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (&E3])
HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKFRS 8 &SI
HKFRS 8

HKFRS 3 (4 &3])
HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (& &E3T)
HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKFRSsZ FE1E5]

Annual Improvement to HKFRSs

B RERH 25

Presentation of Financial Statements

Operating Segments

“EEAF—A—H
1 January 2009

—EThF-A—F
1 January 2009

—TThF-A—F
1 January 2009

EBEst —EZNFLHA—H
Business Combinations 1 July 2009
e REN B EmE —EENFLH—H
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 1 July 2009

HKFRSsz F & & ] B & ¥IHKAS 40
[REWE ]| 285 - Bt - BRPIKRE
MEREATFEME S ERNUAT
BEFI8E -

32 ZEMKERRK

EZRN_TTNFLtA=+T—BKE
I FF A TR T R
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The Annual Improvement to HKFRSs includes an amendment
to HKAS 40, Investment Property, under which the investment
properties under development are to be stated at fair value
where this can be reliably measured.

32 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorized for
issue by the Board of Directors on 31 July 2009.

BEEEERAT —TT N\ ZAFFR



33 FEREBELAT

RZZFETNFNA=1H

33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
At 30 June 2009

BEITRA AR R
(&) SEFTR NAIFH e SR
Issued EEADL BEmARL Place of
NG| Share Capital % Held by % Held by E Incorporation
Company (HKS$) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
Akihiro Company Limited 2 100 100 MELRLAE e
Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
Antonis Limited* 10,000 52.7 - MERE e
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP City Limited 2 52.7 - MERE o
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Joy Limited 2 52.7 - MEERLESE B
Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
AP Properties Limited MEEREREE 55
Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
[A] B 34 52.7 -
‘A shares
B 6 52.7 -
‘B’ shares
AP Star Limited* 2 52.7 - BRI E Bk
Investment holding Hong Kong
AP Success Limited 2 52.7 - YEME BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Universal Limited* 2 52.7 - MEMRE 55
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Win Limited* 1,000,000 52.7 - MEEE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP World Limited 2 52.7 - MEER Bt
Property development Hong Kong
Bayliner Investment Ltd.* 8 100 100 ERE HBERREE
Investment holding British Virgin
Islands
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33 FENBAT @ 33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BEITRA B3 IIDAVY
(B7T) EEPTF INGIiESE EEMEB
Issued BmBa Dk Em Aot Place of
NS Share Capital % Held by % Held by % Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
Believecity Limited* 2 100 - BERIEERERES B8
Investment holding & Hong Kong
securities trading
Bonna Estates Company 1,000,000 52.7 - MEME 5%
Limited Property leasing Hong Kong
BEBErERRQE 4,000,000 52.7 - MEMRE Bt
Caddo Enterprises, Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong
REZARQA 2 52.7 - MEME Bt
Carmana Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong
Cititop Limited 2 52.7 - MEERKEE Bt
Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
Cokage Limited* 2 100 100 PRI E B8
Investment holding Hong Kong
BHRERBR A ERREE 55
Country Bond Development Investment holding Hong Kong
Limited
[A] AR 990 52.2 -
‘A shares
[BJ A% 1 52.7 -
‘B’ share
BEREARAR 2 100 - R E 55
Country First Enterprises Investment holding Hong Kong
Limited
BEEEBR AT 5,000,000 56.3 - ZRRRE &b
Country Link Enterprises Investment holding Hong Kong
Limited
Crest Incorporated* 16 100 - ERIEE RBHEBREE
Investment holding British Virgin
Islands
Curicao Company Limited* 2 100 - ERITE 55
Investment holding Hong Kong
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33 FENBAT @ 33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BEITRA ERIIDAVY
(B7T) EEPTF INGIiESE EEMB
Issued HBmBa DL Em Aot Place of
NS Share Capital % Held by % Held by % Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
Dokay Limited* 2 52.7 - MERE 55
Property leasing Hong Kong
Dynamia Company Limited 2 100 - MEZREIEE B
Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
et R AR QA ZRREE Bt
Ease Smart Development Investment holding Hong Kong
Limited
[A] P& 1 100 -
‘A share
[B] A% 1 52.7 -
‘B’ share
BEEERRAE 2 52.7 - BRIEE Bt
Easegood Enterprises Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
BEKREBRAA 2 100 100 ERIRE Bt
Ever Brilliant Investment Investment holding Hong Kong
Limited
Folabs Limited* 2 100 - MEME Bt
Property leasing Hong Kong
Fu Yik Company Limited* 3 52.7 - MERE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
EXHARAF 2 52.7 - R E 5%
Gala Ruby Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong
EREXERAE* 2 100 100 MERE Bt
Glory View Properties Property leasing Hong Kong
Limited*
Gowily Limited 2 52.7 - MEMRE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
Grand Centre Limited 4 52.7 - WMERE 55
Property leasing Hong Kong
Grand Hotel Group Limited 10,200 52.7 - EBBEXETRLERERE Bt
Apartment operating Hong Kong

& management
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33 FENBAR @ 33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BEITRA B3 IIDAVY
(B7T) EEPTF INGIiESE EEMEB
Issued ‘AN Em Aot Place of
NS Share Capital % Held by % Held by % Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
KBS EEBRAF BB E o
Grand Hotel Holdings Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[A] AR 62,163,123 52.7 -
‘A shares
[B] A% 6,000,000 52.7 -
‘B’ shares
BEERAR DA 2 100 100 MERE BE
Great Cheer Development Property development Hong Kong
Limited
Hang Chui Company Limited 2 52.7 - MERE 5%
Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Far Company Limited* 2 52.7 - EREE B
Investment holding Hong Kong
BERER A A 200 52.7 - MEHRE o
Hang Fine Company Limited Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Kwok Company Limited* 10,000 52.7 - MEMRE 5%
Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Lick Company Limited* 10,000 52.7 - WEME BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
B (1T ARAR 10,000 52.7 - B2 PR N
Hang Lung (Administration) Management services Hong Kong
Limited
18f () HIR AT 2 100 100 EREE B
Hang Lung (China) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
B (Ki&E) ARAF] 1 52.7 - Bk EE Bk
Hang Lung (Dalian) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Hang Lung Enterprises 2 100 100 ERIRE 55
Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong
BREGEERERAA 2 100 100 B BB
Hang Lung Financial Services Financial services Hong Kong
Limited
BEKERRAR 2 100 100 ERIRE N
Hang Lung Investments Investment holding Hong Kong
Limited*
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33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BEITRAR Rl AvaSe
(B7T) EEPTF RAIFEE LRI
Issued ‘AN EmAol Place of
NS Share Capital % Held by % Held by % Incorporation
Company (HKS$) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
B8 (L&) BRAF 1 52.7 - BRIRE E®
Hang Lung (Jiangsu) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
B (Bfm) ARAR] 1 52.7 - EREE BB
Hang Lung (Jinan) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
B GEE) ARAQA 1 52.7 - BREE o
Hang Lung (Liaoning) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Hang Lung Park-In Limited 2 52.7 - MERE o
Property leasing Hong Kong
BEIERIBERAR 10,000 52.7 - TiRBREE B
Hang Lung Project Project management Hong Kong
Management Limited*
BEMERR QA 4,145,648,670 52.7 - ERIRE B
Hang Lung Properties Investment holding Hong Kong
Limited
BEMESEFRAR 100,000 52.7 - WEEE B
Hang Lung Property Property management Hong Kong
Management Limited*
EEMEREERAR 2 52.7 - MERE o
Hang Lung Real Estate Property agencies Hong Kong
Agency Limited*
Bi& &%) ARAR 2 52.7 - ERRE o
Hang Lung (Shenyang) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
1B (X#) BRAF] 2 52.7 - ZRREE Bt
Hang Lung (Tianjin) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
EBEEEREARAR 2 100 100 B B
Hang Lung Treasury Limited Financial services Hong Kong
B (&i5) ARAF] 1 52.7 - BRIRE B
Hang Lung (Wuxi) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Hantak Limited 2 100 100 B E Bt
Investment holding Hong Kong
Hebo Limited 2 100 100 MR 55
Property development Hong Kong
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33 FENBAR @ 33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BEITRA B3 IIDAVY
(B7T) EEPTF INGIiESE EEMEB
Issued BmBa Dk Em Aot Place of
NS Share Capital % Held by % Held by % Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
HL Enterprises Limited* 2 100 100 R & BB
Investment holding Hong Kong
iR (ELE) BRAR* 2 100 100 B BB
HL Mortgage (HTG) Limited* Financial services Hong Kong
BERE (BRE) BRAE* 2 100 100 B B8
HL Mortgage (NH) Limited* Financial services Hong Kong
BERE (RERE) ARAF 2 100 100 B o
HL Mortgage (NP) Limited* Financial services Hong Kong
BEME (RE) BRAF] 2 52.7 - BREE o
HLP (China) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
HLP Fortune Limited 1 52.7 - L 5%
Property development Hong Kong
EBEMERERRAA 2 52.7 - 8% N
HLP Treasury Limited Financial services Hong Kong
HLP Treasury Services 2 52.7 - BRI E 5%
Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong
Hoi Sang Limited* 2 52.7 - ERIEE B
Investment holding Hong Kong
Kindstock Limited* 2 100 - B E BE
Investment holding Hong Kong
Levington Limited* 8 52.7 - B EBERRES
Financial services British Virgin
Islands
LHBRAF 1,000,002 52.7 - MR &5
Lockoo Limited* Property development Hong Kong
BEREBRAT] 10,000 100 - MEER 5%
Luckyson Investments Limited Property development Hong Kong
PExhizie (BRse) BIRAAE* 20 89.7 - B 5
Lungsun Mortgage (PV) Financial services Hong Kong

Limited*
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33 FENBAT @ 33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BEITRA ERIIDAVY
(B7T) EEPTF INGIiESE EEMB
Issued ‘AN Em Aot Place of
NS Share Capital % Held by % Held by % Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
Magic Modern International 1 52.7 - BE B
Limited * Advertising Hong Kong
Mansita Limited* 2 52.7 - MERE Bt
Property leasing Hong Kong
Modalton Limited 2 52.7 - WMERE 55
Property leasing Hong Kong
Monafat Limited* 2 52.7 - MEMRE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
NREBRAF] 2 100 - MEHE o
Nikco Limited Property leasing Hong Kong
BERIREBRAF 10,000 100 - WEHE B
Ocean Time Investments Property leasing Hong Kong

Limited*

Ottringham Limited* 20 52.7 - MEMRE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
Palex Limited* 2 52.7 - MERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
Paradot Limited* 2 100 100 MR S
Property development Hong Kong
Pocaliton Limited 2 52.7 - MEME B
Property leasing Hong Kong
Promax Limited 2 89.7 - MEERE Bt
Property development Hong Kong
B BRA A 1,560,000 100 100 BB E 55
Prosperland Housing Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Purotat Limited* 2 100 100 BERIRE B
Investment holding Hong Kong
Rago Star Limited 2 52.7 - MERE B8
Property leasing Hong Kong
Rioloy Limited 2 52.7 - MERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
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33 FENBAR @ 33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BEITRA B3 IIDAVY
(B7T) EEPTF INGIiESE EEMEB
Issued BmBa Dk Em Aot Place of
NS Share Capital % Held by % Held by % Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
Ronhero Limited* 2 52.7 - MERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
Scotat Limited 2 89.7 - Bk E o
Investment holding Hong Kong
BAEXBR A 20 100 100 MERERNEE B
Stanman Properties Limited Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
Stooket Limited 2 52.7 - ESi= 55
Property leasing Hong Kong
Style Giant Limited 2 89.7 - MEER 5%
Property development Hong Kong
BRRAR A T* 2 100 100 MEER B
Success Cosmos Property development Hong Kong

Development Limited*

Tegraton Limited 2 52.7 - MERE 55
Property leasing Hong Kong

Topnic Limited 2 100 100 MEMRE B
Property leasing Hong Kong

Velan Limited 2 100 100 MEER 55
Property development Hong Kong

BBMEXBRAE" 100,000 52.7 - MEME B
Wai Luen Investment Property leasing Hong Kong

Company, Limited*

Wililoy Limited* 2 52.7 - MEME B
Property leasing Hong Kong
Yangli Limited* 2 52.7 - WMEME B
Property leasing Hong Kong
REEBRQE* 1,000 100 100 IRBEREBEHEER B
Yee Fly Investment Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong

& securities trading

Zarat Limited* 2 52.7 - MERE Bt
Property leasing Hong Kong
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33 FEMBEAR =)

33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BRIV
KB RE e
FESNEBERE AMER ERaAL ERaAL Place of
Wholly Foreign Owned Registered % Held by % Held by 8 Incorporation
Enterprises in PRC Capital The Group ~ The Company Activity and Operations
RNEBREBERRAF 1,542,000,00078 10 52.7 - NEER HE
Dalian Hang Lung Properties Ltd. HK$1,542,000,000 Property development PRC
REBEMEBRAF 301,500,000% 7T 52.7 - NEER hE
Liaoning Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$301,500,000 Property development PRC
IWRERMERRAF 196,480,000 T 52.7 - NEER i
Shandong Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$196,480,000 Property development PRC
EGERMERRAR 199,990,000% T 527 - NEER Bl
Shenyang Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$199,990,000 Property development PRC
RREEMERRAR 1,650,000,0007 7 527 - NEER hE
Tianjin Hang Lung Properties Ltd. HK$1,650,000,000 Property development PRC
EHERMERRAR 1,632,500,0007% 7T 527 - MEER i
Wuxi Hang Lung Properties Ltd. HK$1,532,500,000 Property development PRC
AMER BRI
(®7) B DRI e
Registered BERaAL R Place of
REPIMEELE Capital % Held by % Held by %% Incorporation
Equity Joint Venture in PRC (US$) The Group ~ The Company Activity and Operations
HRBARHERERRAA 167,004,736 51.8 - NEERRIEE i
Shanghai Hang Bond Property Property development PRC
Development Co., Ltd. & leasing
HEERERERRAR 17,766,000 70 - NEER e
Shanghai Heng Cheng Real Estate Property development PRC
Development Co., Ltd.
FEBERNERERRAA 165,000,000 52.9 - NEERKEE i
Shanghai Kong Hui Property Property development PRC
Development Co., Ltd. & leasing

K EF G MEBRIER

FRIHEZRR AU AER 2 HEM K
BEBEAFEZTIEWNBRA -

* Not audited by KPMG
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The above list gives the principal subsidiaries of the Group
which in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the
profit and assets of the Group.
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34 FERE QT
R-ZETAEXA=+H

34 PRINCIPAL JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
At 30 June 2009

BEITRA MR R

(&) EEM GliiEs: EEME

Issued BERat BRADL Place of

NG Share Capital % Held by % Held by %% Incorporation

Company (HK$) The Group  The Company Activity and Operations

HEERBRAR 400 25 - nERS &R

Daily Win Development Limited Property leasing Hong Kong

BEIRIE (KE) GRAF 2 50 - o 0

Hang Hing Mortgage (TH) Limited Financial services Hong Kong

BEAFEZABRAA 519,000 50 - TR RR KRS BE

Hang Lung-Hakuyosha Dry Cleaning Dry and laundry Hong Kong
Limited cleaning

Newfoundworld Finance Limited 100,000 20 - B BE

Financial services Hong Kong

Newfoundworld Holdings Limited 2,000,000 20 - ERRE BE

Investment holding Hong Kong

Newfoundworld Investment Holdings 8 20 - BRI E RBHERRHS

Limited Investment holding British Virgin

Islands

Newfoundworld Limited 2,000,000 20 - NEER BE

Property development Hong Kong

Pure Jade Limited 1,000 20 - MELR BB

Property development Hong Kong

ERERBR AR 3 17 - MERE BE

Star Play Development Limited Property leasing Hong Kong

EHRBAL LR TGN EEAE

1% o

ERIHEZRR LB AEE 25 K

BEREAFEZIERER
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The above companies are not audited by KPMG.

The above list gives the principal jointly controlled entities of

the Group which in the opinion of the directors, principally
affect the profit and assets of the Group.
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TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

UABBETLITE  in HKS million 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
HEE Total assets 98,533 93,489 76,222 66,508 58,704 52,004 46,416 48,921 50,234 49,568
REME Investment properties 69,958 66,136 52,639 43,753 39,370 32,227 28,658 28,461 28,530 26,577
HEME Properties for sale

—BEK - Completed 6,954 6,805 9,706 10,215 10,757 7,078 542 284 359 2,700

—BRF - Under development 760 43 41 - - 5018 10914 9,688 8,407 4,562
Be RETHER Cash and deposits with banks 9,632 10,738 7092 6,189 3,734 1,959 1,684 3,673 4,187 5,333
HEE Total liabilities 23,591 21,432 17733 20,182 14,738 17538 17185 16,540 16,101 14,842
RITER Bank loans 9,966 9,040 8,482 11,787 6,397 11,319 9,759 9,473 12,320 9,456
EEER Floating rate notes 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 540 540 540 540 540
AR E Convertible bonds - - - - - - 3414 3390 - -
[ET £ Shareholders' equity 38,632 36,782 29,095 25,013 22,839 18,829 16,888 18,160 19,146 19,828
EEFE (B8 Net assets (including

DHBRRER) minority interests) 74,942 72,066 58,490 46,326 43,966 34,467 29,231 32,381 34,133 34,726
SE L Turnover 4,696 10,653 4,778 4,200 7472 5,449 3,421 3,254 5,579 2,428
RERMEL LR Net profit attributable to

shareholders 2,638 7516 4,786 2,833 4,644 2,544 387 692 745 873
HAR4F (MEE1)  Underlying net profit

(Note 1) 1,454 2,555 1,996 950 1,869 987 387 692 745 873
RE Dividends 941 941 813 739 725 637 584 582 582 695
SREN Per share data
B Earnings

- 7 - Basic $1.98 $5.64 $3.59 $2.13  $3.50 $1.92  $0.29 $0.52 $0.56  $0.66

— s - Diluted $1.96 $556  $3.56 $2.11 $3.48 $1.91 $0.29  $0.52 $0.56 N/A
HARBF (M3F1)  Underlying earnings (Note 1)

—HK - Basic $1.09 $1.92 $1.50 $0.71 $1.41 $0.74  $0.29  $0.52 $0.56  $0.66

-8 - Diluted $1.08 $1.89 $1.48  $0.71 $1.40 $0.74  $0.29  $0.52 $0.56 N/A
Ee) Dividends

— i - Interim 16.5¢ 16.5¢ 14.5¢ 14.5¢ 14.5¢ 12¢ 12¢ 12¢ 12¢ 12¢

— R - Final 54.0¢ 54.0¢  46.5¢ 41¢ 40¢ 36¢ 32¢ 32¢ 32¢  40.5¢

—2F - Total for the year 70.5¢ 70.5¢ 61¢ 55.5¢ 54.5¢ 48¢ 44¢ 44¢ 44¢ 52.5¢
MR st (Ff3E3)  Shareholders' equity (Note 3)  $29.0  $276  $21.8  $188  $172  $142  $127 $13.7 $145  $15.0
BEFE (21 Net assets (including

DY R ) minority interests)

(Ff5E3) (Note 3) $56.2  $54.0 $43.9 $34.8 $33.1 $26.0 $22.1 $245 $25.8  $26.2
BE&EE (MF2) Gearing ratio (Note 2) 3% 0.4% 6% 14% 10% 24% 31% 25% 22% 14%
KB = Pay-out ratio 36% 13% 17% 26% 16% 25% 151% 84% 78% 80%
EXREHLE Underlying pay-out ratio

(B&E1) (Note 1) 65% 37% 41% 78% 39% 65% 151% 84% 78% 80%
ERTREY Number of shares issued

(ABR) (in million) 1,334 1,334 1,334 1,332 1,328 1,328 1,325 1,324 1,322 1,325

BR5E - Notes:

1. RMEEAREESERENIER - i o BER 1. To facilitate better understanding of the Group's operational results, the underlying
wF - FREF RIRE LR EMERIEE Y E net profit, earnings per share and pay-out ratio are presented by excluding the
ZATEEHRAERREHRBENTE - effect of changes in fair value of investment properties and their related deferred

tax.

2. BEXRAFEEEAREMFEBR LR  JFE 2. Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents
EIRIRITER - AR ES - ZEEBRRRE bank loans, convertible bonds, floating rate notes and finance lease obligations, less
TRREYE - HRBAS RRITER - RIERIBE cash and deposits with banks. Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and minority
MR R DB R 2S o interests.

3. BIENEE R 2R RS EEFERDET 3. Based on shareholders’ equity/net assets divided by number of shares issued on

[ g
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

BE

BRECR (EFR)

BRHE (gEFR)

RER (2Fm©rE)

PR 4 oRr

B2 2 &2 OBE - X FP#1
PR&E1E*

BI5% CBE - AT

BHR REmEE - X FH1

Directors

Ronnie C. Chan (Chairman)

S.S.Yin (Vice Chairman)*

Nelson W.L. Yuen (Managing Director)
Gerald L. Chan?

H.K. Cheng, GBS, OBE, JP*

Laura L.Y. Chen*

Simon S.0. Ip, CBE, JP*

York Liao, SB8S, JP*

RETT Terry S. Ng

*IEITES # Non-Executive Director

* BN IEITES *Independent Non-Executive Director
BREEE Audit Committee

9L CBE - X F#+t (/)
BES 2 LHES - OBE - A F#+

Simon S.O. Ip, CBE, JP (Chairman)
H.K. Cheng, GBS, OBE, JP

FREE 15 Laura L.Y. Chen

BT REHEZ KX FHL York Liao, SBS, JP

RERFNEES Nomination and Remuneration Committee
B2 2L 2S OBE - AFHL (£/F) H.K. Cheng, GBS, OBE, JP (Chairman)

FREE G Laura L.Y. Chen

BB D CBE - A FA1
BA) REHEE X F#t

Simon S.0. Ip, CBE, JP
York Liao, SBS, JP

RERRK Authorized Representatives
RtETT Terry S. Ng

TEH Velencia Lee

NEME Company Secretary

FTEM Velencia Lee

T EE Registered Office

FEPIRTE BT R
BITRITRAE -+
B|aE 12879 0111
HH : 2868 6086

28th Floor, Standard Chartered Bank Building
4 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

Tel: 2879 0111

Fax : 2868 6086

B B A

#34E © http://www.hanglunggroup.com
B : HLGroup@hanglung.com

Internet Address
Website : http://www.hanglunggroup.com
Email address : HLGroup@hanglung.com

3 4l
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Auditors
KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
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LISTING INFORMATION

RZZTNF/RA=1H At 30 June 2009

1,334,311,242 BEREES 1.007T
ZBAEEBMERBIARAF LT

ERMER S
35
AL

F-RRE(EEXS)

FEH AT, ZERE
BERESFE RN 2=
TFREiRTT « ARRIIBIRIRTT
it

BRPREBESELARLDA
BEERERER—BNT=%

ARE O+

BE:

R HTEF
FTEE REuE
BEPIOAL

1,334,311,242 shares of HK$1.00 each listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited

Hong Kong Stock Exchange

Reuters
Bloomberg

Sponsored Level-1 (Over the Counter)
CUSIP Number /Ticker Symbol
ADR: Underlying Share Ratio

Depositary Bank: The Bank of New York Mellon

Website:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’'s Road East, Hong Kong

Telephone:
Fax:

Terry S. Ng Executive Director
Velencia Lee Company Secretary

Email address:

Bk 1 & Bl Share Information

2008

% =2 Third quarter

ZEP9Z Fourth quarter

2009

% —Z First quarter

% =% Second quarter

BZAE Price
&= =K
High Low
B BK
HK$ HK$

3590 23.10
27.80 18.00
28.80 17.62
39.00 23.10

RZBBAFSA=SHEZRE:

Share Price as at 30 June 2009:

REZBBAFA=ZHEZHE:

Market Capitalization as at 30 June 2009:

HER R

Total Trading Volume
R 88 (FR)

No. of Shares ('000)

85,011
105,321

84,460
856,639

% 36.50 T
HK$36.50

R 487.0{8TT
HK$48.70 billion

2007

% =2 Third quarter

ZEP9Z Fourth quarter

2008
55—Z First quarter

-

25 =2 Second quarter

00010
0010.HK
10 HK

1,000

41043E102/HNLGY
1:5

http://www.adrbnymellon.com

f&{E Price
&e =K
High Low
L
HK$ HK$

45.00 29.10
48.40 36.10
43.45 31.25
4470 33.25

RZBENEAAZTHZRE:

Share Price as at 30 June 2008:

R-ZFENEA=+TEZHE:
Market Capitalization as at 30 June 2008: HK$46.23 billion

2862 8628
2529 6087

ir@hanglung.com

HR R

Total Trading Volume
Mein g B (FAR)

No. of Shares ("000)

117,362
162,460

107,450
114,991

N 34.65TT
HK$34.65

5462318
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Environmentally friendly for a sustainable future:

This report is printed on environmentally friendly paper manufactured from
elemental chlorine-free pulp, using a chemistry-free plate system and soy ink.
In this way, we are making a small but important contribution
towards a more sustainable future.

TdA - concept, design and production tda.com.hk
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